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About this report
Welcome to the  
Rottnest Island Authority 
Annual Report 2016/17
This report provides a comprehensive account of our 
operations and management of Rottnest Island during 
the past financial year. For a snapshot view of 2016/17, 
refer to ‘About the year’ from page 2.

For detailed information, please refer to individual 
sections:

1. Agency in focus – page 7
2. Report on operations – page 25
3. Opportunities and challenges – page 55
4. Disclosures and legal compliance – page 69
5. Financial statements and key performance 

indicators – page 80

This report is consistent with the Public Sector 
Commission’s Western Australian Public Sector Annual 
Reporting Framework for the 2016/17 reporting year.

Costs have been minimised for production, ensuring 
limited copies are printed. The report can be  
downloaded from the Rottnest Island Authority website 
rottnestisland.com

It conforms to State Government requirements for 
accessibility and readability, and can be viewed in 
PDF format as a whole, in sections or in an accessible 
Microsoft Word format. Alternative formats are available 
on request.

This publication may be copied in whole or part, with 
acknowledgement of Rottnest Island Authority.

Statement of compliance
To the Hon Paul Papalia CSC MLA, Minister for Tourism

In accordance with the provisions and specifically 
Section 61 (1) of the Financial Management Act 2006 
and in fulfilment of the obligations imposed on the 
Rottnest Island Authority (RIA), we hereby submit for 
your information and presentation to Parliament the 
Annual Report of the Rottnest Island Authority for the 
year ended 30 June 2017.

John Driscoll Hamish Beck
Chairman Deputy Chairman
Rottnest Island Authority Rottnest Island Authority

12 September 2017 12 September 2017
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About the year

Chairman’s overview
The past financial year has seen a 
number of changes taking place 
not only within the Rottnest Island 
Authority (RIA) but throughout State 
Government, with our new Minister, the 
Hon Paul Papalia CSC MLA, sworn in 

on 17 March 2017. Changes within RIA during the year 
have seen the departure of Board member Sally Hollis, 
after six years’ service on the Board, and the arrival of 
Dr Marina Hogan.

CEO Paolo Amaranti, also left the Agency during the 
year, after 12 years at the helm and I would like to thank 
him for his services over this period. In January 2017, 
we welcomed a new acting Chief Executive Officer, 
Michelle Reynolds, on secondment from WorkCover WA. 
The changeover has provided for a revitalisation of our 
efforts, particularly with a governance priority to ensure 
we are well positioned to achieve successful integration 
within the new department of Biodiversity, Conversation 
and Attractions.

It is my pleasure to report that throughout the changes, 
RIA has continued to build on its recent successes – 
with visitor numbers almost reaching 650,000 in the 
past financial year, representing a 5.9 percent increase 
from the previous year. This unprecedented level of 
visitation underlines the Island’s prominence as a 
favourite holiday destination for Western Australians 
and other visitors, as well as its contribution to tourism 
in the State. It is also pleasing to note that levels of 
visitor satisfaction have remained at an outstanding 
ninety-seven percent.

Ageing infrastructure and the legislation that governs 
operations and services on Rottnest Island creates a 
very challenging dynamic.

Excluding Commonwealth and State government grants 
for key infrastructure works, and an in-kind contribution 
from the Rottnest Island Foundation for the Wadjemup 
Bidi Walk Trail, RIA achieved a $1.81m profit this financial 
year. The underlying profit is a result of continuing 
growth within RIA operating revenues relating to 
accommodation, admission fees, moorings, bike hire 
and commercial operations services.

As we acknowledge the one hundred year anniversary 
of the establishment of the Rottnest Island Board 
of Control in 1917, I would like to thank my Board 
colleagues for their contribution during the year, and all 
of our hardworking and dedicated staff.

John Driscoll
Chairman
Rottnest Island Authority

This year’s 
unprecedented 

level of visitation 
underlines the 

Island’s prominence 
as a favourite 

holiday destination 
for Western 
Australians  

and other visitors
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CEO report
Summer on the Island was in full swing 
when I arrived at the Rottnest Island 
Authority. It was a fitting introduction 
to RIA’s vast responsibilities when, 
within my first few weeks, a quokka 
hitched a ride to the mainland. Dubbed 

‘Steve’, the incident attracted worldwide attention, with 
over two million people hearing of our escaped quokka. 
Despite our best efforts, Steve is still on the run!

The experience of the Island would not be the same 
without the assistance of hundreds of volunteers 
who selflessly devote their time to enhancing visitor 
enjoyment of the Island surrounds and its history –  
I thank each and every one of you for your efforts.

The history of the Island was in sharp focus this year.  
It was my great pleasure to officiate on behalf of RIA  
at the 2017 ANZAC ceremony. Over 2,000 people  
stood vigil in the soft dawn light as we acknowledged 
our ANZACs.

In May, we were delighted to welcome our Minister, 
the Hon Paul Papalia CSC MLA, to the Island for the 
inaugural Island launch of National Reconciliation Week. 
This moving occasion commenced with a traditional 
smoking ceremony and was attended by over 200 
people including Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islanders.

It was an immense privilege to be involved in these 
significant events and this remarkable Island. As we 
embark on a new financial year I understand more than 
ever the importance of managing this Western Australia 
treasure for current and future generations to enjoy.

Michelle Reynolds
Chief Executive Officer
Rottnest Island Authority
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Year in numbers 6 4 7 , 5 2 4   V i s i t o r s  t o  t h e  I s l a n d

847
Private moorings

595
Joy-flights taken

97%
Overall visitor satisfaction

325,145
Day visitors

461
Moorings waitlisted

68,817
Visitors attended events

26,781
Bookings made

426,034
Ferry passengers

22,000+
Quokka selfies

46
Weddings

47,561
Calls answered

214,008
Boating visitors

1,200
Hours of staff training

87,835
Bikes hired

71%
Annual average occupancy 

of serviced accommodation

1.1m
Website hits
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Year in dollars
The snapshot below represents a consolidated view of 
RIA’s funding.

Table 1: Rottnest Island Authority totals for 2016/17

Revenue $48.9m

Expenditure $40.8m

Excluding Commonwealth and State government grants 
for key infrastructure works, and an in-kind contribution 
from the Rottnest Island Foundation, RIA’s operating 
revenue has increased by $1.7m this year or 5.2 percent. 
This is mainly due to increases in the Agency’s main 
income streams of accommodation, bike hire and 
admission fees collected from ferry passengers.

The primary costs attributable to RIA’s expenditure 
profile are Island facility management (35 percent), 
salary and staff-related costs (28 percent), operating 
expenditures such as repairs and maintenance and 
professional fees (21 percent), and depreciation  
(13 percent). The remaining funds were expended on 
sales and finance costs. Refer to the following tables for 
a breakdown of RIA’s revenue and expenditure.

Table 1A: Rottnest Island Authority income  
for 2016/17

Table 1B: Rottnest Island Authority expenditure  
for 2016/17

For the full financial summary, refer to ‘Financial 
overview’ on page 70 within Section 4: Disclosures and 
legal compliance.

The complete analysis and disclosure of RIA’s financial 
statements can be found in Section 5: Financial 
Statements and key performance indicators from  
page 80. 
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Year in targets
RIA’s performance is measured against agreed Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) which analyse the effectiveness and 
efficiency of our operations and services.

The below scorecard represents a snapshot view only. Full explanations on all measures, analysed against previous 
years, can be located on the page references listed beside each indicator in the following tables.

Table 2A: Indicators of effectiveness

No. Description Target Actual Reference

1 Visitor satisfaction with the Rottnest Island experience 97% 97% 124

2 Health of Island’s natural environment

Percentage of conditions compliant with operating licences  
(e.g. water, power) 100% 71% 125

Percentage of EarthCheck benchmarks being met or exceeded 90% 88% 126

Average viability rating of focal conservation targets  
(health of biodiversity) 75% 82% 126

3 Health of Island’s cultural heritage

Proportion of heritage listed places with statements of significance 70-89% 94% 127

Proportion of collection items recorded on database 90-100% 92% 127

Proportion of relevant developments that follow heritage legal 
requirements and conservation policies 90-100% 83% 127

Proportion of State-registered places meeting condition targets 75-89% 53% 127

Proportion of State-registered places with conservation plans  
less than 10 years <30% 1% 127

Table 2B: Indicators of efficiency

No. Description Target Actual Reference

1 Average cost of recreational and holiday services per visitor $115 $89 128

2 Average cost of natural environment and cultural heritage 
management per Reserve hectare $525 $526 128

 

Visitor satisfaction 
with the  

Rottnest Island 
experience 

remained at an 
outstanding  
97 percent
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Section 1:

Agency in focus

» The Visitor Centre is a focal point for new 

arrivals to Rottnest Island and carried 

out 24,400 check-ins in 2016/17. 

See page 27 for more on  

Accommodation Services
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About us

Our profile
The Rottnest Island Authority (RIA) operates a major 
holiday and recreation facility within a Class A Reserve 
according to the Rottnest Island Authority Act 1987 
(the Act). The control and management of the Island is 
vested in RIA for the purpose of enabling it to:

• provide and operate recreational and holiday 
facilities on the Island

• protect the flora and fauna of the Island, and
• maintain and protect the natural environment and 

the man-made resources of the Island and, to the 
extent that RIA’s resources allow, repair its natural 
environment.

Our purpose
RIA’s purpose is to grow visitor numbers and yield by 
providing best-in-class tourism products, experiences 
and service while enhancing Rottnest Island’s unique 
heritage and environment.

Our vision
Rottnest Island is an internationally recognised, 
sustainable, must-visit tourism destination.

Our values
• Friendly and welcoming
 We welcome and interact in a friendly manner with 

all Rottnest Island visitors, workers, volunteers, 
and other stakeholders to encourage a positive 
atmosphere of enjoyment based on trust and  
mutual respect.

• Partnering with stakeholders
 We engage in effective consultation and cooperation 

with Rottnest Island stakeholders to develop shared 
commitment and purpose. Where appropriate, we 
engage our stakeholders to deliver and enhance 
services that benefit Rottnest Island and its visitors.

• Improvement and innovation
 We foster an environment that encourages 

continuous improvement and innovation in our 
operations by objectively challenging our prevailing 
policies and practices to help achieve our stated 
vision, mission and objectives.

• Valuing our people
 We value our staff by encouraging positive 

performance, providing personal development 
opportunities and enabling a balance between work 
and personal commitments.

• Conservation and sustainability
 We seek to ensure that Rottnest Island’s natural 

environment and cultural heritage are conserved 
and enhanced in a sustainable manner.

• Business-like management
 We continually seek to improve business 

performance by adopting modern business 
management practices and by delivering services in 
an ethical, efficient and effective manner.

Rottnest Island is 
one of the most  

popular recreation 
and holiday  

destinations in 
Western Australia
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About the Island

A class act
Rottnest Island is a Class A Reserve situated in the 
Indian Ocean, 18 kilometres west of Fremantle, and 
includes 3,800 hectares of Marine Reserve with five 
sanctuary zones. The Island is 11 kilometres long and 
4.5 kilometres at its widest point. It has 63 sheltered 
beaches and 20 bays with a land area of 1,900 hectares.

The Island is abundant in flora and fauna, including:

• 8-10,000 quokkas (listed as vulnerable species)
• 254 bird species
• 19 reptile species
• 25 species of tropical fish
• 225 species of temperate fish
• Colony of juvenile New Zealand fur seals
• 64 hectares of Rottnest Pine, Rottnest Tea Tree, 

samphire and woodland communities
• 18 hypersaline and brackish lakes with unique 

ecological and biological diversity
• 9 species of seagrass

A much-loved destination
Rottnest Island is one of the most popular recreation 
and holiday destinations in Western Australia, valued for 
its scenic natural environment and sanctuary for people 
seeking to relax and enjoy nature-based activities. It 
is the State’s largest holiday resort attracting close to 
650,000 visitors per year.

The Island is benchmarked against EarthCheck, a 
global sustainability framework for tourism and travel 
organisations.

A deep connection and history
The Island has cultural and spiritual significance for 
Aboriginal communities across the State. The traditional 
custodians of the Island are the Whadjuk people. 
The name of Rottnest in their language is Wadjemup, 
which means ‘place of spirits’. Wadjemup is commonly 
used in signage, location, names, events and business 
documents. There are 17 registered Aboriginal sites.

Rottnest Island also has three State sites and six 
International sites with geoheritage significance, as well 
as almost 120 built heritage places of military, colonial, 
maritime and cultural import.

A home away from home
A total of 18 commercial businesses operate on the 
Island, maintaining a range of services including eight 
food and beverage outlets; 291 self-contained units and 
214 dormitory/hostel accommodation; 43 camp sites; 
847 licensed moorings and facilities for 1,200 boats; 
one airport; 1,400 bicycles and a range of  
recreational items.

There are 60 RIA employees who live permanently or 
commute to the Island daily.
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Organisational structure

Agency overview
Responsible Minister The Minister responsible for RIA with effect from 17 March 2017  

is the Hon Paul Papalia CSC MLA, Minister for Tourism (pictured left).

Administration The day to day administration of RIA is delegated by the RIA Board to the Chief 
Executive Officer (CEO), who directs the daily operations of Rottnest Island.

Board responsibilities are outlined in Section 4: Disclosures and legal compliance  
on page 74.

Funding RIA is classified as a Public Non-Financial Corporation by the Department of Treasury, 
required to be self-funding and non-reliant on State Budget funding for its commercial 
operating expenses. RIA is therefore required to act in a commercial manner to fulfil  
its functions.

RIA’s main income streams are derived through Island accommodation, bike and 
recreational hire, and admission and mooring fees.

Utilities, maintenance, cleaning and waste management is performed under an  
$11.5m per annum external contract.

Government grants total $5m annually, applied to the management of the Island’s 
unique and diverse environment, which is increasingly subject to the effects and 
expectations of visitors.

Enabling legislation RIA is constituted under the Rottnest Island Authority Act 1987.

In administering the Act, RIA adheres to the following key legislation:

•   Financial Management Act 2006

•   Public Sector Management Act 1994

•   State Supply Commission Act 1991

•   Aboriginal Heritage Act 1972

•   Conservation & Land Management Act 1984

•   Health (Rottnest Island) By-Laws 1989

•   Jetties Act 1926

•   Biodiversity Conservation Act 2016

•   South West Native Title Settlement Act 2016
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Organisational chart
Figure 2: Rottnest Island Authority organisational structure
 

MINISTER FOR TOURISM

ROTTNEST ISLAND AUTHORITY BOARD

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

EXECUTIVE SERVICES

CORPORATE  
SERVICES

ENVIRONMENT, 
HERITAGE AND PARKS

PROJECT AND 
CONTRACT SERVICES

DESTINATION 
MARKETING AND 

VISITOR EXPERIENCE

Operational areas
Environment, Heritage and Parks

Environment, Heritage and Parks operates three 
distinct functions which oversee the sustainability 
and conservation of Rottnest Island’s natural, cultural 
and built heritage environments, and visitor safety, 
emergency preparedness and response, in accordance 
with associated legislation.

Project and Contract Services

Project and Contract Services is responsible for the 
Island’s utilities, major and minor projects within the 
annual capital program, assets, infrastructure, facilities 
and contract management. This includes development 
and implementation of project concepts, feasibility 
studies and plans. The area also ensures development 
applications are processed in a professional and timely 
manner in accordance with established criteria.

Destination Marketing and Visitor Experiences

Destination Marketing and Visitor Experiences aims to 
grow visitor numbers and revenue through marketing 
and events that increase destination awareness. The 
main revenue streams are accommodation, bike and 
recreational hire, moorings and admission fees.

The area also manages collaborations with the Rottnest 
Voluntary Guides Association, and facilitates education 
for schools through self-guided educational packages 
and bespoke tours.

Corporate Services

Corporate Services provides business services that 
ensure RIA has the required personnel and expertise 
available, as well as financial, technological and physical 
resources to manage operations and services on 
Rottnest Island. The area also leads the commercial and 
residential leasing functions across the Island.
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Deputy Chairman – Hamish Beck
Deputy Chairman appointed by the Governor on the 
nomination of the Minister

Mr Hamish Beck was appointed 
Member and Deputy Chairman 
in March 2016. He is Principal/
Managing Director of Beck Advisory, 
a development advisory and 
asset management business. His 

involvement with the property industry spans over 
25 years with substantial experience in tourism 
development, commercial development, and asset 
management of commercial buildings. Hamish is also 
Chairperson of the Swan River Trust, Member of the 
Cathedral Treasure Precinct Civic Space Management, 
Committee Member of the Ralph and Patricia Sarich 
Neuroscience Institute Tenant Group.

Leadership

Rottnest Island Authority Board
RIA’s governing body, the Board, is appointed by the 
Governor on the nomination of the Minister for Tourism 
for terms not exceeding three years. Members may be 
reappointed. Members are selected according to their 
experience relevant to RIA’s operations.

The Board meets monthly.

Board disclosures
For Board responsibilities, attendance and conflict 
of interest disclosures refer to ‘Board policies and 
responsibilities’ and ‘Board disclosures’ from page 74  
in Section 4: Disclosures and legal compliance.  
Board remuneration is disclosed on page 72 in the  
same section.

Chairman – John Driscoll
Chairman appointed by the Governor on the nomination 
of the Minister

Mr John Driscoll joined the Board in 
2010 and was appointed Chairman 
of the Board in July 2012. John’s 
qualifications include a Bachelor 
Degree in Economics and a Master of 
Business Administration. He became 

Chairman and Chief Executive Office of Marketforce 
in 2003 following a 15-year career with Marketforce. 
He is Chair to the Senior Advisory Panel of Marketing 
for the Curtin Business School, past Chairman of 
the Communications Council of Western Australia, 
Chairman of Trinity College and a Board member of 
Wheelchair Sports WA.

Member – Robert McDonald
Member appointed as a person who is of sound 
commercial experience

Mr Rob McDonald was appointed in 
2011. Rob spent 32 years working in 
a variety of different roles across the 
State public sector, including more 
than 20 years in senior executive 
positions. His previous positions 

include Executive Director, WA Police; Chief Executive 
Officer, State Supply Commission; Director, State 
Treasury; and Director of Finance, WA Police. Rob is 
a CPA and MAICD. He is the Chair of the Board of the 
South Metropolitan Health Service and a non-Executive 
Director on the Board of the Ability Centre, a not for 
profit organisation specialising in disability services. Rob 
also provides consultancy services in the areas of public 
sector management. Rob is Chairman of the Rottnest 
Island Authority Finance, Risk and Audit Committee.
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Member – Suzanne Hunt
Member appointed as a person who has practical 
knowledge of and experience in the preservation of 
buildings of historic value

Ms Suzanne Hunt was appointed in 
May 2010. She has over 30 years’ 
experience in the construction 
industry particularly in architectural 
and interior design, documentation, 
contract administration and strategic 

management on conservation and adaptive reuse 
projects for local and state government authorities 
and in the private sector in WA and in the UK. Suzie is a 
registered Architect with the Architects Board of WA, a 
Fellow of the Australian Institute of Architects (FRAIA), 
a member of the RIBA, the Design Institute of Australia 
and the Australian Consulting Architects.

Suzie has sat on the Australian Institute of Architects 
(RAIA) WA Chapter Council since 2014 and in 2017 was 
elected President by the membership. She is the first 
female to hold this position.

Her practice Suzanne Hunt Architect Pty Ltd is a multi-
award winning architectural and interior design practice 
specialising in both contemporary and heritage projects 
in metropolitan and regional WA.

Member – Dr Peter Hick *

Member appointed as a person who has practical 
knowledge of and experience in the conversation of  
the environment

Dr Peter Hick was appointed in 
August 2011. He is a retired CSIRO 
Environmental Geoscientist who 
specialised in spectral and biophysical 
research for terrestrial and aquatic 
environments. He has specialist skills 

in the understanding of the environmental effects 
of resource extraction, mining and agriculture, and 
coastal geomorphology, and has written more than 140 
publications with a strong environmental perspective. 
His PhD was awarded in the field of Marine Physics and 
his recent research has concentrated on the statistics of 
localised effects of climate and biodiversity.

*  Dr Peter Hick replaced Sally Hollis in this role on the Board on the 

completion of Sally Hollis’ term in December 2016.

Member – Dr Marina Hogan
Member appointed as a person who is a regular user  
of the Island for recreational purposes

Dr Marina Hogan was appointed in 
January 2017. Marina co-founded 
Scoop Publishing in 1997 and has 
extensive experience in marketing 
services and arts, events, travel and 
lifestyle guides. She teaches part 

time in the School of Humanities at The University 
of Western Australia. Marina is deputy chair of the 
Board of Governors at the WA Museum and chairs its 
Remuneration and Nominations Committee. She sits 
on the board of North Metropolitan TAFE where she 
is a member of the Governance Committee and the 
Nominations Committee.
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Corporate Executive
The Corporate Executive is RIA’s senior management 
team who works with the Chief Executive Officer 
(CEO) to direct the Agency’s corporate and business 
operations across the five key policy areas:

• improved visitor experience
• conservation and improved access to cultural heritage
• protection of the unique environment
• professional relationships with stakeholders
• financial stability.

The Corporate Executive held 27 formal meetings 
during 2016/17.

Chief Executive Officer
Michelle Reynolds was seconded to Rottnest Island 
Authority on 2 January 2017. Michelle has been the 
substantive CEO of WorkCover WA since 25 December 
2008, and has played a key role in shaping public sector 
management policy over many years in the Western 
Australian public sector, the past 15 years in senior 
executive roles. Michelle has a Bachelor of Arts and 
a Masters of Business Administration (University of 
Western Australia).

General Manager Environment,  
Heritage and Parks
Holly Knight is the General Manager Environment, 
Heritage and Parks. Holly has worked in the public 
sector for five years after a decade in the UK where 
she worked on the London 2012 Olympics and was a 
sponsored participant in the prestigious International 
Visitor Leadership Programme focusing on climate 
change and sustainable cities. 

Holly is responsible for setting the direction of Rottnest 
Island’s environment, cultural and heritage conservation 
programs, and managing the park, ranger and 
emergency services.

General Manager Project and Contract 
Services
Mario Claudio is the Acting General Manager 
Project and Contract Services and has over 35 years’ 
experience working in Property Management and 
Development related positions. He is a graduate of 
Curtin University, a Licensed Valuer and a Fellow of the 
Australian Property Institute. Mario has held senior 
management positions at Bankwest as Head of Property 
and more recently at LandCorp as Manager Urban 
Development, where he developed and implemented 
strategic policies to enhance industry positioning and 
improve financial and operational performance.

General Manager Destination Marketing 
and Visitor Experience
Suzanne Perry is the General Manager Destination 
Marketing and Visitor Experience and has been involved 
in Sales, Marketing and Product Development from 
a grass roots level through to Executive Leadership. 
Suzanne’s 20 years of experience covers local, national 
and international brands. Within these roles she has 
been instrumental in creating Marketing and Sales 
Strategies, leading culture change, achieving growth 
and lifting Gross Margin in very challenging climates.

General Manager Corporate Services
Les Bechelli is Acting General Manager Corporate 
Services and Chief Finance Officer. Les has worked 
within the public sector for over 25 years in various roles 
at the Department of Training, Homewest, Department 
of Justice, WA Police and the Rottnest Island Authority. 
Les has been performing senior management and 
leadership roles for the past sixteen years and 
undertaking senior executive positions at WA Police 
for the past four and half years. Les has a Bachelor of 
Business and is a Fellow CPA.

People
The CEO is supported in the delivery of day-to-day 
operations of Rottnest Island by 70 permanent staff 
and a range of 20 - 40 temporary staff as required to 
meet seasonal demands. For RIA’s workforce profile and 
related policies refer to page 22. For RIA’s disclosures 
against associated legal requirements refer to page 72 
in Section 4: Disclosures and legal compliance.
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Strategic governance

Performance Management 
Framework
Outcomes Based Management structure
Through the management of Rottnest Island activities 
and operations, RIA contributes to a range of State 
Government objectives related to Government  
Goal 5 ‘Social and Environmental Responsibility’, which 
demands that economic activity is managed in a socially 
and environmentally responsible manner for the long-
term benefit of the State.

Figure 3 outlines how RIA’s ‘Agency Desired Outcome’ 
and ‘Agency Services’ connect to Government Goal 3.

Figure 3: Rottnest Island Authority Outcome Based 
Management Structure

Government Goal

Social and Environmental 
Responsibility
Ensuring economic activity 
is managed in a socially and 
environmentally responsible 
manner for the long-term 
benefit of the State

Agency Desired 
Outcome

Rottnest Island visitors enjoy 
recreational and holiday 
experiences in healthy, natural 
and cultural environments

Agency Services

1.   Recreational and holiday 
services

2.   Natural environment 
and cultural heritage 
management

Shared responsibilities with other agencies

The Rottnest Island Authority did not share any service-
related responsibilities with other agencies in 2016/17.

Through its operations, RIA did work in partnership with 
other Government providers servicing Rottnest Island, 
including the Western Australian Police, Department 
of Health, Department of Education, Department 
of Transport, Department of Parks and Wildlife, 
Department of Fisheries, and Department of Fire and 
Emergency Services.

How we measure our performance
To evaluate its contribution to State Government  
Goal 5 ‘Social and Environmental Responsibility’, RIA 
measures its performance in the delivery of the two 
Agency services:

1. Recreational and holiday services
2. Natural environment and cultural heritage 

management

These services are linked to effectiveness and efficiency 
key performance indicators (KPIs) which indicate the 
extent to which RIA has achieved its Agency Desired 
Outcome (refer to Figure 4).

RIA did not make any changes to its Outcome Based 
Management structure or KPIs in 2016/17.

Refer to ‘Key performance indicators’ within Section 5: 
Financial statements and key performance indicators 
from page 80 for all the KPI information.

Figure 4: Rottnest Island Authority’s Key 
Performance Indicators

Effectiveness 
indicators

1.   Visitor satisfaction with the 
Rottnest Island experience

2.   Health of Island’s natural 
environment

3.   Health of Island’s cultural 
heritage

Efficiency 
indicators

1.   Average cost of recreational and 
holiday services provided per 
visitor

2.   Average cost of natural 
environment and cultural heritage 
management per Reserve hectare
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Strategic direction

RIA’s operations are guided by considerable  
strategic planning.

Like any local district within the State, a development 
plan is essential for determining the most effective use 
of land for the benefit of the community. In 2014, RIA 
established the ‘Rottnest Island Master Plan – a 20 
Year Vision (MP20) for the whole of Rottnest Island. 
The MP20 provides a long-term vision for how the built 
environment should ‘look and feel’ by 2034.

Underpinning the MP20, is a five-year management 
plan which has been devised in accordance with the Act. 
This Rottnest Island Management Plan 2014–19 (RIMP) 
follows a framework of Guiding Principles (refer to 
Figure 5) to outline five strategic policy objectives:

1. Improved visitor experiences
 Rottnest Island is a must-visit destination for the 

local, national and international tourism markets, 
resulting in increased visitation and visitor yield.

2. Conservation and improved access to 
cultural heritage

 Rottnest Island is an internationally recognised 
tourism destination attracting increased local, 
national and international visitation, based on 
natural and cultural heritage values.

3. Protection of the unique environment
 The Rottnest Island Reserve will be a protected 

haven for indigenous flora and fauna; a unique place 
where visitors can enjoy and appreciate diverse 
nature-based experiences now and in the future.

4. Professional relationships with 
stakeholders

 Improved quality and increased acceptance 
of decisions through appropriate stakeholder 
involvement and engagement in RIA’s decision 
making process.

5. Financial sustainability
 The non-commercial operations on Rottnest Island 

will be funded through a combination of cost 
recovery, contribution from commercial operations, 
grants and sponsorships, and use of third party 
providers. The ‘user pays’ principle will be applied 
wherever practicable.

Operational Plans ensure the RIMP’s strategic focuses 
are implemented effectively by establishing a clear 
connection between the five policy objectives and RIA’s 
operations and services. The Operational Plans are 
updated in accordance with a scheduled timeframe.

Figure 4 outlines the relationships between these 
elements.

Our achievements under these plans can be found in 
Section 2: Report on operations from page 25.

Rottnest Island is  
an internationally 

recognised, 
sustainable,  

must-visit  
tourism destination
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Figure 5: Alignment of Rottnest Island Authority’s strategic planning
 

Outlook for the future
A range of initiatives under the RIMP’s five policy areas will continue to be developed and implemented in 2017/18. 
The next steps for RIA are outlined from page 66 in Section 3: Opportunities and challenges.

Rottnest Island Master Plan 2014-2034

Rottnest Island Management Plan 2014 - 2019

•   Improved visitor experiences
•   Conservation and improved access to cultural heritage
•   Protection of the unique environment
•   Professional relationships with stakeholders
•   Financial sustainability

Operational Plans

•   Strategic Direction 2015-2019
•   Cultural Landscape Management Plan 2015
•   Boating Management Strategy 2014
•   Terrestrial Management  Strategy 2013
•   Marine Management Strategy 2007

Guiding Principles

•   Rottnest Island will be vibrant, unique 
and best-in-class

•   Products, facilities, services and 
functions will be provided that meet 
or exceed market expectations 
and will be based on achieving a 
commercial rate of return

•   Development will be consistent 
with Rottnest Island’s heritage 
conservation management planning. 
Development outside the Settlement 
Area may be considered

•   Strategic decisions will be supported 
by business cases

•   The RIA ‘generally’ should not be in 
business as a commercial provider

•   The main market for Rottnest Island 
will remain Western Australia with a 
focus on growing the national and 
international visitation segments

•   Business competition that benefits 
Rottnest Island will be encouraged

•   The future cost of Rottnest Island to 
Government will be minimised
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Corporate governance

Finance, Risk and Audit 
Committee
The Finance, Risk and Audit Committee reports to 
the Board and makes recommendations on financial, 
audit and risk-related matters to ensure financial 
management and risk management processes are 
effective.

The Committee met on 11 occasions during the 
year, ensuring strong oversight of commercial and 
operational matters. The Committee operates as a 
sub-committee at official Board meetings and as such 
Board attendance disclosed on page 75 in Section 4: 
Disclosures and legal compliance also reflects member 
attendance of this Committee.

Risk management
As a State government agency, RIA operates within a 
very unique environment. In owning and operating all 
utilities on Rottnest Island, we are custodians of a  
Class A Reserve that doubles as a major tourist 
attraction for Western Australia.

In order to achieve our Agency Desired Outcome 
and deliver our Agency Services, risk management 
is a critical component of our strategic planning 
and allocation of resources. Risk assessment and 
management is subsequently embedded in all our 
operations. The Finance, Risk and Audit Committee 
provides a formal mechanism for risk management 
discussions and decision making.

Over 270 risks have been identified and are managed 
by the Risk Management Manager in accordance with 
ANZ/NZS ISO 31000:2009. Major categories of RIA risk 
assessments include:

• Strategic Risk Assessments
• Environmental Risk Assessments
• Event Risk Assessments
• Visitor Risk Management
• Operational Risk Assessments

During the 2016/17 financial year a review commenced 
to update and combine all risk management processes 
into one RIA corporate framework. A new risk 
management policy was approved by the Board and 
adopted by the Agency.

The consolidation of all risk assessment for the Island 
has also commenced. Some revised risk assessments 
and risk controls have been introduced under the 
sustainability management system, with reference to 
international sustainable tourism codes of practice.
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Workplace consultation
RIA has formal mechanisms for consulting with staff, 
including through the following committees.  
The committees include staff members with relevant 
skills, knowledge or insights from across the Agency.

Joint Consultative Committee
The Joint Consultative Committee’s (JCC) purpose 
is to provide a process that supports positive and 
constructive consultation within RIA, creating a 
forum for proactive two-way communication between 
management and staff in relation to workplace  
issues that affect individuals or groups of staff.  
The JCC consists of six union delegates and four RIA 
management representatives.

The JCC met nine times in 2016/17.

OSH Committee
RIA encourages regular consultation with staff  
on occupational safety and health matters.  
The Occupational Safety and Health Committee (OSHC) 
meets monthly, and includes a total of 12 members with 
representatives from each business area, and support 
from the Corporate Executive. The Committee’s terms 
of reference include:

• keeping information on workplace hazards, general 
safety information and reference material in a place 
readily accessible to employees

• reviewing all Incident/Hazard Reports and  
Near-Miss Reports

• ensuring that corrective action is taken following 
accident investigations and reports

• considering changes or intended changes to work 
practices or processes which may affect the safety 
and health of employees

• monitoring and publishing accident statistics
• performing workplace inspections
• providing recommendations for employee safety and 

health training
• ensuring emergency procedures and standard 

operating procedures are prepared and 
implemented

• monitoring the safety performance of contractors 
and their compliance with established procedures 
and requirements

• monitoring progress in meeting overall targets and 
objectives

• providing accurate and timely feedback to all 
employees on safety and health matters

• promoting safety and health awareness generally.

Occupational safety and health matters are also 
discussed at JCC meetings with union delegates and the 
CEO in attendance.

The OSHC met nine times this year and completed 
a total of 44 actions related to internal occupational 
health and safety matters.

Island Operations Forum
The Island Operations Forum meets monthly and 
consists of third tier senior managers from across 
the Agency. The Island Operations Forum provides an 
avenue for the:

• exchange of information between managers to 
increase awareness of activities and projects in other 
areas that will impact on more than one department

• improved communication, relations and sharing 
of knowledge between areas, particularly where 
synergies may be achieved (e.g. procurement of 
goods or services to the Island where grouping 
of orders can deliver economies of scale and 
efficiencies, projects, tenders)

• addressing concerns raised in staff surveys relating 
to poor communication due to the easier and more 
efficient dissemination of information to relevant 
operational staff

• identification of joint operational risks and forum for 
proposal of solutions

• solving problems through collaboration within a 
diverse group of senior managers.
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Complaints handling
Our process
RIA staff are trained to immediately respond to visitors 
and to resolve complaints informally, on the spot where 
possible. If the complaint cannot be resolved on the 
spot, it will be referred to the manager of the area. 
All complaints are seen as an opportunity to improve 
service, and are subsequently recorded and fed into 
RIA’s continuous improvement mechanisms.

RIA receives three forms of feedback from visitors:

• Compliment  
An experience that exceeds expectation

• Comment  
A comment or suggestion for improvement

• Complaint  
An experience that does not match expectation

Customer complaints are usually received in the 
following ways:

• Formal customer feedback
 Customers write a letter or send an email to RIA 

detailing a complaint about their experience on 
Rottnest Island.

• Online accommodation feedback survey
 Visitors provide comments about their accommodation 

experience via an online survey which is sent to 
them in the week following their stay. 

RIA’s formal response process incudes registration, 
acknowledgement, investigation, resolution (if possible), 
and recording the outcome in the Customer Feedback 
Register to ensure it is captured in the continuous 
improvement process. 

RIA’s processes ensure the complainant is responded to 
within five days of receiving the initial feedback, in the 
same format as the feedback was received. A response 
is then provided within 30 days of receiving the initial 
feedback, or within 60 days if an investigation into the 
complaint is required.

Social media
Feedback is also received via user generated content on 
Facebook and Twitter. These sites are closely monitored, 
and RIA typically replies to comments within two hours, 
up to eight times a day. Similarly Trip Advisor is regularly 
monitored and responded to appropriately. 

Feedback received
In 2016/17, 25 compliments, 3,388 comments, and  
144 formal complaints were received.

All feedback was acknowledged, with all complaints 
dealt with via our formal response process. Importantly, 
the number of complaints represented less than  
0.1 percent of visitation numbers. No complaints 
required an investigation. 

The number 
of complaints 

represented less 
than 0.1 percent  

of visitation 
numbers
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Communications policies
In 2016/17, RIA ensured all Agency staff complied with 
policies that govern internal communications between 
staff and external communications with stakeholders, 
media and the general public. These policies are 
supported by RIA’s Freedom of Information Policy, 
Records Management Policy and Code of Conduct.

Customer Service Charter
The RIA Customer Service Charter identifies the 
Agency’s commitment to quality customer service 
and what to do if visitor’s wish to provide feedback on 
the service they receive. For our complaints handling 
processes and performance refer to ‘Complaints 
handling’ on page 20. RIA’s Customer Service 
Commitments are:

• providing friendly, courteous and efficient customer 
service

• providing staff with the knowledge, authority and 
responsibility to deal with customer feedback

• responding to correspondence within 
reasonable timeframes (under 30 days); with an 
acknowledgement response within five days if a 
lengthy investigation is required

• striving to excel in customer service through 
continuous improvement and external 
benchmarking

• making it as convenient as possible for customers to 
contact RIA in person, over the phone or online

• actively seeking feedback on our services 
• conducting regular customer satisfaction surveys.

Official communication
This policy governs the flow of information between 
members of the RIA Board, Board Committees and 
stakeholders, as well as establishing the CEO as the 
conduit for information passing between the Board and 
general RIA staff.

The policy establishes who should communicate with 
whom, and when, as well as what should be communicated 
and whether there are confidentiality considerations.

Public interest disclosures
RIA is committed to the objectives of the Public Interest 
Disclosure Act 2003, which provides protection of 
sensitive, public interest information for those who 
disclose and those who are the subject of a disclosure.

Information about public interest disclosures in relation 
to RIA is available on our website.

There was one public interest disclosure in 2016/17.

Freedom of information
The Freedom of Information Act 1992 provides a general 
right of access to documents held by State and local 
government agencies.

To assist Freedom of Information (FOI) requests,  
RIA has published an Information Statement on its 
website outlining the Agency’s processes. 

RIA received six FOI requests in 2016/17.

Commercial Operations Policy
The Commercial Operations Policy provides the 
means for RIA to assess and make decisions regarding 
commercial operations within the Rottnest Island 
Reserve. This governs communications with  
commercial operations and responses to proposals as 
part of those processes.
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Systems and workforce

Workforce profile
The wide variety of occupational groups within the 
organisation reflects the complex nature of RIA’s remit, 
ranging from customer service representatives to 
conservation officers, professionals and administrators. 
The seasonal nature of the business is an additional 
challenge as the Agency strives to match its workforce 
to visitor demands.

Figure 6 outlines the mixture of employment types at 
RIA, highlighting the Agency’s flexible work practices 
and adaptability to the seasonal demands of the Island’s 
holiday and recreational services.

The full workforce profile is disclosed on page 72 under 
‘Employment and industrial relations’ in Section 4: 
Disclosures and legal compliance.

Figure 6: Snapshot of Rottnest Island Authority’s 
workforce profile

Workforce planning
Workforce development
RIA has workforce development mechanisms that 
support the ongoing training of staff within their work 
areas, with operational managers working closely 
with teams throughout the year. Formal Performance 
Development Agreements were not conducted in 
2016/17. However, professional development was 
progressed through professional training.

Staff training

In 2016/17, a majority of RIA staff attended internal 
or external professional development training. The 
programs covered areas including public sector training, 
leadership development, reporting to the Board and 
executive writing, team building, project management 
and skills development in the use of information 
technology products.

RIA also encourages the movement of staff across the 
Authority through expressions of interest. This provides 
staff with an opportunity to experience a new area and 
enhance existing skills or learn new ones.

Staff completed 1,200 hours of training in total.

Attraction and retention
Recruitment processes in 2016/17 resulted in  
29 appointments, including 11 secondments  
(paid by RIA) from other government departments.

A total of 15 permanent or fixed-term staff left RIA 
during the year, representing an increase in staff 
turnover from last financial year.

Equal opportunity pathways

RIA is also committed to providing employment 
pathways for young Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
Australians. RIA employed an Aboriginal Heritage 
Officer in 2016/17, and in April this year, the Agency 
requested three Aboriginal trainees on a 12-month 
traineeship program which is administered through  
the Public Sector Commission’s Aboriginal  
Traineeship Program.

Career opportunities

The Machinery of Government changes which have 
resulted in RIA becoming part of the Department 
of Biodiversity, Conservation and Attractions from 
1 July 2017, is viewed positively by RIA staff. The 
amalgamation brings RIA under a broader portfolio 
which will provide our staff with more career and 
development opportunities than the more contracted 
RIA structures were able to provide.
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Equality and inclusion
Disability Access and Inclusion Plan
The Agency conducts all operations and services in 
accordance with its Disability Access and Inclusion 
Plan 2012 – 2017 which provides guidance for new 
developments and initiatives, as well as staple services.

Our customer service staff are trained to discuss and 
accommodate specific needs of visitors at the time of 
booking. With the advent of online bookings, we have 
retained the ability to tailor services through our call 
centre. Specific needs are provided for through special 
needs accommodation and services, such as transport 
with wheelchair access and disabled toilets equipped 
with braille signage. Visitors also have access to audio 
signs and commentary.

Reconciliation Action Plan
There is an increasing awareness within the Western 
Australian community of the history of Rottnest Island, 
or Wadjemup, as a place of detention and forced labour 
for Aboriginal men and boys during the nineteenth 
and early twentieth centuries. The dislocation and loss 
associated with the transport and imprisonment of 
up to 3,000 men from every part of the State affected 
communities throughout Western Australia. The impact 
of this reverberates to the present day, and remains at 
the heart of many Aboriginal people’s connection to  
the Island.

This aspect of the Island’s story, and its ongoing 
relevance, is recognised in RIA’s Reconciliation Action 
Plan 2016 – 2019 (RAP). The RAP identifies a range 
of ways in which the history and contemporary 
significance of the Island for Aboriginal people can 
be reflected in the facilities and services available to 
visitors, and in the work practices and corporate  
culture of RIA.

A number of culturally significant initiatives connected 
to reconciliation were continued or completed in 
2016/17, including:

• Wadjemup Aboriginal Burial Ground (page 44)
• Reconciliation Week Opening Ceremony (page 46)
• Wadjemup Bidi Walk Trail (page 32).

In association with the RAP, RIA has established the 
Wadjemup Aboriginal Reference Group (WARG).  
The WARG is an advisory body comprised of Whadjuk 
traditional owners and Aboriginal community leaders, 
which provides cultural guidance to RIA on the 
Burial Ground project, and possible future uses and 
conservation of the former Aboriginal prison, known as 
the Quod. Refer to page 61 for full details.

Cross cultural awareness
Cross cultural awareness training is provided to RIA 
staff and staff from other businesses on the Island.  
Two two-day training sessions were held in 2016/17, 
with a total of 38 employees attending. Approximately 
80 percent of RIA staff have completed the training.

There is an 
increasing 
awareness  

within the Western 
Australian 

community  
of the history of 
Rottnest Island
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Safety, health and wellbeing
Occupational Safety and Health 
Management
In accordance with the Occupational Safety and Health 
Act 1984, RIA continued its commitment to providing 
and maintaining a safe and healthy environment for its 
visitors, staff, volunteers and contractors through its 
Occupational Safety and Health Policy.

Due to management of a large recreational Island, RIA 
places a large focus on the effective provision of first aid, 
and as such 29 staff have been equipped with first aid 
and CPR training. RIA also has 13 staff with Fire Warden 
evacuation training. Refer to ‘OSH Committee’ on  
page 19 for details on how OSH awareness is integrated 
in day to day operations.

Visitor safety on the Island and emergency 
preparedness and response is detailed from page 58 in 
Section 3: Opportunities and challenges. 

The Agency’s reportable OSH outcomes can be found 
from page 78 within Section 4: Disclosures and  
legal compliance.

Health and wellness
RIA takes the health and wellbeing of its staff seriously. 
A wellness program called “Bounce” covers themes 
of physical health, financial benefit, and social and 
emotional wellbeing. “Bounce” gives RIA employees 
access to resources such as an employee assistance 
program, free counselling sessions and seminars 
covering a wide range of topics such as superannuation, 
financial advice, discounted private health insurance 
and gym memberships.

A total of 11 Bounce initiatives were implemented  
in 2016/17.

As many Rottnest Island employees work outdoors,  
free skin checks were provided to all staff with a total of 
42 employees participating.

Information technology and 
business systems
The Agency continued to implement its IT Strategic 
Plan during 2016/17. However, with the announcement 
of the Machinery of Government changes following 
this year’s State election, RIA spent the last portion of 
the financial year readying systems for the transition 
to the Department of Biodiversity, Conservation and 
Attractions (DBCA).

As at 1 July 2017, RIA joined the other affected agencies 
in aligning with the umbrella policies, procedures 
and focuses of the DBCA IT Strategic Plan, including 
governance of associated business systems.

RIA spent the 
last portion of 

the financial year 
readying systems 
for the transition 

to the Department 
of Biodiversity, 

Conservation and 
Attractions
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Section 2:

Report on operations

» A new beach access at Little Armstrong 

Bay was one of the many recreational 

improvements completed at sites 

connected with the Wadjemup Bidi 

See page 32 for more
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The operational achievements of Rottnest Island 
Authority (RIA) for 2016/17 are reported against its 
Agency Services:

• Service 1: Recreational and holiday services, 
commences page 27

• Service 2: Natural environment and cultural 
heritage management, from page 40

Achievements listed under these services underline 
the deliverance of our Agency Desired Outcome 
‘Rottnest Island visitors enjoy recreational and 
holiday experiences in healthy, natural and cultural 
environments’, in accordance with Government Goal 5: 
Social and Environmental Responsibility.

This year saw a number of ‘landmark’ achievements 
which are noted in this section. These landmark 
initiatives will have a significant impact on the  
Island’s future.
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Service 1: Recreational and holiday services

Where travellers come from
Figure 6: Traveller demographics

Length of stay
Around one quarter of ferry visitors stayed in overnight 
accommodation across the year. The vast majority of 
visitors who arrived by ferry came to experience the 
Island for the day, before returning to the mainland. 

Accommodation and 
hospitality
Aligned with 
Rottnest Island 
Management Plan 
policy no.

1

5

Improved visitor 
experiences
Financial sustainability

Accommodation services
Provision of short-term rental accommodation is 
RIA’s most important commercial arm. The operation 
comprises 290 self-contained units, a 164 bed 
dormitory style facility at Kingstown, a 50 bed hostel, 
and a 43 site camping ground.

The Visitor Centre carried out 24,400 check-ins to 
RIA-managed accommodation during 2016/17. Table 3 
outlines the annual average occupancy of RIA serviced 
accommodation during the year. Whilst the key 
performance indicator was not met, the result remains 
an excellent achievement, up two percent from the 
previous financial year.

Table 3: Average overall occupancy level

2016/17 Target 2016/17 Actual

73% 71%

Overview
This year proved a bumper year for visitation numbers, 
with 647,524 visitors setting foot on Rottnest Island 
(this total excludes the 52,414 trips made by RIA 
staff and Island volunteers). This was an outstanding 
achievement and represented an increase of 
 5.9 percent from last year, highlighting the increasingly 
important role played by RIA in managing recreational 
and holiday services. This increase in visitor numbers 
is even more exemplary given the overall downturn in 
the WA tourism industry, which recorded a 4.9 percent 
reduction in the most recent reporting period (year 
ending March 2017). 

Alongside this achievement, RIA continued to record 
excellent visitor satisfaction levels, with 97 percent of all 
visitors stating their visit to the Island met or exceeded 
their expectations.

Due to its commercial requirements, RIA is an 
accredited business and proudly displays the Green 
Tick to assure visitors they can expect quality, reliability 
and professionalism, accurate advertising, sound 
environmental practice and a Code of Ethics.

All businesses on the Island are contractually  
obligated to become TQUAL accredited. With the 
cessation of TQUAL from 30 June 2017, this 
 requirement will continue under Western Australian 
Tourism Council accreditation.
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Minor improvements were also made to the Camping 
Grounds, with:

• 3,000 plantings made by volunteers to delineate the 
camping sites

• mulching and installation of new signage at the 
luggage area

• installation of quokka proof gates at the camp 
kitchen.

Hospitality services
RIA leases space to 14 Island businesses (excluding 
licence and concession agreements), which includes 
eight food and beverage outlets. The variety of 
hospitality is an essential ingredient to the visitor 
experience, and RIA works hard in conjunction with the 
Rottnest Island Chamber of Commerce (RICC) to ensure 
visitors have a range of options available on the Island.

Temporary hospitality licences were also provided 
during peak times, such as Rottnest Carnivale, to ensure 
sufficient food and beverage outlets were available.

General services
In a considerable boost to visitor experience, free WiFi is 
now available across the Island.

RIA conducts yearly maintenance and improvements 
on accommodations, with 2016/17 enhancements 
including:

• roof remediation and electrical upgrades in Bathurst 
and North Thomson units

• addition of outdoor seating on balconies at Geordie 
Bay, Longreach and South Thomson front row units

• replacement of beds and mattresses in principal 
bedroom of all serviced accommodation units

• replacement of curtains and blinds in 36 Longreach 
and Fays Bay units

• introduction of doonas to replace blankets in all 
serviced accommodation

• upgrade of 12 accommodation units located at the 
front row of Longreach to ‘Ocean View’ category. 
This included upgrades to lighting, bathrooms and 
furnishings in addition to interior painting.

• new bunk beds and mattresses were installed in the 
dormitories at Kingstown Barracks

• flyscreen doors and extra shelving were installed in 
the 28 cabins at Caroline Thomson

• interior painting was completed in 12 South 
Thomson units and two Bathurst Heritage cottages

• replacement of damaged blinds in heritage 
bungalows.
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Transport to the Island
Figure 8: Method of travel to the Island

Ferries
Departing from Hillarys, Perth and Fremantle, ferries 
remain the usual method of travel to the Island with 
426,034 visitors arriving by this method in 2016/17.

Outside of the periods of highest demand, RIA now 
offers ferry inclusive package deals which have grown in 
popularity and increased the affordability of a holiday on 
the Island.

RIA also provides special pricing for travel to  
events such as Rottnest Carnivale to encourage  
visitor numbers.

Both ferry companies also provided discounted 
travel in association with RIA’s February and winter 
accommodation deals.

Private boats and moorings
Rottnest Island is a favourite destination for the WA 
boating community.

In 2016/17, the ‘Authorised Users’ sharing system 
increased the availability of moorings on the Island to 
1,579. However, demand continues to outstrip supply 
with a mooring waitlist of 461 remaining at the end of 
the year. Admissions for the year totalled 1,212.

RIA conducted a boating survey, which indicated an 
increased level of satisfaction from mooring users as a 
result of ongoing improvements to key boating access 
points.

Aircraft
There are three aircraft providers servicing the Island, 
with regular scheduled flights to the Island every hour 
during daylight hours, from Jandakot Airport, Mandurah. 
Helicopter rides also depart from Hillarys Boat Harbour 
on weekends. RIA ran social media promotions of all 
three providers throughout the year. Air travel to the 
Island remained stable during the year.

Transport on the Island
Bus
Bus services are the mainstay transport on the 
Island and were expanded this year to include the 
Island Explorer ‘hop on, hop off’ bus service, as well 
as tours operated by ADAMS Marine and Rottnest 
Express. Visitors needing to reach Geordie and 
Kingstown accommodation areas were able to use the 
complimentary shuttle bus from the Settlement.

The Island bus network continues to receive upgrades 
yearly, with 2016/17 enhancements including additional 
bus stops and an expanded service to the remote West 
End and Cathedral Rocks.

Segways
Established in 2013, Segway Tours offer visitors an 
alternative and engaging way of discovering the Island’s 
hidden treasures. Visitors have the option of 60, 90 or 
25 minute tours which include radio communication 
and commentary from the guide. Training and helmets 
are provided to all clients.

The tours include:

• Fortress Adventure, covering the military heritage of 
Rottnest Island and its pivotal role in the defence of 
Fremantle Harbour, including Bickley Battery guns 
and Jubilee lookout

• Settlement Explorer, covering the Thomson Bay 
Settlement area, and offering invaluable insights into 
the engaging and controversial history of the Island

• Experience Zone, offering thrills and challenges on 
an off-road slalom course.

A total of 2,529 visitors took a Segway Tour in 2016/17.
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Train
The railway on Rottnest was originally built during World 
War II to service the two sets of 9.2 inch guns placed 
on the Island to defend Fremantle Port. In 1990, the 
guns and railway were reconstructed as a historical 
monument and tourist attraction.

The current rail infrastructure includes 9.5kms of single 
narrow-gauge track, railway stations at the Settlement, 
Kingstown and Oliver Hill. The railway operates a single 
diesel hydraulic railcar named ‘Captain Hussey’, with 
seating for 64 passengers.

A total of 12,602 passengers rode Captain Hussey in 
2016/17, which is a marked increase of 26.7 percent 
from last financial year.

This could partly be attributed to the additional train trip 
that was added as part of the new ADAMS Marine Grand 
Island Tour.

Feet and pedal
Of course, most visitors traverse the Island on foot or by 
bicycle. Refer to ‘Recreational services’ for statistics on 
bicycle hire and ‘Recreational infrastructure’ on page 32 
for details on the new walk trails available to visitors.

Recreational services
Aligned with 
Rottnest Island 
Management Plan 
policy no.

1

5

Improved visitor 
experiences
Financial sustainability

Rottnest Island has an abundance of recreational 
facilities and equipment services. Recreational 
facilities include playgrounds at Heritage Common and 
Longreach bay and three sets of tennis courts near the 
Settlement, as well as the Picture Hall and Rottnest 
Island museum. Visitors were also able to take part in 
Archery Tag this year and join the fun at the Thomsons 
Bay Aqua Park during the summer months.

Pedal and Flipper
RIA operates the Pedal and Flipper Hire business on 
the Island which is the largest bike hire operation in 
Australia. The business also offers integral recreational 
equipment such as surfboards, trailers, kiddie carriers, 
golf clubs, sports equipment, snorkelling and fishing 
gear.

The business added 338 new bikes to its inventory 
this year, as well as specialised equipment and 10 new 
gophers for visitors requiring mobility assistance.  
The addition of a further 10 electric bikes brings the 
total electric fleet to 30.

Bikes and recreational items were in demand again 
in 2016/17, with around 88,000 bikes and over  
8,500 snorkel sets and other recreational items hired  
to individuals and groups.
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The business also successfully commissioned a new 
web based inventory management system which 
enables improved management of the fleet as a result of 
the scanning in and out of individual bikes. Customers 
are able to register using in store iPads and an improved 
online booking facility will follow in the coming year.

Visitors also do not have to foot a large bond, with the 
swipe system enabling card details to be stored, again 
reducing wait times when logging and returning bonds 
to customers.

Skydives and joy-flights
Thrill-seekers visiting Rottnest Island can opt to skydive 
above the breathtaking natural landscapes or take a 
scenic joy-flight across the Island. 

Skydive Geronimo took its first paying customer in 
January 2016 and visitor awareness has steadily risen 
ever since. The operation offered heli-skydives for the 
first time this year, in partnership with helicopter tour 
specialist Corsaire Aviation. Participants were lifted 
10,000 feet into the skies before being released to free 
fall and parachute to a beach landing where friends 
and family waited. A total of 854 visitors took a tandem 
skydive in 2016/17.

Run by Rottnest Air Taxi, uptake of joy-flights was slower 
than in previous years, with 595 total flights taken in 
2016/17. The reduction could be attributable to the 
tightening fiscal environment. To offset this, an online 
booking system was established that could be accessed 
from the screens in the Visitors Centre. The company 
website and promotional brochures were also refreshed, 
and a social media campaign was conducted with 
marginal success.

In a first for Rottnest Island in many years, the 
Aerodome rectified all Civil Aviation Safety Authority 
related issues at the airport this year, and now has no 
outstanding safety concerns.
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Landmark 
initiative 1: 

Wadjemup Bidi 
Walk Trail
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Recreational infrastructure

Aligned with 
Rottnest Island 
Management Plan 
policy no.

1

2

3

Improved visitor 
experiences
Conservation and improved 
access to cultural heritage
Protection of the unique 
environment

Since works commenced in 2013/14, the Wadjemup 
Bidi Walk Trail marks a major tourism and conservation 
success that has greatly enhanced the Rottnest Island 
visitor experience.

The trail network is nearing completion with an 
additional 4km of new trail opened to the public on 
the Karlinyah Bidi section in 2016/17. This addition 
extends the overall trail network to an impressive 35km. 
Upgrading suitable informal access tracks, and creating 
carefully designed new trails, the trail network controls 
and manages visitor access by connecting visitor’s 
to Rottnest Island’s beautiful natural, cultural and 
historical landscapes in an environmentally sustainable 
manner. Extensive rehabilitation and closure of other 
unsustainable informal tracks also forms an important 
aspect of this project.

In 2016/17, primary signage was installed at trail nodes 
and intersections, displaying wayfinding information 
and descriptions of the adjoining trail. Interpretive 
signage was added to highlight areas of interest along 
the trail. These include audio stations relaying cultural 
stories by Whadjuk traditional owners, and a Mamong 
Djoorots (Whale Tracks) sculpture by Aboriginal artist 
Peter Farmer at Strickland Bay.

Recreational site improvements were completed at 
several sites connected to the trail, including Catherine 
Bay, Stark Bay, Armstrong Point and Little Armstrong 
Bay. Other associated works included new bus stop 
shelters at Strickland Bay, Stark Bay and City of York 
Bay, providing visitor’s protection from the elements. 
A major trailhead sign designed by an award-winning 
design, development and fabrication consultancy, and 
illustrated by Sandy and Aurora Abraham, was erected 
in the Settlement Mall (pictured right), providing visitors 
with central access to Wadjemup Bidi information.

We are forever grateful for the input of Island  
volunteers, with volunteers contributing 3,816 hours 
of labour to assist with the trail maintenance and 
revegetation programs.

Construction of the next trail section ‘Ngank Wen Bidi’, is 
continuing under the successful Tourism Demand Driver 
Infrastructure grant, in partnership with the Rottnest 
Foundation. The completion of this section will include 
updated access to Rocky and Marjorie bays, reducing 
the risk to visitors seeking to access these areas and 
provide the boating community access to the Wadjemup 
Bidi, bus transport and Island facilities.
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Table 4 indicates the growth of the trail and the construction of associated amenities since works were commenced  
in 2013/14.

Table 4: Cumulative construction of Wadjemup Bidi trail

Aspects 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17

Length of trail 14.15km 26.3km 31km 34.3km

Directional markers 31 85 104 148

Bench seats 4 13 17 19

Interpretative signs 9 25 37 52

Composite structures 5 7 8 10

Bike racks 5 6 12 19

Shade shelters - - 2 2

Figure 9: Sections of the Wadjemup Bidi trail Gabbi Karniny Bidi
9.7 km

Karlinyah Bidi
5.9 km

Linking
Trail

Linking
Trail

Linking
Trail

Linking
Trail

Ngank Yira Bidi
9.4 km

Wardan Nara Bidi
10 km

Ngank Wen Bidi
7.6 km

coming soon
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Event experiences
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Each year RIA facilitates a busy events and functions 
program. In 2016/17, over 100 events, including an 
increasing number of weddings, attracted almost  
70,000 visitors to the Island.

Our larger recreational and holiday events are 
captured below. For cultural, historical, ecological and 
conservation events refer to page 45.

Rottnest Carnivale
The inaugural Rottnest Carnivale was held in spring 
2014, and has now become an important annual event 
on the RIA calendar. Rottnest Carnivale offers visitors 
a full day of festival activities. The event performs an 
important ‘season-opener’ function, re-affirming the 
Island as an essential destination during the warmer 
months when the natural beauty of Rottnest Island is on 
full display. 

Targeting families with young children, the ‘Carnivale’ 
theme supports the mission of Telethon, our core 
charity, and is now established with both Island 
businesses and the general public.

Held on 29 October 2016, this year’s event drew over 
6,700 visitors to the Island, with RIA accommodation  
at maximum occupancy across that weekend.  
This was an excellent attendance rate based on the 
8,300 prospective attendees who clicked ‘interested’ on 
the event’s Facebook page. 70 percent of visitors were 
noted as ‘families’, with approximately 3,000 children in 
attendance on the day.

Feedback from surveyed attendees was  
extremely positive:

• 75 percent would attend the event again in 2017
• 45 percent would visit Rottnest Island again in the 

next 12 months
• 55 percent of visitors had not been to the Island in 

over two years
• 15 percent of visitors had never been to the Island.

Annual visitation numbers have steadily increased since 
the introduction of Rottnest Carnivale, suggesting the 
event provides important momentum at the start of the 
peak season.
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Sporting events
Competitive sporting events are now marquee items 
on the Rottnest Island events calendar. This year’s 
events included the Port to Pub, Swim Thru Rottnest 
and Goodlife Rottnest Running Festival, which draw high 
participation. Other events are highlighted below.

Channel Swim
This year marked the 27th Annual Rottnest Channel 
Swim, a 19.7km open water event which is highly 
regarded in the WA sporting calendar. Begun as a 
means of providing WA swimmers with an opportunity 
to complete longer distances in open water, the event 
attracts one of the highest visitation days for  
Rottnest Island.

This year’s event was held on 25 February 2017 and 
totalled 2,457 competitors. Roughly 10,000 visitors 
headed to the Island on the day.

Alongside the Rottnest Channel Swim Association, RIA 
are major sponsors of the event, estimated to generate 
$30 million toward the local economy. This year a 
total of $375,244 was raised by participants through 
Everyday Hero and beneficiaries of the Swim included 
Fremantle Volunteer Sea Rescue, Leeuwin Ocean 
Adventure Foundation, Starlight Children’s Foundation, 
and Wheelchair Sports WA.

The Swim event again included a Virtual Rottnest 
Channel Swim (VRCS) which is held in swimming pools 
across the State.

Swim Run Rottnest [new]
Swim Run is an endurance event of the toughest kind 
with participants transitioning between ocean and land 
paths to complete the event. Participants compete in 
a team of two, with both expected to carry all required 
items with them for the duration of the event. The event 
began approximately a decade ago in Sweden and has 
since expanded through parts of Europe.

Swim Run WA brought the event to Rottnest Island 
for the first time on 1 April 2017, with 100 competitors 
participating. Based on the exceptional feedback from 
competitors and organisers, RIA plans to make the event 
bigger and better in 2018 with assistance from the RICC.

Sufferfest
Running since 2015, Sufferfest is a weekend of 
triathlons, involving swimming, running and cycling  
legs of varying lengths, depending on the age and class 
of competitors across both days. This year’s event was 
held on 5 and 6 November 2016 and drew  
600 participants. Competitors and organisers provided 
positive feedback, and RIA aims to increase the number 
of competitors next year.

New Year’s Eve Fireworks
Rottnest Island began hosting New Year’s Eve (NYE) 
festivities in 2015, providing a family atmosphere 
amidst the Island surrounds. Children’s activities and 
entertainment draw the crowd, with fireworks scheduled 
at 9pm. To assist with travel, additional ferries with 
later return times are provided. This allows families to 
enjoy venues around the Island that host New Year’s Eve 
parties, such as Karma and Hotel Rottnest.

12,000 people attended the event this year.

FringeWorld [new]
The RICC initiated the inclusion of Fringe World on the 
Island for the first time in 2017. Fringe World runs for a 
month from the end of January to the end of February. 
Rottnest Island’s segment in the program was titled 
‘Fringe Island’ on the weekend of 4 and 5 February 2017.

Attendees of Fringe Island were treated to three acts 
across the two nights, all hosted in the Picture Hall. 
Approximately 1,500 people attended the weekend and 
feedback from attendees was positive.
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Tours
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experiences
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Island tours
In their gold and blue uniform, the Rottnest Voluntary 
Guides Association (RVGA) are synonymous with a 
holiday to the Island. The RVGA run an extensive range 
of daily tours, as well as special request group tours, and 
an engaging School Holiday program. A rotational ‘meet 
and greet’ guide is also based at the Visitor Centre as a 
first point of contact to assist visitors and enhance their 
experience of the Island.

During the past year, these knowledgeable and 
dedicated ambassadors for the Island delivered a range 
of tour-based activities, including:

• provision of 19 options for history, environment 
and cultural tours, such as the Oliver Hill Guns, 
Wadjemup Lighthouse and museum, Lomas Cottage 
and the Boatshed

• conducted 7,300 daily tours for over 60,000 visitors
• conducted 36 tours per week during School Holidays, 

totalling 5,409 visitors during these periods.

New tours were also added to the schedule in 2016/17, 
including Paul’s Eco E-Bike Tour.

RIA provides support for RVGA to operate on the Island 
on an ongoing basis. Refer to ‘Rottnest Voluntary 
Guides Association’ on page 59 for more details on the 
establishment and mission of the RVGA.

Marine tours
Exploring Rottnest Island’s wonderful coastline was 
popular again this year. The Eco Express offers visitors 
passage around the Island’s secluded bays and idyllic 
beaches, and the opportunity to view rarely seen wildlife 
and marine life, backed by entertaining commentary 
from knowledgeable guides.

An ‘Underwater Rottnest’ tour also provided visitors 
with the opportunity to immerse themselves in the 
Island’s unique marine environment where colourful fish 
and other wonders abound. 

Marketing
Aligned with 
Rottnest Island 
Management Plan 
policy no.

1

5

Improved visitor 
experiences
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Destination marketing is an essential ingredient of the 
Agency’s long-term vision to make Rottnest Island 
an internationally recognised, sustainable, must-visit 
tourism destination. On the back of long and short-
term marketing campaigns, visitor numbers have now 
steadily increased for a number of years, with this year 
outstripping last year’s total visitor figure by close to 
40,000 people.

The marketing drive focuses on two aspects:

• filling occupancy gaps in accommodation
• generating and increasing visitation.

Each campaign aims to keep Rottnest Island top of 
mind, improve brand equity, and increase visitation 
year-long, including promoting short stays during 
off-peak seasons. Marketing effectively delivers the 
outcomes for the various events held on the Island.

Outcomes from our marketing channels are  
detailed below.

Website presence
The Agency has three subsidiary websites which are 
accessible through the URL rottnestisland.com.  
The three distinct sites direct users to specific RIA 
functions, increasing ease of access to key information 
and enhancing the overall user experience.

RIA actively manages its search engine optimisation 
through the ‘Always On’ campaign which has the 
primary objective of increasing traffic to the Destination 
and Wildlife websites. This approach captures google 
users searching for Perth attractions, upcoming local 
events, family holiday destinations, or places to host 
corporate functions/events or weddings.
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Destination website
RIA’s Destination website enables users to quickly 
access the Island’s holiday and recreational services, 
and to book accommodation.

In October 2016, new ‘Plan Your Stay’ functionality 
was added to the website which allows visitors to 
plan their entire holiday on Rottnest Island. The 
feature increases convenience and improves the user 
experience, prompting users to book accommodation, 
bikes and tours. The feature also enables RIA to 
encourage membership of the online community, and 
increase useable membership data for future marketing 
campaigns.

The website had over 1.1 million hits in 2016/17, with 
39 percent of users being return visitors to the site, 
indicating a high level of repeat interest in the Island, 
with significant growth of new users. User retention was 
high, with an average session duration of 3.3 minutes.

Corporate website
The Agency’s Corporate website provides users with 
all essential information about RIA’s operations and 
services, including access to strategic planning for the 
Island and policies, processes and guidelines related 
to development applications, business proposals and 
other approvals.

In 2016/17, the website had 42,634 hits, with 76 percent 
of users being new visitors. Users averaged two-page 
views per visit, with an average session duration of just 
over one minute, suggesting information was easy  
to find.

Wildlife website
The Wildlife website was a new addition in 2016/17.  
It is aimed at primary and secondary school students 
to educate them about the Island’s unique species of 
flora and fauna, and their natural habitats. The website 
presents information in a fun and simple way, providing 
an engaging user-friendly experience.

International visitors are a secondary target audience, 
with research indicating travellers are attracted to 
Rottnest for its natural environment and wildlife. The 
website will educate younger generations about how 
to interact with wildlife (including quokkas when trying 
to capture the perfect selfie) and serve as an avenue 
for RIA to promote and engage visitors in sustainable 
practices and other initiatives.

In the long term, the Wildlife website will help broaden 
perceptions of the Island as a holiday destination that is 
also a Class A Reserve worth protecting.

Engagement with this website is still building with over 
14,000 website hits since it was launched in October 
2016. The average session duration is healthy at just 
over two minutes, suggesting users find the information 
useful and engaging.

The Wildlife website 
was a new  

addition in 2016/17
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Social media
Our Destination Marketing team uses a wide range 
of social media platforms to encourage the WA 
community’s engagement with the Island and its 
businesses, and raise awareness about, and support 
for, current events and initiatives. Table 5 captures our 
social media imprint for 2016/17 and highlights the high 
level of interest in Rottnest Island. 

Campaign-specific hashtags drive user engagement, 
and RIA otherwise adjusts its use of these platforms in 
line with trends. RIA also promoted Wildlife Wednesday 
via social media in 2016/17 in order to educate visitors 
about appropriate interactions with wildlife.

Table 5: Social media impact

Channel Year impact

Facebook
Fans – 88,000; 
260,000 were here

YouTube 3,000 video views

Twitter
7,000 followers; 
1,000 likes

Instagram @rottnestisland.com
44,000 followers; 
1,900 posts

Instagram @
rottnestconservationcommunity

384 followers;  
74 posts

Instagram @wadjemupbidi
239 followers;  
83 posts

Google+
22 followers;  
9,000 views

LinkedIn 320 followers

Television
Jumping on board with emerging culinary trends in 
Western Australia, Rottnest Island was featured as a 
seasoned sponsor in a new lifestyle and food 13-episode 
series for FreshTV between October 2016 and February 
2017, airing on Seven, GWN7, and nationally on 7TWO. 
The Island was the main feature in a 30-minute episode, 
with 1–3 minute appearances in all other episodes. This 
FreshTV showcase helped to promote Rottnest Island 
as a must-visit destination and encouraged positive 
perceptions of RIA’s sustainable practices.

Advertising
RIA uses print, radio, television and digital advertising 
for long and short-term marketing campaigns, 
raising awareness and interest in the Island, events, 
conservation efforts and other points of interest.

Significant non-peak campaigns included the:

• February to March ‘Destination 
Campaign’

 February to March coincides with the start of 
the school year and is not a time that Western 
Australians typically consider holidays, and as 
such occupancy and day visits to the Island reduce 
substantially. This campaign and the accompanying 
accommodation offers highlighted late summer as 
one of the most spectacular times to visit the Island.

• May to September ‘Winter Campaign’
 Visitor numbers decline during the winter months, 

despite the largely pleasant weather on the Island. 
Consequently, RIA actively stimulates visitation 
through the promotion of all the Island has to offer 
during this period, including recent developments 
such as the Wadjemup Bidi Walk Trail, given it is an 
ideal time to trek.

 Visitor numbers were notably higher during these 
months, with a comparative increase of 23.4 percent 
in July 2016 and 8.4 percent in August 2016.

Advertising expenditure is disclosed on page 73 in 
Section 4: Disclosures and legal compliance.

WA Tourism Awards
RIA collected a highly coveted WA Tourism Award within 
the financial year, winning Silver in Category 1: Major 
Attractions for its submission in 2016. The Agency also 
received a Silver Award for its marketing efforts and a 
Silver Award for the New Year’s Eve Fireworks event.

These awards recognise all of the work RIA has done 
to promote Rottnest Island as the premier Western 
Australian destination for the WA community, as well as 
interstate and international visitors.
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Service 2: Natural environment and cultural heritage management
Overview
The allure of Rottnest Island is intricately linked to 
its unique combination of natural beauty, history and 
cultural heritage. Subsequently, the conservation and 
management of the Island’s natural environment and 
heritage is increasingly balanced against the need to 
leverage these elements to grow visitor numbers.

To ensure this balance is observed correctly, all major 
projects on the Island are conducted in accordance with 
RIA’s ISO standard Environmental Management System. 
In 2016/17, RIA reviewed the Island’s Environmental 
Risk Register and updated risks and controls for various 
activities and Island businesses.

Research
Research studies underpin RIA’s conservation of 
Rottnest Island’s natural environments. For details 
of research studies commenced and completed in 
2016/17, refer to page 63.

Reserve management
Aligned with 
Rottnest Island 
Management Plan 
policy no.

3
Protection of the unique 
environment

Overview
RIA’s Park Services has marine and terrestrial based 
operations, and supports incident response on  
the Island.

The Park Services deliver educational and compliance-
based activities relating to marine visitation and 
mooring use, as well as wildlife management  
and interactions.

In 2016/17, RIA Rangers conducted on-water patrols, 
with an emphasis on the summer months, and during 
Island events. RIA’s Park Services also provided support 
to for other agencies whose remit overlaps with the 
Rottnest Island environs:

• Department of Transport navigation operations and 
signage, and

• Department of Fisheries management of sanctuary 
zones and recreational fishing activities.

RIA Rangers also attended 343 calls for assistance with 
wildlife management.

Terrestrial management
Through the continued implementation of the Terrestrial 
Conservation Action Plan (TCAP), RIA identifies the 
natural values of the Rottnest Island Terrestrial Reserve; 
determines current and desired health; considers 
threats; and identifies priority conservation actions 
which enable resources to be directed effectively. The 
TCAP aligns RIA’s terrestrial management with the 
Rottnest Island Management Plan 2014 - 2019 (RIMP).

In 2016/17 under the Plan, RIA:

• updated viability (health) indicators for the quokka 
target based on results of the three year Quokka 
Demographics and Genetic Research project

• completed viability surveys of focal conversation 
targets, including endemic flora, and woodland 
resilience

• completed surveys of long-term shorebird (including 
migratory birds) and bushbirds

• completed two seasons of reptile surveys (summer 
and autumn), including trapping and targeted 
searches

• implemented long-term frog monitoring
• continued development of Rottnest Island 

herbarium and flora species inventory
• undertook seed collection, seed treatment, 

maintenance of seed stores, and plant propagation 
with volunteers
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• implemented control of declared weeds in Reserve
• conducted Wildlife Interaction Information Sessions 

(refer to page 49), and implemented wildlife 
exclusion measures

• hosted a Quokka Symposium (refer to page 48).

Wadjemup Bidi Walk Trail
The Wadjemup Bidi Walk Trail is a key project which  
links conversation of the natural environment,  
with management of increased numbers of visitors.  
The trail was extended in 2016/17, with the extension 
of the Karlinyah Bidi section. Refer to page 32 for full 
details on this landmark project.

Marine management
RIA’s conservation and biodiversity management 
has evolved to a more adaptive, integrated approach 
since its Marine Management Strategy was released 
in 2007. In 2016/17, RIA commenced development of a 
Marine Conservation Action Plan (MCAP). The MCAP is 
being developed using the successful framework that 
was applied to the TCAP, ensuring alignment with the 
overarching RIMP.

In 2016/17, under the existing Strategy, RIA:

• developed a Seagrass Monitoring Program and 
MOU with Western Australian Divers for Diversity 
Incorporated

• conducted an initial reef viability assessment 
workshop with Reef Life Survey

• reviewed its sanctuary markers and upgraded these 
to a more visible and easily identifiable type, which is 
better suited to Rottnest Island waters.



Rottnest Island Authority | Annual Report 2016/17 

42 Contents |  About this report |  Agency in focus |  Report on operations |  Opportunities & challenges |  Disclosures & legal compliance |  Financial statements & key performance indicators

Conservation of built environs
Rottnest Island’s heritage-listed built environs 
have a long history from colonial times to military 
constructions undertaken in World War 2. The RIA’s 
identification, protection and maintenance of Aboriginal 
and European heritage is conducted according to 
appropriate legislation.

In 2016/17, RIA’s heritage team:

• undertook physical conservation projects which 
included works on the Bathurst Lighthouse 
Keepers Quarters; the Commander’s Residence in 
Kingstown; the 1890s dinghy in the Pilot Boathouse; 
and the perimeter wall of the historic Rottnest Hotel 

• completed physical inspections of roughly  
65 percent of all heritage places on the Island,  
with updated conservation strategies and  
schedules of work drafted for 50 percent of all 
heritage-listed places

• developed an extensive database of all heritage 
places on the Island

• commenced the compilation of Autocad drawings of 
all heritage places

• completed a conversation plan for Kingstown Barracks
• developed several conversation projects, the most 

notable involving the stabilisation and conversation 
of the Sea Wall; the Signal Station; and DID Shed

• reviewed unused and underused heritage assets 
with a view to identifying innovative ways to 
communicate the Island’s unique cultural heritage 
 to visitors

• developed a 2017/18 Aboriginal Heritage 
Management Plan.

Heritage and conservation
Aligned with 
Rottnest Island 
Management Plan 
policy no.

2
Conservation and improved 
access to cultural heritage

Beyond its array of stunning beaches and natural 
landscapes, Rottnest Island owes much of its 
uniqueness to the mix of Aboriginal, colonial, maritime 
and military influences.

Upkeep of the historical and heritage sites is an ongoing 
effort. To assist with the conservation and enhancement 
of its heritage assets, RIA commenced a review in 
2016/17 of possible funding sources for heritage and 
conservation projects.

RIA also recognises the cultural significance that 
Wadjemup holds for Aboriginal people. The Department 
of Aboriginal Affairs has listed 17 registered sites across 
Wadjemup which are culturally significant to Aboriginal 
peoples. These sites are protected under provisions of 
the Aboriginal Heritage Act 1972 and include Dreaming 
sites, archaeological sites, and the Burial Ground, which 
is currently the subject of a landmark reconciliation 
project. Refer to page 44 for more details.

Other initiatives follow.
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Case study: Remedial works on  
heritage buildings
In 2013, RIA commenced roof and electrical upgrade 
works on Rottnest Island. The majority of guest 
accommodation has now been completed in Longreach, 
Geordie, Fay’s, Kingstown, South Thomson, Bathurst, 
and North Thomson Bays.

Between July and September 2016 works commenced 
on nine heritage listed buildings on Vincent Way and the 
old school house on Kitson Street. These iconic buildings 
were constructed in the mid to late 1800’s and are 
among the finest colonial structures on Rottnest Island.

Preservation of the uniqueness of these heritage 
buildings was paramount. Significant research, planning 
and consultation was undertaken to ensure remedial 
works preserved the existing fabric of these buildings. 
Where possible replacement materials were matched to 
earlier materials used including galvanised short sheet 
corrugated steel roof sheeting, and where appropriate, 
spring nail fixings. A number of these buildings had 
existing but dilapidated wooden shingles; a unique 
engineering design was developed using wooden spaces 
under battens to ensure the shingles were retained and 
protected under the new roofs.

Planned roof and electrical remediation works were 
also completed in 2016/17 on 39 staff residences and 
six public structures including ablutions and beach 
shelters. Approximately two thirds of a $16m State 
government grant has been expended on these works 
to date. Works are expected to be completed by 2018, 
ensuring the integrity of electrical and roof structures 
on Rottnest Island for many years.

Conservation of artefacts of 
historical and cultural import
RIA continued to identify, protect and maintain heritage 
collections in accordance with accepted and recognised 
heritage industry principles and relevant legislation.

In 2016/17, cultural and archaeological initiatives 
involved:

• tagging 300 artefacts and images into the Rottnest 
Island collection database

• ongoing improvements to accessibility and archival 
storage of the Island art collection

• adding photographs to the collection from Bill 
Luke’s family taken in 1917 on Rottnest Island. These 
include rare photographs of the first Island Manager, 
Mr Paterson, and Aboriginal prisoners

• adding photos from the Craig Whiteside collection 
and the State Library Collection

• conducting and transcribing 13 oral history 
interviews, bringing the collection total to 105 overall

• discovery of quartz gastrolith (presumably derived 
from a large extinct bird), dated circa 25,000 years 
ago by visiting archaeologists.
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Landmark 
initiative 2: 

Wadjemup 
Aboriginal 
Burial Ground
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Aligned with 
Rottnest Island 
Management Plan 
policy no.

2

4

Conservation and improved 
access to cultural heritage
Professional relationship 
with stakeholders

Rottnest Island’s traditional Aboriginal name is 
Wadjemup, and its cultural landscape extends many 
thousands of years from the period pre-dating the 
separation of the Island from the mainland to the 
nineteenth and early twentieth centuries when 
the Island became synonymous with Aboriginal 
internment and forced labour. It is thought that 
most Aboriginal people in Western Australia have an 
ancestor who was imprisoned on Wadjemup, with 
some ten percent of the prisoners who died on the 
Island still buried there.

The conservation and acknowledgement of the 
Wadjemup Aboriginal Burial Ground (Burial Ground) 
is an important step in the healing process  
for the Western Australian Aboriginal people. 
 Phase 1 of the project was completed in 2015/16, 
with the construction of a perimeter path that 
gave visitors an obvious route around the Burial 
Ground. The work was completed by a team of 
young Whadjuk men, who had the opportunity to 
learn more about the history of the Island and their 
own culture as they developed construction and 
landscaping skills.

Supported by a $500,000 LotteryWest funding 
grant, the Rottnest Foundation is partnering with  
RIA and the Aboriginal community to deliver  
Phase 2 of the project. Planning was progressed in 
2016/17 to secure further support for the project, 
consult with the Wadjemup Aboriginal Reference 
Group, and finalise tender documentation for the 
works to commence in the new financial year. 
This phase will see the site transformed into a 
series of reflective spaces, including signage and 
other interpretative means to provide visitors with 
information about the Burial Ground, including who 
is buried there, how they came to be on Rottnest 
Island, and the impact their incarceration has had 
on their communities. The site will also incorporate 
links to other Aboriginal stories across the Island.

Subject to funding, Phase 3 of the project aims to 
develop a public art program to recognise country 
of the Aboriginal men and boys buried at the Burial 
Ground. With the Rottnest Foundation’s support, 
RIA is committed to providing social, cultural and 
economic opportunities for Aboriginal people as the 
project progresses.

Cultural, historical and 
eco-conservation events
Aligned with 
Rottnest Island 
Management Plan 
policy no.

1

2

4

Improved visitor 
experiences
Conservation and improved 
access to cultural heritage 
Professional relationship 
with stakeholders

RIA conducts a number of cultural, historical and 
conservation events to educate and engage visitors with 
the Island’s heritage assets.

In 2016/17, this included operating five displays and 
exhibitions on the Island:

• Early Settlers on Rottnest Island
• Geology and Pre-Island Artefacts
• George Lithgo: Life through the Lens – 1930s
• Some Things Never Change
• Capturing the Enemy

Our events are detailed on the following pages..
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Landmark 
initiative 3: 

Reconciliation 
Week Opening 
Ceremony
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Aligned with 
Rottnest Island 
Management Plan 
policy no.

2

4

Conservation and improved 
access to cultural heritage 
Professional relationship 
with stakeholders

The Opening Ceremony for Reconciliation Week was 
held on the Island for the first time on 27 May 2017.  
This was RIA’s inaugural National Reconciliation Week 
event. More than 200 people, including Aboriginal 
and non-Aboriginal community members, joined the 
Minister for Tourism, Citizenship and Multicultural 
Interests the Hon Paul Papalia CSC, MLA on Wadjemup 
to commemorate the occasion by reflecting on the past 
and looking to the future. 

Following a traditional Welcome to Country and 
Smoking Ceremony, guest speakers including 
Reconciliation WA Indigenous Co Chair Carol Innes and 
Wadjemup Aboriginal Reference Group member Lindsay 
Dean acknowledged the complex and tragic history of 
Rottnest Island as an Aboriginal prison.

After the formalities, guests were invited to participate 
in an Aboriginal Heritage Walk, guided by RIA’s 
Aboriginal Heritage Officer, who is also a Whadjuk 
Noongar man. There was also an Aboriginal Art 
Exhibition at the Salt Store showcasing local  
Noongar art.

The Opening Ceremony was a very important occasion 
and an opportunity for RIA to take the next steps 
towards reconciliation with the Aboriginal community.
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NAIDOC week activities
During NAIDOC Week, RIA ran a series of free school 
holiday workshops for children, including sand art, rock 
painting, storytelling, language classes, face painting, 
quokka mask painting, an Aboriginal heritage walk and a 
Koondarm Choir.

Roughly 500 people participated in the activities.

ANZAC day
Over 2,000 people joined the RIA and the Rottnest 
Island community to commemorate ANZAC Day this 
year. With a long military history, RIA takes great pride 
in coordinating the Dawn Service on Rottnest Island to 
honour those servicemen and women who died in war 
and on operational service. The service commenced 
with the playing of the Lament as the sun rose over 
the Indian Ocean. This was followed by a traditional 
Welcome to Country by a Whadjuk Noongar traditional 
owner. Guests were then taken through a moving 
service of reflection and personal recounts from  
former servicemen, including an Aboriginal war  
veteran and another who had completed his training  
on Rottnest Island.

Following the Dawn Service, a free ANZAC Day Gunfire 
Breakfast was provided by the Rottnest Voluntary 
Guides Association, as well as a morning of free ANZAC 
themed activities for kids. The RVGA also offered a 
number of Oliver Hill Gun and Tunnels tours during the 
day for Island visitors.

Quokka Symposium
In March 2017, RIA hosted the first Quokka Symposium 
to share the story of the quokka, its history, 
conservation status, recovery planning and highlight 
recent research and monitoring into the species on 
Rottnest and across South-West Western Australia.

The event also served to launch the ‘Chocolate Quokka’, 
which is a joint initiative between RIA, the Rottnest 
Foundation and the Margaret River Chocolate Factory. 
Funds from the sales of chocolate quokkas will ensure 
ongoing private sector funding for quokka conservation 
on Rottnest Island.

Around 80 people attended the Symposium and 
feedback from the event was extremely positive.

WA State Heritage  
and History Conference
RIA hosted a breakout day tour on Rottnest Island for 
delegates attending the WA State Heritage and History 
Conference 2017. The Conference explored some key 
questions concerning the links between history and 
heritage and the skills and knowledge required for the 
successful operation of local museums and Indigenous 
cultural tourism businesses.
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Wildlife Interaction  
Information Session
In collaboration with the Rottnest Volunteer Group 
Association (RVGA) and Rottnest Island Chamber 
of Commerce (RICC), RIA established the Wildlife 
Interaction Information Sessions. The sessions provide 
frequent and ongoing training of RIA, RVGA and RICC 
staff and members to appropriately manage their own 
interactions with wildlife, and better educate visitors to 
do the same.

This year’s session was delivered by the Rottnest 
Rangers in December 2016. Attendance was high, 
with 98 attendees from RVGA, Programmed Facilities 
Management, Adams, The Lane, and Geordie Bay Café. 
RIA received positive feedback following the session, 
with attendees finding the opportunity to ask questions 
about specific issues or concerns valuable. 

Secondary education
Over 4,500 students and 300 teachers from  
105 schools across Western Australia participated  
in curriculum-linked activities on Rottnest Island  
during the year.

An estimated 3,000 visitors have also participated in 
school holiday activity programs run by the Rottnest 
Island Volunteer Guides in collaboration with RIA.

Key developments in the school education program 
included a greater awareness of Rottnest Island cultural 
and environmental focuses, and further alignment of 
curriculum-linked activities with RIA strategic initiatives. 
The school education program also created a suite of 
self-guided activity kits.
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Sustainability

EarthCheck certification
Since 2011, RIA has been verifying its environmental 
and social performance through the internationally 
recognised EarthCheck Sustainability Certification 
Program (ESCP). 

The ESCP provides a strategic framework that guides 
RIA’s Sustainability Strategy. RIA uses a range of 
EarthCheck tools to record, benchmark and encourage 
sustainable business practices on Rottnest Island. The 
process of working towards the various certification 
criterion and maintaining benchmark Key Performance 
Indicators has provided motivation, improved business 
practices and measurement, as well as credibility 
through meeting external standards that are verified 
through a third-party audit.

The acquisition of EarthCheck Sustainability 
Certification was achieved again this year with 
the continuation of EarthCheck Silver Destination 
Certification. Efforts are underway to resolve some 
minor items that were noted during the  
certification process.

RIA prepared a Sustainability Destination Action Plan 
(SDAP) that provides for a suite of five, 10 and 20 year 
measurable sustainability objectives and targets across 
10 key performance areas. The SDAP’s overarching 
objectives are to: 

• produce zero net greenhouse gas emissions
• conduct procurement in line with net positive impact 

principles
• reduce reliance on non-renewable energy sources
• effectively manage all of our environmental risks
• reduce the draw on the Wadjemup aquifer by 2020, 

freeing the freshwater lens to deliver long-term 
ecological water requirements under climate change 
scenarios

• preserve and protect conservation values
• protect, promote and conserve cultural heritage 

values
• promote a healthy, low carbon lifestyle when visiting 

and working on Rottnest Island
• become a zero waste to landfill Island
• ensure all development on the Island is 

environmentally, socially and economically 
sustainable

• promote health, happiness and wellness in the 
community

• promote sustainable business practices. 

The SDAP will galvanise and steer the collective efforts 
of Rottnest Island’s sustainability performance in line 
with a shared suite of targets.
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Wastewater Treatment  
Plant Upgrade
Aligned with 
Rottnest Island 
Management Plan 
policy no.

3
Protection of the unique 
environment

Over a period of three years, RIA undertook the design 
and construction of an upgrade to the existing Waste 
Water Treatment Plant (WWTP) in order to improve 
the quality of reuse water produced by the plant and 
decrease the risk of environmental contamination.

The upgrade to the WWTP involved the conversion 
of the plant from an existing Cyclic Activated Sludge 
System technology to a modernised and highly 
efficient Membrane Bio Reactor (MBR) system. The 
MBR provides multiple protections against failures and 
exposure to the environment.

Conducted in 2016/17, these works required the 
construction of the complex new system while 
simultaneously maintaining the operation of the existing 
system over the peak occupation period on the Island. 
Through consultation with design experts, specialist 
contractors and regulators, the project was completed 
in May 2017 with no breaches of water quality or 
interruptions to the Island’s reticulated sewerage system.

The facility is now capable of producing approximately 
68 million litres of high quality reuse water that will be 
used to satisfy the entire irrigation requirements of the 
Island’s golf course and sports oval. This will greatly 
reduce potential impacts to the Island’s subsurface 
water catchment area and ensure sustainable water 
usage into the future.

Plastic Free July
Aligned with 
Rottnest Island 
Management Plan 
policy no.

3

4

Protection of the unique 
environment
Professional relationship 
with stakeholders

As single-use plastic is designed to last forever, it 
becomes an instant environmental hazard when used 
in disposable items that are consumed and discarded 
in minutes. Led by RIA, Rottnest Island participated 
in Plastic Free July for the first time in 2016. Over 
the course of the month through various marketing 
and on-site efforts, the Agency encouraged visitors, 
residents and businesses to accept the Plastic Free July 
Challenge: Reduce the consumption of all single-use 
plastic across the Island. 

All businesses participated in the rolling targets 
across the month. There was an overall ban on plastic 
straws for the entire month whilst week one achieved 
a reduction in the consumption of plastic bags, before 
shifting to bottles, cups and containers for the following 
three weeks.

By sourcing feedback from participants, RIA aims to 
improve the delivery of this initiative each year.
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Landmark 
initiative 4: 

Renewable 
energy
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Aligned with 
Rottnest Island 
Management Plan 
policy no.

3

4

Protection of the unique 
environment
Professional relationship 
with stakeholders

Rottnest Island does not receive power from the 
mainland, requiring all Island utilities to be powered by 
an off-grid power system. Traditionally this has been 
exclusively serviced by diesel-powered generators, 
which comes with the cost of shipping diesel to the 
Island, as well as the impact on the natural environment.

Renewable energy is now a viable solution. Over the 
past 12 months, RIA has been busy improving the 
existing renewable power system and further reducing 
the use of conventional diesel-powered generators, with 
installations completed by May 2017.

The installation of a solar farm producing 600KW of 
solar energy and upgrades to existing infrastructure 
at the Power House, Wind Turbine and Desalinisation 
Plant has all lead to a large-scale reduction in diesel 
consumption. A new advanced control system 
now links this infrastructure with a unique demand 
side management system allowing the Island to 
use desalinated water as a form of energy storage, 
strengthening the relationship between energy and 
potable water production. 

The Rottnest Island Authority partnered with Hydro 
Tasmania to complete this project, with a large portion 
of the funding provided by the Australian Renewable 
Energy Agency (ARENA), as part of their Community 
and Regional Renewable Energy Program.

RIA expects to increase renewable energy on the 
Island from 30 percent to 45 percent of total energy 
production as a result of these works, offsetting an 
additional $225,000 per year in diesel costs.  
Table 6 highlights the rapid shift in energy production  
on the Island.

Table 6: Energy consumption since installation

2017 Diesel Solar Wind Renewable Kw/Litre Lit. Diesel used

Feb 83% 0 17% 17% 3.49 83,233

Mar 73% 0 27% 27% 3.57 83,169

Apr 61% 18% 21% 39% 3.69 73,830

May 66% 13% 21% 34% 3.65 77,234

Jun 57% 17% 26% 43% 3.68 60,662

RIA will monitor project assumptions across the next 
three years, with the following stages including the 
roll out of a mobile phone systems app, and the final 
integration of the desalination plant into the demand 
side management system.
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New developments

Aligned with 
Rottnest Island 
Management Plan 
policy no.

1

3

4

5

Improved visitor 
experiences
Protection of the unique 
environment 
Professional relationship 
with stakeholders
Financial sustainability

Under the key objective of increasing tourism 
to Rottnest Island, RIA considers development 
applications and business proposals that aim to 
enhance the visitor experience, whilst meeting 
environmental, cultural and heritage conservation 
requirements.

Development applications are considered against the 
Rottnest Island Authority Act 1987 and the Rottnest 
Island Regulations 1988, as well as consistency with the 
20-year Rottnest Island Master Plan and Rottnest Island 
Management Plan 2014 – 2019.

The review of applications and proposals is conducted 
by RIA’s Development Assessment Team (DAT) who 
firstly determine whether an application is considered 
‘standard’ or ‘substantial’, before processing the 
applications in accordance with development 
planning policies and guidelines. The DAT consists of 
professionals with expertise in built heritage, aboriginal 
heritage, environmental, infrastructure, development 
planning, governance, commercial operations and 
tourism. 

Untitled-2   1 31/07/2017   1:01:51 PM

RIA considered eight applications for new developments 
in 2016/17. This included minor infrastructure and 
facilities upgrades at various sites on the Island. A larger 
proposal to develop a ‘glamping’ accommodation site 
at Pinky’s Beach was also considered. As the proposal 
was deemed substantial due to the combination of 
environmental and commercial considerations, public 
consultation will be sort in the new financial year.

A further 12 business proposals were also reviewed 
during the year, with the most notable approval being 
granted to a new ferry transport service, bringing the 
total number of ferry providers servicing the Island  
to three.

RIA considers 
development 
applications 

and business 
proposals that aim 

to enhance the 
visitor experience 

whilst meeting 
environmental, 

cultural and heritage 
conservation 
requirements 
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Section 3:

Opportunities  
and challenges

» Visitor safety is paramount on 

Rottnest Island 

See page 58 for more
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Forward focus

Ageing infrastructure
Ageing infrastructure continues to present significant 
challenges for the Rottnest Island Authority 
(RIA). However, improved asset management 
and maintenance will assist administration of key 
infrastructure moving forward.

Private investment
Consistent with the Rottnest Island Management Plan 
2014 – 2019 (RIMP), increased visitor services and 
offerings, including accommodation, remains a priority.

Development proposals for ecotourism and an 
extension of leasing arrangements for Hotel Rottnest 
will be considered in the next financial year.

Department of Biodiversity, 
Conservation and Attractions
Rottnest Island Authority amalgamated with the 
new Department of Biodiversity, Conservation and 
Attractions, effective 1 July 2017.

Forward planning commenced within the financial  
year to ensure the transition had minimal disruption 
on day-to-day operations and services for visitors to 
Rottnest Island.

Moving forward, there will be a strong emphasis on 
consolidating Western Australia’s natural attractions 
as key tourism assets, and creating opportunities for 
environmentally sustainable private sector investment 
and partnerships.

Among other benefits, the amalgamation will 
consolidate conservation science under one 
department, enhancing knowledge sharing between  
the experts charged with conserving the  
State’s biodiversity.

Response to challenges

Visitor safety
Through stringent risk management planning and 
continual monitoring, RIA ensures visitor safety 
across all aspects of the Island’s natural environment, 
infrastructure, facilities and services.

Following the partial collapse of two ceilings during 
stormy weather in early 2017, RIA investigated the 
structural integrity of all ceilings. Response to issues 
noted in the inspections was swift, with ceiling 
replacements completed on a total of 22 units within 
nine days. RIA’s risk register has been updated 
accordingly and impact on visitors was minimal during 
the maintenance period.

Free roaming quokkas
Reports of an escaped quokka lit up Perth media at 
the start of the year. It was suspected the quokka had 
climbed into a garbage bin in search of food, from where 
it was accidentally transferred to the garbage barge on 
route to Cannington.

Efforts to track down the escapee, dubbed ‘Steve’, led 
to a collaboration with the Department of Parks and 
Wildlife, and the establishment of a public hotline to 
report sightings. To date, Steve remains at large on  
the mainland.
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The episode highlights the importance of quokka 
conservation efforts. Quokkas are Rottnest Island’s 
undisputed mascot, with up to 10,000 individuals 
inhabiting the Island. RIA has taken a number of steps to 
protect the animals and their habitat, including studying 
the practicality of relocating quokkas to other parts 
of the Island. For a summary of quokka conservation 
research refer to page 64.

In another recent education and conservation initiative, 
RIA has initiated ‘Adopt a Quokka’. This fun initiative 
raises money for the conservation of the quokka and the 
Island’s heritage sites. To date 200 quokkas have been 
‘adopted’, raising $200 toward conservation efforts 
since the introduction of the scheme.

Listed as a vulnerable species, efforts to protect the 
Island’s native inhabitant have been supported by the 
RSPCA and the courts, with recent instances of cruelty 
to quokkas being met with substantial fines.

Delivery of essential 
services

Visitor information
The Visitor Centre is a focal point for new arrivals to the 
Island, which can be several hundred strong when a full 
ferry docks at the Main Jetty. It caters for check-ins, 
tour bookings and general information.

Understanding first impressions last, RIA made a 
number of improvements to the Visitor Centre, including 
the addition of an ATM and the installation of self-
service ticket kiosks to substantially reduce wait times. 
Other improvements included the introduction of a wide 
range of branded gifts and souvenirs.

Facilities management
Through the primary goal of establishing Rottnest  
Island as one of WA’s premier holiday destinations, 
RIA is charged with protecting its natural (flora and 
fauna) and heritage assets. Due to the extent of these 
assets and the accompanying holiday and recreational 
services, maintenance of facilities and utilities is a  
comprehensive task.

In 2014, Programmed Facility Management (PFM) 
was successful in securing the Facilities, Utilities and 
Support Services (FUSS) contract with RIA for five  
years with a possible extension for another 5 years. 
Under the contract, PFM are responsible for the  
ongoing repairs and maintenance of RIA’s assets on  
the Island and assist in the planning of asset upgrades 
and replacements.

Working in alignment with RIA objectives, PFM’s 
facilities management is wide-ranging, including estate 
management services, logistics and luggage (ferry and 
airport), power generation and distribution services, 
water services, airport management, fire emergency 
services, recycling and waste management.
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Emergency preparedness, 
prevention and response
Rottnest Island Local Emergency 
Committee
Emergency prevention, preparedness, response and 
recovery capability for the Island is coordinated through 
the Rottnest Island Local Emergency Committee (LEMC).

Meeting quarterly, the LEMC is comprised of members 
from RIA, WA Police, Department of Fire and Emergency 
Services, the Office of Emergency Management, 
Department for Child Protection and Family Support, 
Programmed Facilities Management, the Nursing Post, 
and ferry transport service providers Rottnest Express 
and Fast Ferries.

In 2016/17, the Committee systematically reviewed 
and endorsed the Rottnest Island Local Emergency 
Management arrangements.

Stage 1 of the planned upgrade to the fire hydrant 
main system (from Kingstown to the main Settlement) 
was completed within the financial year, ensuring 
pressurised water for firefighting purposes as required 
under Australian Standards.

Fire and emergency services
RIA coordinates emergency services in conjunction 
with the WA Police and the Department of Health. 
Fire and rescue response is provided by the Rottnest 
Island Private Fire Rescue Service (PFRS), a volunteer 
private fire brigade managed and led by the RIA Fire and 
Emergency Services Manager.

The PFRS brigade trains on a weekly basis, and this 
training includes the testing of Island emergency 
response plans and procedures. Facilitated training 
courses are also supported by the Department of Fire 
and Emergency Services (DFES) for key foundation 
skills relating to response activities.

A total of 10 formal training courses were conducted in 
2016/17. The PFRS also attended 46 DFES-logged calls 
for assistance.

Sea Rescue Fremantle
Sea Rescue Fremantle is a group of devoted boat 
enthusiasts who volunteer their time to manage a fleet 
of five rescue vessels and a 24-hour emergency radio 
service. The group works with the Water Police on all 
emergency situations, along with the Rottnest Island 
Authority Rangers, to manage boating emergencies in 
the waters surrounding the Island.

Rottnest Island Nursing Post
The Nursing Post is staffed by Fiona Stanley Hospital. 
The Nursing Post is staffed by two permanent 
registered nurses who reside on the Island, and a 
part-time administrative assistant, with a doctor being 
present during peak season and school holidays. This 
setup ensures Island visitors have access to a range 
of essential health services including emergency 
care, wound care, antenatal and postnatal care, 
pharmaceutical supplies, x-rays and more.

The Nursing Post provided a range of health services to 
an average of 270 visitors per month during 2016/17.
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Community engagement
RIA appreciates that the management of Island 
operations and services is a community effort.

Rottnest Island Chamber  
of Commerce
RIA works collaboratively with the Rottnest Island 
Chamber of Commerce (RICC) to enhance the 
visitor experience and increase visitor numbers 
in a sustainable manner. The RICC represents the 
commercial interests of the businesses that operate on 
or in connection with the Island, including the ferries, 
accommodation, entertainments, shops, cafés and 
restaurants, as well as the maintenance and supply 
services.

The RICC supports the responsible development of 
Rottnest Island in ways that preserve the pristine beauty 
and the cultural heritage of the Class A Reserve for 
generations to come.

Volunteer associations
The strong community appreciation of, and involvement 
with, the Island is exemplified by the large number of 
independent volunteer organisations that support RIA’s 
management of the Island. Over 35,000 hours were 
contributed by volunteers during 2016/17 to a range of 
tasks including dune rehabilitation, seed collection, tree 
planting, weeding, fauna monitoring, maintenance and 
construction works, and provision of interpretive and 
educational visitor tours.

Throughout the year RIA continued to coordinate 
several public volunteer events including Seawall 
Painting and Planting Days.

Rottnest Volunteer Guides Association
Inaugurated in 1986, the RVGA celebrated its  
30th anniversary this year. With over 350 active 
members, the RVGA continues to offer Island visitors 
memorable insights into the historical, environmental 
and cultural landscape of Rottnest Island. Guides 
conduct free daily tours covering the history of the 
Settlement, the quokka, World War II guns and tunnels, 
and Wadjemup lighthouse. Activities and tours increase 
during the school holiday periods, with the addition of 
tours such as bird and beach walks, treasure hunts, and 
mysteries and tall tales.

The RVGA has steadily grown in professionalism. The 
Maintaining Excellence Committee ensures the RVGA 
continues to provide quality, relevant information to 
Island visitors. In a boost to the ranks, 37 new Guides 
were inducted during the year.

On 11 May 2017, RIA co-hosted the Volunteer Networking 
Day with Rottnest Express in appreciation of the 
immense and integral support the RVGA provides to the 
management of the Island.

RVGA tour outcomes are reported under ‘Tours’ in 

Section 2: Report on operations on page 37.
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Rottnest Island Railway  
Advisory Committee
Since the early 1990s, the much-loved tourist train 
on Rottnest Island, the ‘Captain Hussey’, has owed 
its maintenance and operation to a small team of 
dedicated volunteers.

Once a very important military structure, the Rottnest 
Island railway was built in 1935 as part of the Island’s 
strategic defence of Australia during World War 2. The 
railway would not be operational today if not for the skill 
of the Railway Volunteers.

For several weeks a year, the conscientious and much 
valued Rottnest Island Railway Advisory Committee 
provides invaluable advice to RIA on the maintenance 
of the Captain Hussey train and railway track. The 
Committee assist with meeting audit targets and 
organising weekend track maintenance programmes.

In addition to these volunteer hours, Brookfield Rail and 
John Holland also make generous donations of skilled 
personnel and specialised equipment towards the 
maintenance of Rottnest Island’s train and railway.

Conservation Volunteers Australia  
(Green Army)
Conservation Volunteers Australia (CVA) have a long-
standing relationship with RIA. The group has had many 
successful programs over the years with tasks including 
tree planting, dune rehabilitation, seawall painting, 
maintenance of planting sites, beach litter clean ups, 
removal of old fencing and more recently the initiation 
of full time Green Army teams on the Island.

In 2016/17, CVA had ad hoc involvement with Indigenous 
traineeship groups who assisted on nursery volunteer 
days and seed collection during summer. 

Nursery Volunteers
The Rottnest Island Nursery has 10–15 active volunteers 
which complete work in the Nursery on a fortnightly 
basis, under supervision by RIA staff. This year Nursery 
volunteers assisted with:

• propagation of 30,000 tube stock for 2017  
winter plantings

• seed collection, cleaning, treatment and storage
• horticulture trials
• tree guard maintenance
• revegetation success monitoring
• maintenance of the nursery facility
• tree planting.



Rottnest Island Authority | Annual Report 2016/17 

61Contents |  About this report |  Agency in focus |  Report on operations |  Opportunities & challenges |  Disclosures & legal compliance |  Financial statements & key performance indicators

Rottnest Society
The Rottnest Society is an incorporated, not-for-profit 
group that formed in 1984. The Society recruits up to 
50 volunteers to plant trees and remove environmental 
weeds on Rottnest Island across four weekends 
every year. Over the years, the Society has planted 
tens of thousands of seedlings, assisted with dune 
rehabilitation works and helped keep weeds under 
control across the Island.

The 2016/17 working weekends were run in September, 
March, May and June.

Scouts WA
Scouts WA annually makes considerable contributions 
to the natural environment of Rottnest Island. In the 
past, large groups of Scouts and Venturers took part in 
an annual ‘Rottnest Invasion’, a two day litter collecting 
and environmental blitz.

With increased public awareness about appropriate 
rubbish disposal, the Scout groups now focus on 
environmental tasks such as tree planting, seed 
collection and dune rehabilitation.

In 2016/17, two groups of 60 Scouts carried out 
revegetation maintenance along the Wadjemup Bidi 
Walk Trail, and also completed weeding. Around  
50 Venture Scouts also volunteered for a full day.

Winnits
Established in 1930–31, the Winnit Club is the Island’s 
longest-standing volunteer organisation. The founding 
members initially came together for annual sailing and 
camping on the Island. However, they soon decided they 
wanted to give something back to their favourite Island, 
and over the years, almost all aspects of Rottnest Island 
have benefited from the efforts of the Winnits.

In 2016/17, the Winnits completed the  
following initiatives:

• assisted development of the Wadjemup Bidi from 
Ricey Beach through to Stark Bay

• installed picnic setting at City of York Bay
• carried out dune rehabilitation works at Little 

Armstrong Bay
• reoiled two staircases at Bathurst lighthouse
• pulled up several kilometres of old  

quokka-proof fencing.

Wadjemup Aboriginal  
Reference Group
In 2016/17, RIA established the Wadjemup Aboriginal 
Reference Group (WARG), comprised of a number of 
Aboriginal community leaders, including members from 
the Whadjuk traditional owner community. The WARG 
provides cultural guidance to RIA on the Burial Ground 
project and future planning for the Quod building, which 
is due to be returned to RIA custodianship in mid-2018.

The WARG has met twice since its commencement.

» The first meeting of the Wadjemup Aboriginal Reference 

Group was commemorated with a Welcome to Country 

and traditional smoking ceremony
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Rottnest Foundation
Established in 1985, the Rottnest Foundation is an 
independent not-for-profit organisation which sources 
the majority of grant and sponsorship funding for the 
Island. The Foundation aims to ‘conserve the essence of 
Rottnest’ by encouraging community involvement and 
raising funds to protect and enhance the Island’s unique 
environmental, cultural and historical assets. The 
Foundation Board holds representation from a variety of 
community and business leaders, many who have had 
considerable involvement with Rottnest Island.

To date, the Foundation has raised a remarkable $1.85m 
towards Island projects.

This funding has been integral to the successful 
implementation of a number of key projects, such as the 
Wadjemup Bidi Walk Trail, with $559,100 contributed 
by BHP, a major partner of the Rottnest Foundation, 
towards the construction of two sections of the Trail. In 
2016/17, Rottnest Foundation secured a Commonwealth 
grant through Tourism WA worth $210,000 to help build 
the Ngank Wen Bidi north (West End) section of the Trail.

With the assistance of Rottnest Express staff, the 
Foundation also planted 1,000 seedlings at Green Island 
bus stop this year. This area has been subject to wind 
erosion, causing sand to blow over the road posing a 
visitor risk. The plantings are helping to bed down the 
sand and have increased the aesthetics of the area.

Collaborations  
and partnerships

State
Government
RIA collaborates and partners with a range of State 
government agencies and departments in order 
to deliver essential services to Rottnest Island, 
and maintain effective management of the Island 
Reserve. This includes WA Police, Department of Fire 
and Emergency Services, the Office of Emergency 
Management, Department for Child Protection and 
Family Support, Department of Health, Fiona Stanley 
Hospital which operates the Nursing Post on the Island, 
and the Department of Water and Environmental 
Regulation.

RIA also works with the Department of Parks and 
Wildlife, Perth Zoo, Department of Aboriginal Affairs, 
Department of Fisheries, Department of Transport,  
and the Fremantle Port Authority. Volunteers from 
Fisheries also run fishing clinics on the Island.

Boating WA
Boating Western Australia is a not-for-profit association 
established to promote and develop safe, economic 
and enjoyable recreational boating throughout WA. The 
association provides a central body to represent the WA 
boating community on common matters of interest.

In 2017, Boating WA established regular meetings 
with the Rottnest CEO as part of a Memorandum of 
Understanding to investigate issues and facilities 
relating to marine visitation, mooring use and access, in 
order to make ‘Rottnest more enjoyable for boaters’.

The forum has already led to:

• nine new navigation markers around the Island
• 10 new free beach moorings (five each at Thomsons 

Bay and Geordie Bay)
• refurbishment of the Geordie Bay ablutions
• installation of quokka-proof doors around toilets.

Leeuwin Ocean Adventure Foundation
The Leeuwin II is a dedicated sail training ship based 
in Fremantle that usually anchors off Rottnest Island a 
few times a year. Crews and trainees come ashore to 
conduct beach clean ups during their visits.

Maritime Archaeological Association of WA
The Maritime Archaeological Association of WA visits 
Rottnest Island annually, with teams of scuba divers 
cleaning the underwater plaques of shipwrecks and 
snorkel trails to maintain their visibility for divers and 
snorkelers.

Margaret River Chocolate Company
In a joint arrangement with the Rottnest Foundation, RIA 
partnered with the Margaret River Chocolate Company 
in 2016/17 to create the ‘Chocolate Quokka’ to raise 
awareness and funds for quokka conservation research 
and initiatives.
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Rottnest Express and Rottnest Fast Ferries
Rottnest Express and Rottnest Fast Ferries run essential 
ferry operations on the Island, and assist RIA with 
feedback on facilities and operations.

Rottnest Express and Rottnest Fast Ferries donated 
over 4,000 ferry fares in support of volunteers during 
the year, and Rottnest Express co-hosted Volunteer 
Networking Day alongside RIA in May 2017.

West Australian Divers for Diversity Inc.
West Australian Divers for Diversity Inc. (WADDI) 
is a citizen science group that engages community 
volunteers in monitoring projects in Western Australia. 
RIA has a current Memorandum of Understanding with 
WADDI worth roughly $250,000 in value in order to 
monitor the marine environments and seagrass around 
Rottnest Island. RIA provides two staff members to 
assist as needed.

National
Birds Australia
Birds Australia is a national organisation working for 
the conservation and protection of Australia’s native 
birds and their habitats. Since 1998, Birds Australia has 
been conducting shorebird and bushbird surveys at 
Rottnest Island. The data collected is used to assist RIA 
in managing the Island’s terrestrial environment. 

Hydro Tasmania and Australian Renewable 
Energy Agency
Hydro Tasmania were lead partners in the Island’s 
renewable energy project with the help of funding 
provided by the Australian Renewable Energy Agency 
(ARENA), as part of their Community and Regional 
Renewable Energy Program.

Reef Life Survey
Reef Life Survey is a national organisation involving 
trained recreational scuba divers which aims to 
improve biodiversity conservation and the sustainable 
management of marine resources through the 
production of high-quality survey information.

RIA has supported Reef Life Survey since 2008 to 
conduct up to two long weekends of surveying per year 
at Rottnest Island. The Agency uses this data to assist 
with managing the marine environment. 

Research
Research into the natural, cultural and built 
environments of Rottnest Island or environments 
that share the same complexities underpins RIA’s 
conservation and sustainability planning.

In 2016/17, RIA was involved in 13 research permits 
which were issued across a variety of projects including:

• Comparing Australian Bell Frog responses to chytrid 
fungus infection and other threats

• Movements and population structure of Fairy Terns 
breeding within the Perth metropolitan area

• Physiological adaption of Sargassum spp. in floating 
seaweed rafts

• A long-term demographic study of populations of 
Actinia tenebrosa at Rottnest Island

• Current status of impsex in the genus Conus at 
Rottnest Island

• The tropicalisation of temperate seagrass meadows 
in Western Australia: Consequences to ecosystems 
and potential impacts

• Marine biodiversity taxonomy, in association with 
habitats, to determine biogeographic trends

• Study of stygofaunal food web composition and 
energy fluxes within island freshwater lens (Rottnest 
Island, Western Australia)
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Quokka conservation
This year RIA concluded a three-year collaborative 
project with the Department of Parks and Wildlife, 
and University of Western Australia, to determine 
quantitative estimates of quokka population size, 
investigate home range and habitat use, and understand 
seasonal fluctuations in the animal’s body condition, 
survival and reproduction.

The project established learnings that will inform 
management of the species on Rottnest Island, 
including:

• quantitative estimates of the quokka population and 
various subpopulations on Rottnest Island

• an understanding of seasonal fluctuations in quokka 
numbers and the implications of these fluctuations 
and other population parameters

• an understanding of the ecology of the quokka on 
the Island including home range, movements and 
the fate of animals relocated to different parts of 
the Island for management purposes, such as those 
removed from the Settlement

• comparisons of the genetic variability of quokka 
subpopulations living in different parts of the Island

• production of a comprehensive literature review of 
previous research on quokkas

• constructing capacity building within and between 
Department of Parks and Wildlife Science Division, 
University of Western Australia researchers and 
management staff at Rottnest Island 

• development of protocols for continued monitoring, 
data analyses and reporting to facilitate the long 
term conservation of the Rottnest Island quokka. 

Other outcomes from the study concluded that tourism 
and the resulting modified habitat has not had a 
negative influence on the Island’s quokkas, and can in 
fact have a positive influence if managed carefully.

The benchmark data is now being incorporated into 
RIA’s conservation management framework, and 
work is underway to develop long term monitoring 
plans around the health and viability of the Rottnest 
population, including developing community capacity 
for participation in conservation efforts.
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Rock Parrot Recovery Program
During the year, RIA conducted important research and 
recovery actions for the rock parrot, in collaboration 
with the Bold Park Bird Banding Group (BPBBG).

Once common on Rottnest Island, rock parrots are 
the Island’s only resident native parrots, and are the 
inspiration behind the naming of Parakeet Bay and Little 
Parakeet Bay. They spend most of their time quietly 
foraging on the ground, feeding on plants and seed. 
Historically, pressure was put on the population by 
aviculturists who would remove chicks from nests to sell 
as part of the captive bird trade, and through predation 
from feral cats (since eradicated from the Island).

The Rottnest Rock Parrot Recovery Project commenced 
in December 2012 when it was thought that only six 
rock parrots remained on the Island. Little was known of 
the birds activities other than the population was known 
to use the Thomson Bay to Kingston areas for foraging. 

Recovery actions to date have included:

• monitoring of multiple nesting sites on the Island 
and offshore islets through motion cameras and 
acoustic recording devices

• bird banding
• campaign for public sightings
• delay of annual weed control
• establishment of an artificial feed and watering site
• installation of artificial nesting boxes.

The five-year program has now increased the number of 
rock parrots from six to 14 individuals. During the recent 
2016 breeding season, five chicks were banded, with 
at least four of these resighted since. There were also 
at least three nests noted, which equates to at least six 
adults. Overall, the campaign for public sightings has 
resulted in 70 reports made by the community.  
The artificial nest boxes have also been confirmed to  
be successful.

Unlocking the secrets of the 
groundwater cycle
In partnership with The University of NSW, Australian 
Nuclear Science and Technology Organisation (ANSTO) 
and the Department of Water, RIA received an Australian 
Research Council Grant to determine how the non-
conventional lithium and silicon isotopes can be used to 
understand groundwater processes using an innovative 
source-to-target approach.

The research project will establish constraints on 
ground water processes and management in the water 
source limited environment of Rottnest Island. The 
use of groundwater isotope methods in the complex 
fractured limestone kast system will help to identify 
ground water flow paths. The work has national 
significance with the results pertaining to a wide range 
of Australian ground water environments.

The project is scheduled for completion in 2017/18.

The Rottnest Rock 
Parrot Recovery 
Project has now 

increased the 
number of rock 

parrots from six to 
14 individuals
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Next steps under 
the Rottnest Island 
Management Plan  
2014 – 2019
This year saw a number of exceptional achievements 
completed under the Rottnest Island Management 
Plan 2014 – 2019, against the following five policy 
statements:

No. Policy statement

1 Improved visitor experiences

2
Conservation and improved access to  
cultural heritage

3 Protection of the unique environment

4 Professional relationships with stakeholders

5 Financial sustainability

Initiatives slated for completion in 2017/18 are tabled  
on the following pages, grouped under the two  
Agency Services.

Removing barriers to  
seagrass restoration
In partnership with the University of Western Australia, 
Curtin University, Virginia Institute of Marine Science, 
Shark Bay Resources Pty Ltd, and BMT Oceanica 
Pty Ltd, RIA was successful in obtaining a highly 
competitive Australian Research Council Grant to 
undertake seagrass restoration trials at Rottnest Island, 
as well as various locations across the State, including 
Shark Bay and Owen Anchorage. The project is titled 
‘Circumventing demographic processes that limit 
seagrass restoration’.

Planning, site selection and surveying has commenced 
and a seed tank will be set up at the Rottnest 
Conservation Centre, known as the Nursery, in the  
next few months, ahead of the first collections of seed 
and pilot restoration work which is scheduled for 
November 2017.

Project deliverables will include the development 
of large-scale collection, storage, culturing and 
remote seafloor delivery processes for restoration of 
seagrasses. Components of the project works such as 
seed collection, dispersion and monitoring will provide 
opportunities for community volunteers to participate.

By demonstrating the potential for seagrass restoration 
and offset within the Rottnest Island Reserve, the 
project will assist future environmental approvals 
from the Western Australian Environmental Protection 
Agency required for development proposals within the 
marine environments, such as the Marina Project.

Through sediment quality surveys, the study will also 
increase RIA’s knowledge of sullage threat and impact 
at key locations within the Reserve, which will inform 
our Marine Conservation Action Plan. Outcomes will be 
reported when available.
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Table 7A: 2017/18 Agency ‘Service 1’ initiatives under the RIMP

Service 1: Recreational and holiday services
Aligns 

with RIMP 
Policy no.

Jetties management
RIA will develop strategic plans for the longer term management and maintenance of all jetty facilities. 
This includes a master plan for the Main Jetty, and improvement and maintenance plans for other key 
jetty assets on the Island. These works will include improved access for visitation and visitor flow, ferry 
movements and provisions, and operational safety.

1, 4, 5

Wadjemup Bidi
The construction of the final trail section Ngank Wen Bidi south (4km) and finalisation of works on the 
northern section (3.3km) around Marjorie and Rocky Bays, will see further improvements to Reserve 
facilities. These will involve upgrades to bus stop facilities, wayfinding and informative signage, and 
access to beach areas previously not available to Island visitors, providing new experiences on a 
dedicated trail network.

1, 2, 3

Multilingual services and information
The user experience and visitor services on the Destinations website at rottnestisland.com will 
be upgraded to include multilingual content in Chinese and Japanese, accounting for two major 
international tourism demographics. All major brochures and Rottnest Volunteer Guides Association 
tours will also incorporate multilingual content.

1, 4, 5

Online systems
RIA will continue to enhance the visitor experience through online applications that focus on easy use 
and quick access to recreational services and facilities. This will include a new Rottnest Island App, and 
improved online bookings system for Pedal and Flipper hire, and a new rental moorings system and 
mooring App.

1, 5

Onsite information and offerings
The Visitor Centre (VC) remains the central point of information and services on the Island. RIA will 
develop targeted retail offerings at the VC, and improve directional signage from the VC to surrounding 
attractions and experiences.

1, 5
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Table 7B: 2017/18 Agency ‘Service 2’ initiatives under the RIMP

Service 2: Natural environment and cultural heritage management
Aligns 

with RIMP 
Policy no.

Sea Wall
This project will see the landmark Sea Wall located along the exceptionally significant Vincent Way 
conserved and made structurally sound.

2

Heritage Audit
RIA will conduct a comprehensive inventory of heritage places on the Island, including the identification 
of heritage assets and an assessment of their significance and condition, as a means to identify and 
prioritise works and adaptive reuse opportunities.

2, 5

Aboriginal Prison Precinct
Landscaping and interpretation concepts to transform the Aboriginal Burial Ground into an appropriate 
memorial space will be developed and extensive consultation will be undertaken with the broader WA 
Aboriginal community on both the Burial Ground and the future of the former Aboriginal prison (‘the 
Quod’).

2, 4

Sustainability – Waste Audit 
A waste audit will be scheduled to update Rottnest Island’s waste profile. The audit will make a 
determination on how much and what type of waste is being produced, and provide the basis for 
business planning towards the achievement of a zero waste to landfill target on Rottnest Island.

3

Terrestrial Conservation Action Plan – Salt Lake Bank
Management Plan
Develop a Salt Lake Bank Management Plan to address protection of microbialite communities, littoral 
vegetation, and shorebirds and provide an enhanced visitor experience opportunity for visitors to 
engage and experience the Rottnest Island Salt Lakes.

3

Marine Conservation Action Planning
Undertake planning to prepare a Marine Conservation Action Plan for Rottnest Island that identifies 
the natural values of the Rottnest Island Marine environment, determines current and desired health, 
considers threatening processes, and identifies priority conservation actions to enable resources to be 
directed where most needed.

3

Stakeholder Sustainability Team
Developing an Island Stakeholder Sustainability Team to facilitate the progress towards achieving 
Rottnest Island Sustainability Objectives and Targets through the implementation of the Rottnest Island 
Sustainability Destination Action Plan and annual EarthCheck certification. The team will involve public 
and private sectors on Rottnest Island.

3, 4
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Section 4:

Disclosures and  
legal compliance

» Aboriginal Heritage Officer Ezra Jacobs 

conducts an Aboriginal Heritage Tour 

See page 44 for more
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Financial overview
The Rottnest Island Authority’s (RIA) 2016/17 result 
shows an accounting profit of $8.04m. This result has 
been significantly impacted by once-off grants from 
the Commonwealth for the implementation of solar 
renewable energy on the Island ($3.66m); an in-kind 
contribution from the Rottnest Island Foundation in 
relation to the Wadjemup Bidi Walk Trail ($0.325m); 
and delays in State government grant expenditures 
for the roofing rectification program ($2.32m) 
which collectively contributed $6.23m of this result. 
Subsequently, RIA recorded an underlying profit  
of $1.81m.

The underlying profit is a result of continuing growth of 
RIA’s operating revenues relating to accommodation, 
admission fees, moorings, bike hire and commercial 
operations services up by $1.7m or 5.2 percent  
compared to last year during an ongoing difficult 
economic environment.

The Agency continued to monitor and tightly manage  
its expenditures over the financial year and this tight  
fiscal management has resulted in the underlying 
expenditure growth of only $0.39m or 1.0 percent,  
not including the grant related expenditures for the  
roofing rectification program.

During 2016/17, RIA, the Commonwealth government 
and Rottnest Island Foundation contributed and 
invested $10.45m into the capital works program 
relating to core utility infrastructure, including new 
renewable energy, enhanced visitor attractions, visitor 
accommodation, and plant and equipment in order 
to improve visitor experiences and overall enjoyment. 
The two major projects were the Renewable Energy 
Programme and Interface ($4.8m) and the Waste Water 
Treatment Plant ($2.8m).

The net cash flow for 2016/17 resulted in a net cash 
outflow of $0.487m primarily as a result of aligning the 
RIA staff payroll to the pay cycle of the general State 
government pay cycle.

Annual estimates
In accordance with Treasurer’s Instruction 953, 
statutory authorities are required to include annual 
estimates for the current financial year in the annual 
report of the preceding year. The following estimates 
have been submitted and approved by the Minister for 
Tourism for 2017/18.

The underlying 
profit is a result of 
continuing growth 
of RIA’s operating 

revenues
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Table 8: Rottnest Island Authority Annual Estimates for 2017/18

Total
$OOO

Roofing
Restoration

$OOO

Operating
Budget
$OOO

INCOME

Sales 510 510

Provision of services 35,155 35,155

Commonwealth grants and contributions 0

Interest revenue 578 578

Loss on disposal of non-current assets 0

Other revenue 190 190

TOTAL INCOME 36,433 0 36,433

EXPENSES

Cost of sales 430 430

Employee benefits expense 11,590 11,590

Supplies and services 27,060 3,400 23,660

Depreciation and amortisation expense 5,723 5,723

Finance costs 345 345

Accommodation expenses 303 303

Loss on disposal of non-current assets 212 212

Other expenses 1, 079 1, 079

TOTAL EXPENSES 46,742 3,400 43,342

Profit /(Loss ) before grants and subsidies from State Government (10,309) (3,400) (6, 909)

Grants and subsidies from  State Government 8,652 3,400 5,252

Services received free of charge 63 63

PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE PERIOD  (1, 594) 0  (1,594)
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Other financial disclosures

Employment and  
industrial relations
Employees at Rottnest Island Authority (RIA) are 
employed under the provisions of the Public Service 
Award 1992 and the Public Service and Government 
Officers General Agreement 2014.

Table 9: Rottnest Island Authority FTE Status  
at 30 June

Employment type 2016 2017

Full-time permanent 72 71

Fixed term 18 22

Casual 15 15

Total 105 108

Internal workers’  
compensation claims
There was one minor claim made by RIA staff  
in 2016/17.

Board remuneration
In accordance with the Rottnest Island Authority Act 
1987 (the Act), the Chairman and Board members 
are paid fees and allowances as may be fixed by the 
Minister for Tourism on recommendation of the Minister 
for Public Sector Management. In accordance with 
government policy, Board members who are public 
servants are not entitled to payment.

Table 10: Rottnest Island Authority Board remuneration

Position Name Type
Gross / actual
remuneration

Chairman John Driscoll Annual $32,470

Deputy 
Chairman

Hamish Beck Annual $15,330

Member Suzanne Hunt Annual $15,330

Member Robert McDonald Annual $15,330

Member Peter Hick Annual $15,330

Member Marina Hogan Annual $3,830

Member Sally Hollis Annual $11,500

Directors’ and Officers’  
Liability Insurance
An insurance premium has been taken out to indemnify 
Board members against any liability incurred under 
sections 13 or 14 of the Statutory Corporations (Liability 
of Directors) Act 1996. This policy is placed through the 
State Government’s insurer and is renewed annually.

Committee remuneration
Two Wadjemup Aboriginal Reference Group meetings 
were held in March and May 2016/17, however members 
were formally appointed retroactively on 6 June 2017, 
which marked the date of the Cabinet decision. No 
remuneration has been made to date as RIA awaits 
a Ministerial determination on the rates of pay and 
allowances. The retroactive remuneration for this year’s 
meetings will be reported in the 2017/18 financial year.

Capital works
Rottnest Island Authority’s expenditure on capital works 
for 2016/17 is outlined below.

Table 11: 2016/17 Capital works expenditures

Type
2016/17

$000

Island Utility infrastructure

Electricity utility projects 4,977

Potable water and sewerage projects 2,926

Fire mains 456

Visitor accommodation

Unit refurbishments 814

Furniture and fittings 503

Visitor experience

Walk trails 274

Assets and equipment 135

Bike purchases 134

Building and infrastructure works 188

Other capital works and minor works 43

Total 10,450



Rottnest Island Authority | Annual Report 2016/17 

73Contents |  About this report |  Agency in focus |  Report on operations |  Opportunities & challenges |  Disclosures & legal compliance |  Financial statements & key performance indicators

Advertising
Under the Electoral Act 1907, agencies are required to 
report details of certain classes of expenditure in their 
annual report. RIA expenditure during 2016/17 included 
advertising for job vacancies, promotion of Rottnest 
Island’s holiday and recreational services and events, 
and sustainability and conversation initiatives, as well as 
monitoring of social media.

Table 12: 2016/17 Advertising expenditure

Type Organisation
2016/17 

expenditure
($)

Advertising agencies Nil Nil

Direct mail Nil Nil

Market research Painted Dog $66,935

Media advertising

Optimun Media 
Decisions

Experience Perth
Australian 
Traveller
AdCorp

$361,789

Polling organisations Nil Nil

Design Identity Creative $35,258

Licensing
RIA manages all aspects of Island life in compliance with 
State government regulations. Table 13 captures the 
extent of RIA’s licensing agreements which are required  
to effectively run Island operations and services.  
Licenses are required to be renewed annually or as 
otherwise stipulated.

Table 13: Licensing arrangements at 30 June 2017

Licence type Expiry Renewal frequency

Electricity Integrated Regional 20/06/2036 30 yrs

Electrical Contractors 29/10/2017 1 yr

Apparatus – Maritime Coast 23/10/2017 1 yr

Apparatus – Maritime Ship x2 23/10/2017 1 yr

Apparatus – Land mobile x4 23/10/2017 1 yr

Apparatus – Fixed 23/10/2017 1 yr

Water services operating 14/12/2033 20 yrs

Licence to take water x2 31/03/2025 10 yrs

Waste Water Treatment Plant 19/01/2019 5 yrs

Landfill 29/08/2017 3 yrs

Dangerous Goods Site 06/03/2022 3 yrs

Gas Energy Coordination Exemption 1 yr

Aerodrome Registration N/A -

Rottnest Island Railway Accreditation 30/06/2017 1 yr

Vehicle Registration (multiple) Varies 6 mth

Thomson Bay Main Jetty 31/05/2018 1 yr

Thomson Bay Fuel Jetty – Pipeline N/A -

Hotel, Stark, Army and Geordie Bay Jetty Expired, in review 1 yr

Thomson Bay – Moorings N/A -

Permit to store/purchase chlorine gas 30/06/2018 3 yrs



Rottnest Island Authority | Annual Report 2016/17 

74 Contents |  About this report |  Agency in focus |  Report on operations |  Opportunities & challenges |  Disclosures & legal compliance |  Financial statements & key performance indicators

Governance disclosures

Board policies and 
responsibilities
The Agency has a Delegation of Authority Register 
which governs the actions of the Board and appropriate 
delegations of authority to ensure statutory 
responsibilities are met.

The Agency’s corporate governance arrangements 
ensure transparency in decision making and operation, 
as well as accountability to stakeholders and the State 
government by promoting strong leadership, sound 
management, and effective planning and review.

The Board responsibilities include:

• the power to do all things necessary or convenient in 
connection with the management and control of the 
Island under the Act 

• carry out such developments and improvements 
that are consistent with the Act 

• enter into any arrangement with a State government 
department or instrumentality or any public utility 
for the performance by that body of any work or the 
supply of equipment or services

• require payment of rent, fees or other charges 
for the use of the facilities of RIA or equipment or 
services supplied by it, and fix the amount of such 
rent, fees or charges with power to waive, reduce or 
refund the same in particular cases 

• in respect of its function of providing and operating 
recreational and holiday facilities on the Island:

(i) establish or acquire, and operate; or 
(ii) enter into an arrangement for any person to 

establish or acquire, and operate any business 
undertaking that is necessary or convenient for 
the performance of that function; and 

• grant any lease or licence that is consistent with the 
purposes described in the relevant section of the Act 
on such terms and conditions as it thinks fit

• the power in the Act — 

(a) does not include power to grant a lease or 
licence for a term exceeding a period of 20 years, 
including in that period any term obtainable at 
the option of the lessee or licensee on the expiry 
of a previous term, unless the Minister’s written 
approval has been given to the proposed lease or 
licence; and 

(b) includes the power to grant leases and licences 
of sites for the mooring of vessels, but that power 
shall only be exercised with the concurrence of 
the Minister to whom the administration of the 

Marine and Harbours Act 1981 is for the time 
being committed.

Exceptions include: 

• the Board does not have power of disposition over 
any land forming part of the Rottnest Island Reserve 

• the Board does not have power to permit any  
person to take any flora, fauna, rock, stone or  
soil on the Island for any commercial or other  
profit-making purpose.
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Board disclosures
Attendance
Table 14: Board meeting attendance 2016/17

Member
First 

appointed

No. 
meetings 

eligible 
to attend

No. 
meetings 
attended

John Driscoll Dec 2010 11 11

Hamish Beck Mar 2016 11 10

Suzanne Hunt May 2010 11 11

Robert McDonald July 2011 11 11

Peter Hick* Aug 2011 11 10

Marina Hogan** Jan 2017 6 6

Sally Hollis Dec 2010 5 5

* Dr Peter Hick was appointed in the position of member 
who has practical knowledge of and experience in the 
conservation of the environment on the completion of 
Sally Hollis’ term in December 2016

** Marina Hogan replaced Dr Peter Hick in the position 
of member who is a regular user of the Island for 
recreational purposes

Conflicts of interest
The Board has a disclosure of interest process outlined 
in the Act. Board members declare actual and potential 
conflicts of interest on appointment, and otherwise as 
matters arise.

No Board members have reported an actual conflict  
of interest.

Committee disclosures
Wadjemup Aboriginal Reference Group
The Wadjemup Aboriginal Reference Group was 
established to provide information to the RIA Chief 
Executive Officer and the RIA Board on:

• a future strategy for the Wadjemup (Rottnest Island) 
Aboriginal Burial Ground, and

• the possible future uses and conservation of the 
former Aboriginal prison, known as the Quod.

Table 15: Attendance 2016/17

Member
First 

appointed
No. meetings 

attended

Walter McGuire 6 June 2017 2

Brendan Moore 6 June 2017 2

Pamela Thorley 6 June 2017 1

Lindsay Dean 6 June 2017 2

Barbara Bynder 6 June 2017 2

Michelle Reynolds Ex-officio 2

Peter Hick Ex-officio 2

The Agency’s 
corporate 

governance 
arrangements 

ensure transparency 
in decision making 

and operation
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Table 16: RIA’s application of Good Governance Guide principles

Principle Application P. Reference

1. Government and public sector relationship Enabling legislation 10
Performance Management Framework 15
CEO Performance Agreement 76

2. Management and oversight RIA Board 12
Corporate Executive 14
Strategic governance 15
Key Performance Indicators (Section 5) 123

3. Organisational structure Organisational structure 11
Performance Management Framework 15
Workforce planning 22

4. Operations Leadership 12
Report on operations (Section 3) 25
Key Performance Indicators (Section 5) 123

5. Ethics and integrity About us; our values 8
Complaints handling 20
Communication policies 21
Workforce development 22
Equality and inclusion 23
Legal compliance 77

6. People Workplace consultation 19
Workforce planning 22
Equality and inclusion 23
Legal compliance 77

7. Finance Finance, Risk and Audit Committee 18
Financial overview 70
Other financial disclosures 72
Financial Statements and Notes (Section 5) 81

8. Communications Complaints handling 20
Communications policies 21

9. Risk Management Finance, Risk and Audit Committee 18
Risk management 18

CEO Performance Agreement
The Agency’s performance is monitored by the Rottnest 
Island Authority Board and the Minister for Tourism, 
in part through the CEO Performance Agreement. In 
2016/17, the Public Sector Commissioner varied this 
process due to the scheduled State Election with formal 
agreements not required.

Good Governance Guide
The Public Sector Commission’s Good Governance 
Guide for public sector agencies outlines nine key 
governance principles which have guided RIA’s 
delivery and reporting of the Agency’s operational and 
organisational performance.

The following checklist references sections within this 
report that highlight how RIA apply the GGG principles 
in practice.
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Legal compliance

Public Sector standards and 
ethical codes
RIA has policies, procedures and processes in place to 
ensure the Agency meets all required obligations under 
the set of Public Sector Standards (Human Resource 
Management), the WA Public Sector Code of Ethics, and 
the RIA Code of Conduct.

These policies and supporting materials are available to 
all staff via RIA’s intranet. In 2016/17, RIA continued to 
run Accountable and Ethical Decision Making courses 
for staff, to ensure a high standard of ethical decision 
making. Approximately 80 percent of permanent and 
fixed-term staff have completed the course.

Public Sector Code of Ethics
There were no claims lodged with the Public Sector 
Commission in 2016/17 relating to the Public Sector 
Code of Ethics.

RIA Code of Conduct
There were no claims lodged in 2016/17 relating to RIA’s 
Code of Conduct.

Public Sector Commissioner’s Instruction 
Employment Standard
There were no breaches of standard claims lodged with 
the Public Sector Commission against the Employment 
Standard in 2016/17.

Grievance Resolution Standard
There were two breaches of standard claims lodged with 
the Public Sector Commission against the Grievance 
Resolution Standard in 2016/17.

Unauthorised use of credit cards
The Agency is required to report the use of corporate 
credit cards for personal use. In 2016/17, there were 
four instances, totalling $197, where personal purchases 
were inadvertently made. Of that total, $177 was paid 
within five working days with the remaining amount 
paid before the end of the financial year. In all cases 
there were no grounds for disciplinary action. The entire 
balance was settled within the reporting period.

Disability Access and  
Inclusion Plan
RIA’s Disability Access and Inclusion Plan is outlined 
under ‘Equality and inclusion’ on page 23 in Section 1: 
Agency in focus.

Recordkeeping Plan
Under the State Records Act 2000, every State 
government agency is required to have a Recordkeeping 
Plan (RKP). Agencies must also review the plan every 
five years or when there is significant change to the 
organisation’s functions.

RIA’s recordkeeping compliance is achieved by:

• maintaining the system infrastructure at latest 
release levels to ensure equivalence with required 
standards

• regularly auditing the use of the HPRM 
recordkeeping system to ensure its effectiveness 
and efficiency in meeting compliance and 
operational requirements

• ensuring the RIA Induction Program provides 
new employees with information regarding their 
recordkeeping roles and responsibilities

• ensuring all new staff successfully complete an 
online Recordkeeping Awareness Training course

• providing all relevant employees with HPRM Records 
Management training

• regularly providing employees with information on 
contemporary recordkeeping practices

• providing ongoing assistance to HPRM users.

All facets were maintained during 2016/17.

Our RKP was first approved by the State Records 
Commission in December 2005. The first review was 
undertaken on schedule, with an updated RKP provided 
to the State Records Office (SRO) in June 2011.

This year marked the second review of RIA’s RKP, 
with the RKP Review Report provided to the SRO in 
December 2016. The review noted some amendments 
are required to the RKP, which are currently being 
progressed. The revised RKP will be provided to the SRO 
by December 2017.
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Government policy 
requirements

Substantive equality
RIA’s obligations against equality and inclusion are 
detailed in Section 1: Agency in focus from page 23.

Occupational safety, health and 
injury management
The Agency’s occupational safety, health and injury 
management policies are detailed under ‘Safety,  
health and wellbeing’ in Section 1: Agency in focus  
from page 24 of this report.

2016/17 performance
RIA’s OSH and injury management statistics are 
disclosed in Table 17. Comparative data is included 
where possible.

Table 17: 2016/17 OSH performance statistics

OSH indicator 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 T 2016/17 A Comment

Number of 
fatalities

0 0 0 0 Met target

Lost-time injury/
disease incidence 
rate*

1.9% 1.1%

0-10% 
reduction 
over past  

3 years

0% Met target

Lost-time injury/
disease severity 
rate

100% 100%

0-10% 
reduction 
over past  

3 years

100%
Did not meet however recorded a low 
number of lost-time injuries with all 
resulting in more than 60 lost days

% injured 
workers returned  
to work within  
13 weeks

0% 100%

greater 
than or 
equal to 

80%

0% Met target

% injured 
workers returned 
to work within  
26 weeks

0% 100%

greater 
than or 
equal to 

80%

0% Met target

% managers 
trained in OSH 
and injury 
management 
responsibilities

50% 25%

greater 
than or 
equal to 

80%

25%

Not met
In 2016/17 this will be an area of focus.  
It is anticipated that with the 
amalgamation of the new Department 
of Biodiversity, Conservation and 
Attractions, Rottnest Island staff will have 
access to more training opportunities 
relating to occupational safety, health and 
injury management responsibilities.

* The lost-time injury/disease rate is the number of lost-time injuries where on a day/shift or more was lost in the 
financial year per 100 employees.
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OSH training for staff
All new staff complete OSH induction training which 
provides them with organisational OSH awareness, and 
an understanding of their OSH responsibilities.

Government Building  
Training Policy
During 2016/17 RIA issued no contracts which met the 
scope of the Government Building Training Policy.

As good practice, RIA still included this commitment 
when employing construction apprentices and trainees 
in large contracts. One such instance was the contract 
to upgrade the Wastewater Treatment Plant.

Note: The major facilities and utilities contract (which 
includes maintenance) was awarded in the 2014/15 
financial year.

Ministerial directives
No ministerial directives were received during the 
financial year.
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Section 5:

Financial statements  
and key performance 
indicators

» The installation of self-service ticket kiosks 

in the Visitor Centre has substantially 

reduced wait times 

See page 57 for more
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Certification of Financial Statements  FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017

The accompanying financial statements of the Rottnest Island Authority have been prepared in compliance with the provisions of the 
Financial Management Act 2006 from proper accounts and records to present fairly the financial transactions for the financial year ended 
30 June 2017 and the financial position as at 30 June 2017.

At the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances which would render the particulars included in the financial statements 
misleading or inaccurate.

Leslie Bechelli Robert McDonald John Driscoll 
Chief Finance Officer Member of Accountable Authority Chairman of Accountable Authority

12 September 2017 12 September 2017 12 September 2017

Untitled-2   1 31/07/2017   1:01:51 PM
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Independent Audit Opinion



Rottnest Island Authority | Annual Report 2016/17 

83Contents |  About this report |  Agency in focus |  Report on operations |  Opportunities & challenges |  Disclosures & legal compliance |  Financial statements & key performance indicators

Independent Audit Opinion
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Statement of comprehensive income  FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017

Note
2017
$000

2016
$000

COST OF SERVICES

Expenses

Cost of sales 14 434 398

Employee benefits expense 6 10,360 10,168

Supplies and services 8 22,910 26,573

Depreciation and amortisation expense 9 5,186 4,644

Finance costs 10 295 263

Accommodation expenses 11 369 444

Loss on disposal of non-current assets 18 341 233

Other expenses 12 937 1,092

Total cost of services 40,832 43,815

Income              

Revenue

Sales 14 535 493

Provision of services 15 34,744 33,053

Grants and contributions 16 3,661 112

Interest revenue 17 616 806

Other revenue 19 626 381

Total Revenue 40,182 34,845

Total income other than income from  
State Government 40,182 34,845

NET COST OF SERVICES (650) (8,970)

Note
2017
$000

2016
$000

Income from State Government

Service appropriation 20 8,652 11,355

Services received free of charge 20 38 35

Total income from State Government 8,690  11,390

SURPLUS FOR THE PERIOD 8,040 2,420

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Items not reclassified subsequently  
to profit or loss  

Changes in asset revaluation surplus 33 (2,396) 8,836

Total other comprehensive income (2,396) 8,836

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  
FOR THE PERIOD 5,644 11,256

See also note 42 ‘Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service’

The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying notes.
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Statement of financial position  AS AT 30 JUNE 2017

Note
2017
$000

2016
$000

ASSETS

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 34 4,273 5,610

Inventories 21 193 172

Receivables 22 1,303 1,768

Other current financial assets 23 12,850 15,750

Other current assets 24 97 119

Total Current Assets 18,716 23,419

Non-Current Assets

Property, plant and equipment 25 223,697 227,351

Infrastructure 26 32,648 26,190

Intangible assets 28 1,365 1,663

Receivables 22 136 131

Other non-current financial assets 23 6,000 2,250

Total Non-Current Assets 263,846 257,585

TOTAL ASSETS 282,562 281,004

LIABILITIES

Current Liabilities

Payables 30 6,819 10,685

Provisions 31 1,720 2,023

Other current liabilities 32 11,954 11,757

Total Current Liabilities 20,493 24,465

Note
2017
$000

2016
$000

Non-Current Liabilities

Provisions 31 677 652

Other non-current liabilities 32 822 961

Total Non-Current liabilities 1,499 1,613

TOTAL LIABILITIES 21,992 26,078

NET ASSETS 260,570 254,926

EQUITY

Contributed equity 33 50,032 50,032

Reserves 33 194,872 197,268

Accumulated surplus 33 15,666 7,626

TOTAL EQUITY 260,570 254,926

The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying notes.
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Statement of changes in equity  FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017

Note
Contributed 

equity
$000

Reserves
$000

Accumulated 
surplus/ 
(deficit)

$000
Total Equity

$000

Balance at 1 July 2015 50,032 188,432 5,206 243,670

Surplus - - 2,420 2,420

Other comprehensive income - 8,836 - 8,836

Total comprehensive income for the period - 8,836 2,420 11,256

Balance at 30 June 2016 50,032 197,268 7,626 254,926

 

Balance at 1 July 2016 50,032 197,268 7,626 254,926

Surplus - - 8,040 8,040

Other comprehensive income - (2,396) - (2,396)

Total comprehensive income for the period - (2,396) 8,040 5,644

Balance at 30 June 2017 50,032 194,872 15,666 260,570

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of cash flows  FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017

Note
2017
$000

2016
$000

CASH FLOW FROM STATE GOVERNMENT

Service appropriation 8,652 11,355

Net cash provided by State Government 8,652 11,355

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Payments

Employee benefits (10,668) (11,072)

Supplies and services (29,222) (21,573)

Finance costs (295) (264)

GST payments on purchases (3,260) (3,693)

GST payments to taxation authority - (121)

Other payments (1,467) (1,527)

Receipts

Sale of goods and services 535 493

Provision of services 34,807 33,547

Grants and contributions - 112

Interest received 700 912

GST receipts on sales 3,624 3,476

GST receipts from taxation authority 6 -

Other Receipts 373 381

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating 
activities 34 (4,867) 671

Note
2017
$000

2016
$000

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Payments

Purchase of non-current assets (4,272) (9,405)

Receipts

Proceeds from sale of non-current assets - -

Net cash (used in) investing activities (4,272) (9,405)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Payments

Repayment of Borrowings - (22)

Receipts

Proceeds from Borrowings - -

Net cash (used in) financing activities - (22)

Net increase (decrease) in cash  
and cash equivalents (487) 2,599

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning  
of the period 23,610 21,011

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END 
OF THE PERIOD 34 23,123 23,610

The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the  
accompanying notes.   
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Notes to the financial statements  FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017

Note 1.  Australian Accounting Standards
General
The Rottnest Island Authority’s (“the Authority”) financial statements for the year 
ended 30 June 2017 have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting 
Standards. The term ‘Australian Accounting Standards’ includes Standards and 
Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standard Board (AASB).

The Authority has adopted any applicable, new and revised Australian Accounting 
Standards from their operative dates. 

Early adoption of standards
The Authority cannot adopt an Australian Accounting Standard early unless specifically 
permitted by TI 1101 Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other 
Pronouncements. There has been no early adoption of any other Australian Accounting 
Standards that have been issued or amended (but not operative) by the Authority for 
the annual reporting period ended 30 June 2017.

Note 2.  Summary of significant accounting policies
(a) General statement

The Authority is a not-for-profit reporting entity that prepares general purpose 
financial statements in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, 
the Framework, Statements of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative 
pronouncements of the AASB as applied by the Treasurer’s Instructions. Several of 
these are modified by the Treasurer’s Instructions to vary application, disclosure, 
format and wording. 

The Financial Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s Instructions impose 
legislative provisions that govern the preparation of financial statements and take 
precedence over Australian Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statements of 
Accounting Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of the AASB. 

Where modification is required and has had a material or significant financial effect 
upon the reported results, details of that modification and the resulting financial 
effect are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

(b) Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting 
using the historical cost convention, except for land, buildings, infrastructure and 
artworks which have been measured at fair value. 

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements  
have been consistently applied throughout all periods presented unless  
otherwise stated.

The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars and all values are 
rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($’000).

Note 3 ‘Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies’ 
discloses judgements that have been made in the process of applying the 
Authority’s accounting policies resulting in the most significant effect on amounts 
recognised in the financial statements.

Note 4 ‘Key sources of estimation uncertainty’ discloses key assumptions made 
concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of 
the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to 
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next reporting period.

(c) Reporting entity
The reporting entity comprises the Rottnest Island Authority. The Authority has no 
related bodies.

(d) Contributed equity
AASB Interpretation 1038 Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public 
Sector Entities requires transfers in the nature of equity contributions, other than 
as a result of a restructure of administrative arrangements, to be designated by 
the Government (the owner) as contributions by owners (at the time of, or prior 
to transfer) before such transfers can be recognised as equity contributions. 
Capital appropriations have been designated as contributions by owners by TI 955 
Contributions by Owners made to Wholly Owned Public Sector Entities and have 
been credited directly to Contributed Equity.
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The transfers of net assets to/from other agencies, other than as a result of a 
restructure of administrative arrangements, are designated as contributions by 
owners where the transfers are non-discretionary and non-reciprocal.

(e) Income
REVENUE RECOGNITION

Revenue is recognised and measured at the fair value of consideration received or 
receivable. Revenue is recognised for the major business activities as follows:

Sale of goods

Revenue is recognised from the sale of goods and disposal of other assets when 
the significant risks and rewards of ownership transfer to the purchaser and can be 
measured reliably.

Provision of Services

Revenue is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction. 
For example, Visitor Accommodation revenue is recognised over the course of the 
Visitors’ stay on the Island. Admissions income is recognised when the invoice is 
issued to the ferry companies. Other revenue, including Housing and Business 
rental income, is recognised as the service is provided. 

Interest

Revenue is recognised as the interest accrues.

Service appropriations

Service appropriations are recognised as revenues at fair value in the period in 
which the Authority gains control of the appropriated funds. The Authority gains 
control of appropriated funds at the time those funds are deposited to the  
bank account .

Grants, donations, gifts and other non-reciprocal contributions

Revenue is recognised at fair value when the Authority obtains control over the 
assets comprising the contributions, usually when cash is received.

Other non-reciprocal contributions that are not contributions by owners are 
recognised at their fair value. Contributions of services are only recognised when  
a fair value can be reliably determined and the services would be purchased  
if not donated.

GAINS

Realised and unrealised gains are usually recognised on a net basis. These include 
gains arising on the disposal of non-current assets and some revaluations of  
non-current assets.

(f) Property, plant and equipment and infrastructure
Capitalisation/Expensing of assets

Items of property, plant and equipment and infrastructure costing $5,000 or more 
are recognised as assets and the cost of utilising assets is expensed (depreciated) 
over their useful lives. Items of property, plant and equipment and infrastructure 
costing less than $5,000 are immediately expensed direct to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income (other than where they form part of a group of similar items 
which are significant in total).

Initial recognition and measurement

Property, plant and equipment and infrastructure are initially recognised at cost. 

For items of property, plant and equipment and infrastructure acquired at no cost 
or for nominal cost, the cost is the fair value at the date of acquisition.

Subsequent measurement

Subsequent to initial recognition as an asset, the revaluation model is used for the 
measurement of land, buildings and infrastructure and historical cost for all other 
property, plant and equipment. Land, buildings and infrastructure are carried at 
fair value less accumulated depreciation (buildings and infrastructure only) and 
accumulated impairment losses. All other items of property, plant and equipment 
are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses.
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Where market-based evidence is available, the fair value of land and buildings is 
determined on the basis of current market buying values determined by reference 
to recent market transactions. When buildings are revalued by reference to recent 
market transactions, the accumulated depreciation is eliminated against the gross 
carrying amount of the asset and the net amount restated to the revalued amount.

In the absence of market-based evidence, fair value of land and buildings is 
determined on the basis of existing use. This normally applies where buildings 
are specialised or where land use is restricted. Fair value for existing use assets is 
determined by reference to the cost of replacing the remaining future economic 
benefits embodied in the asset, i.e. the depreciated replacement cost. Where 
the fair value of buildings is determined on the depreciated replacement cost 
basis, the gross carrying amount and the accumulated depreciation are restated 
proportionately with the change in the gross carrying amount of the assets. Fair 
value for restricted use land is determined by comparison with market evidence for 
land with similar approximate utility (high restricted use land) or market value of 
comparable unrestricted land (low restricted use land).

Land and buildings are independently valued annually by the Western Australian 
Land Information Authority (Valuation Services) and recognised annually to ensure 
that the carrying amount does not differ materially from the asset’s fair value at the 
end of the reporting period. 

Fair value of infrastructure has been determined by reference to the depreciated 
replacement cost (existing use basis) as the assets are specialised and no market-
based evidence of value is available. Land under infrastructure is included in land 
reported under note 25 ‘Property, plant and equipment. Independent valuations are 
obtained every 3 to 5 years for infrastructure.

When infrastructure is revalued, the accumulated depreciation is restated 
proportionately with the change in the gross carrying amount of the asset so that 
the carrying amount of the asset after revaluation equals its revalued amount.

The most significant assumptions and judgements in estimating fair value are made 
in assessing whether to apply the existing use basis to assets and in determining 
estimated economic life. Professional judgement by the valuer is required where 
the evidence does not provide a clear distinction between market type assets and 
existing use assets. Refer to note 25 ‘Property, plant and equipment’ and note 26 
‘Infrastructure’ for further information on revaluations.

De-recognition

Upon disposal or de-recognition of an item of property, plant and equipment and 
infrastructure, any revaluation surplus relating to that asset is retained in the asset 
revaluation surplus.

Asset revaluation surplus

The asset revaluation surplus is used to record increments and decrements on the 
revaluation of non-current assets on a class of assets basis.

Depreciation

All non-current assets having a limited useful life are systematically depreciated 
over their estimated useful lives in a manner that reflects the consumption of their 
future economic benefits. 

Depreciation is calculated using the straight line method, using rates which are 
reviewed annually. Estimated useful lives for each class of depreciable asset are:

Buildings 20 to 40 years

Computers & Electronic Equipment 3 to 10 years

Furniture 3 to 5 years

Plant & Vehicles 3 to 7 years

Leasehold Improvements 10 to 15 years

Infrastructure 5 to 50 years
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Works of art and Cultural Heritage Assets controlled by the Authority are classified 
as property, plant and equipment. These are anticipated to have indefinite useful 
lives. Their service potential has not, in any material sense, been consumed during 
the reporting period and consequently no depreciation has been recognised.

Land is not depreciated.

(g) Intangible assets
Capitalisation/Expensing of assets

Acquisitions for intangible assets costing $5,000 or more and internally  
generated intangible assets costing $50,000 or more are capitalised. The cost of 
utilising the assets is expensed (amortised) over their useful life. Costs incurred 
below these thresholds are immediately expensed directly to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income.

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. For assets acquired at no cost or 
for nominal cost, the cost is their fair value at the date of acquisition. 

The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement requiring the asset to  
be carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated  
impairment losses.

Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is calculated for the period 
of the expected benefit (estimated useful life which is reviewed annually) on the 
straight line basis. All intangible assets controlled by the Authority have a finite 
useful life and zero residual value.

The expected useful lives for each class of intangible asset are:

  Software (a) 3 to 10 years

  Website Costs  3 to 5 years

        (a)  Software that is not integral to the operation of any related hardware.

Computer software

Software that is an integral part of the related hardware is recognised as property, 
plant and equipment. Software that is not an integral part of the related hardware is 
treated as an intangible asset. Software costing less than $5,000 is expensed in the 
year of acquisition.

Website costs

Website costs are charged as expenses when they are incurred unless they relate 
to the acquisition or development of an asset when they may be capitalised and 
amortised. Generally, costs in relation to feasibility studies during the planning 
phase of a website, and ongoing costs of maintenance during the operating phase 
are expensed. Costs incurred in building or enhancing a website, to the extent that 
they represent probable future economic benefits that can be reliably measured, 
are capitalised.

(h) Impairment of assets
Property, plant and equipment, infrastructure and intangible assets are tested 
for any indication of impairment at the end of each reporting period. Where there 
is an indication of impairment, the recoverable amount is estimated. Where the 
recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount, the asset is considered 
impaired and is written down to the recoverable amount and an impairment loss 
is recognised. Where an asset measured at cost is written down to recoverable 
amount, an impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss. Where a previously 
revalued asset is written down to recoverable amount, the loss is recognised as a 
revaluation decrement in other comprehensive income. As the Authority is a  
not-for-profit entity, unless a specialised asset has been identified as a surplus 
asset, the recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell 
and depreciated replacement cost.

The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances where an asset’s 
depreciation is materially understated, where the replacement cost is falling or 
where there is a significant change in useful life. Each relevant class of assets is 
reviewed annually to verify that the accumulated depreciation/amortisation reflects 
the level of consumption or expiration of the asset’s future economic benefits and 
to evaluate any impairment risk from falling replacement costs.
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Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life and intangible assets not yet available 
for use are tested for impairment at the end of each reporting period irrespective of 
whether there is any indication of impairment.

The recoverable amount of assets identified as surplus assets is the higher of fair 
value less costs to sell and the present value of future cash flows expected to be 
derived from the asset. Surplus assets carried at fair value have no risk of material 
impairment where fair value is determined by reference to market-based evidence. 
Where fair value is determined by reference to depreciated replacement cost, 
surplus assets are at risk of impairment and the recoverable amount is measured. 
Surplus assets at cost are tested for indications of impairment at the end of each 
reporting period.

(i) Leases
Finance lease rights and obligations are initially recognised, at the commencement 
of the lease term, as assets and liabilities equal in amount to the fair value of 
the leased item or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments, 
determined at the inception of the lease. The assets are disclosed as plant, 
equipment and vehicles under lease, and are depreciated over the period during 
which the Authority is expected to benefit from their use. Minimum lease payments 
are apportioned between the finance charge and the reduction of the outstanding 
lease liability, according to the interest rate implicit in the lease.

Operating leases are expensed on a straight line basis over the lease term as this 
represents the pattern of benefits derived from the leased assets.

(j) Financial instruments
In addition to cash, the Authority has three categories of financial instrument:

• Receivables
• Other financial assets; and
• Financial Liabilities measured at amortised cost

Financial instruments have been disaggregated into the following classes:

• Financial Assets
• Cash and cash equivalents
• Receivables
• Other financial assets

• Financial Liabilities
• Payables

Initial recognition and measurement of financial instruments is at fair value 
which normally equates to the transaction cost or the face value. Subsequent 
measurement is at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

The fair value of short-term receivables and payables is the transaction cost 
or the face value because there is no interest rate applicable and subsequent 
measurement is not required as the effect of discounting is not material.

(k) Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalent assets 
comprise cash on hand and short-term deposits with original maturities of three 
months or less that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and which 
are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value.

The Authority also has long-term deposits classified as Other Assets with original 
maturities of twelve months and over which are subject to insignificant risk of 
changes in value.

(l) Accrued salaries
Accrued salaries (see note 30 ‘Payables’) represent the amount due to staff but 
unpaid at the end of the financial year. Accrued salaries are settled within a fortnight 
of the reporting period end. The Authority considers the carrying amount of 
accrued salaries to be equivalent to its net fair value.
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(m) Inventories
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs are 
assigned by the weighted average cost method.

Inventories not held for resale are measured at cost unless they are no longer 
required, in which case they are measured at net realisable value.

(n) Receivables
Receivables are recognised at original invoice amount less an allowance for any 
uncollectible amounts (i.e. impairment). The collectability of receivables is reviewed 
on an ongoing basis and any receivables identified as uncollectible are written-off 
against the allowance account. The allowance for uncollectible amounts (doubtful 
debts) is raised when there is objective evidence that the Authority will not be able 
to collect the debts. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value as it is due for 
settlement within 30 days. 

(o) Payables
Payables are recognised at the amounts payable when the Authority becomes 
obliged to make future payments as a result of a purchase of assets or services.  
The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value, as settlement is generally within  
30 days. 

(p) Borrowings
All loans payable are initially recognised at fair value, being the net proceeds 
received. Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost using the effective interest 
rate method. 

(q) Provisions
Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing or amount and are recognised where 
there is a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event and 
when the outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is probable and 
a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are 
reviewed at the end of each reporting period.

PROVISIONS – EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

All annual leave and long service leave provisions are in respect of employees’ 
services up to the end of the reporting period.

Annual leave 

Annual leave is not expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of 
the reporting period and is therefore considered to be ‘other long-term employee 
benefits’. The annual leave liability is recognised and measured at the present 
value of amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled using the 
remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement.

When assessing expected future payments consideration is given to expected 
future wage and salary levels including non-salary components such as employer 
superannuation contributions as well as the experience of employee departures 
and periods of service. The expected future payments are discounted using market 
yields at the end of the reporting period on national government bonds with terms 
to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows. 

The provision for annual leave is classified as a current liability as the Authority 
does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 
12 months after the end of the reporting period.

Long service leave

Long service leave is not expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after 
the end of the reporting period and is therefore recognised and measured at the 
present value of amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled using 
the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement.

When assessing expected future payments consideration is given to expected 
future wage and salary levels including nonsalary components such as employer 
superannuation contributions, as well as the experience of employee departures 
and periods of service. The expected future payments are discounted using market 
yields at the end of the reporting period on national government bonds with terms 
to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.
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Unconditional long service leave provisions are classified as current liabilities as the 
Authority does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability 
for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period. Pre-conditional and 
conditional long service leave provisions are classified as non-current liabilities 
because the Authority has an unconditional right to defer the settlement of the 
liability until the employee has completed the requisite years of service.

Sick leave

Liabilities for sick leave are recognised when it is probable that sick leave paid in the 
future will be greater than the entitlement that will accrue in the future.

Past history indicates that on average, sick leave taken each reporting period is 
less than the entitlement accrued. This is expected to continue in future periods. 
Accordingly, it is unlikely that existing accumulated entitlements will be used by 
employees and no liability for unused sick leave entitlements is recognised. As sick 
leave is non-vesting, an expense is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income for this leave as it is taken.

Deferred leave

The provision for deferred leave relates to Public Service employees who have 
entered into an agreement to self-fund an additional 12 months leave in the fifth 
year of the agreement. The provision recognises the value of salary set aside for 
employees to be used in the fifth year. This liability is measured on the same basis 
as annual leave. Deferred leave is reported as a current provision as employees can 
leave the scheme at their discretion at any time.

Purchased leave

The provision for purchased leave relates to Public Service employees who have 
entered into an agreement to self-fund up to additional 10 weeks leave per calendar 
year. The provision recognises the value of salary set aside for employees and is 
measured at the undiscounted amounts expected to be paid when liabilities  
are settled. 

Time in lieu

The flexible working hours provisions of the Authority’s enterprise bargaining 
agreement introduced the concept of annualised hours. At the end of the 
settlement period, when actual hours worked exceed the average aggregate 
ordinary hours, the employee will be paid for the excess hours, or the employee will 
take time in lieu at a mutually agreed time.

Superannuation

The Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB) and other fund 
providers administer public sector superannuation arrangements in Western 
Australia in accordance with legislative requirements. Eligibility criteria for 
membership in particular schemes for public sector employees vary according to 
commencement and implementation dates.

Eligible employees contribute to the Pension Scheme, a defined benefit pension scheme 
closed to new members since 1987, or the Gold State Superannuation Scheme (GSS),  
a defined benefit lump sum scheme closed to new members since 1995.

Employees commencing employment prior to 16 April 2007 who were not members 
of either the Pension Scheme or the GSS became non-contributory members of the 
West State Superannuation Scheme (WSS). Employees commencing employment 
on or after 16 April 2007 became members of the GESB Super Scheme (GESBS). 
From 30 March 2012, existing members of the WSS or GESBS and new employees 
have been able to choose their preferred superannuation fund provider. The 
Authority makes contributions to GESB or other fund providers on behalf of 
employees in compliance with the Commonwealth Government’s Superannuation 
Guarantee (Administration) Act 1992. Contributions to these accumulation 
schemes extinguish the Authority’s liability for superannuation charges in respect 
of employees who are not members of the Pension Scheme or GSS.

The Pension Scheme and the pre-transfer benefit for employees who transferred to 
the GSS are defined benefit schemes. These benefits are wholly unfunded and the 
liabilities for future payments are provided at the end of the reporting period. The 
liabilities under these schemes have been calculated separately for each scheme 
annually by Mercer Actuaries using the projected unit credit method.
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The expected future payments are discounted to present value using market yields 
at the end of the reporting period on national government bonds with terms to 
maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

The GSS, the WSS, and the GESBS, where the current service superannuation 
charge is paid by the Authority to the GESB, are defined contribution schemes.  
The liabilities for current service superannuation charges under the GSS, the 
WSS, and the GESBS are extinguished by the concurrent payment of employer 
contributions to the GESB.

The GSS is a defined benefit scheme for the purposes of employees and 
wholeofgovernment reporting. However, from an agency perspective, apart from  
the pre-transfer benefits, it is a defined contribution plan under AASB 119. 

PROVISIONS – OTHER

Employment On-Costs

Employment on-costs, including workers’ compensation insurance, are not 
employee benefits and are recognised separately as liabilities and expenses when 
the employment to which they relate has occurred. Employment on-costs are 
included as part of ‘Other expenses’ and are not included as part of the Authority’s 
‘Employee benefits expense’. The related liability is included in ‘Employment  
on-costs provision’. 

(r) Superannuation expense
Superannuation expense is recognised in the profit or loss of the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income and comprises employer contributions paid to the GSS 
(concurrent contributions), WSS, the GESBS, and other superannuation funds.

(s) Assets and services received free of charge or for nominal cost
Assets or services received free of charge or for nominal cost that the Authority 
would otherwise purchase if not donated, are recognised as income at the fair value 
of the assets or services where they can be reliably measured. A corresponding 
expense is recognised for services received. Receipts of assets are recognised in 
the Statement of Financial Position.

Assets or services received from other State Government agencies are 
separately disclosed under Income from State Government in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income.

(t) Comparative figures
Comparative figures are, where appropriate, reclassified to be comparable with the 
figures presented in the current financial year.

Note 3.  Judgements made by management in 
applying accounting policies
The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements 
about the application of accounting policies that have a significant effect on the 
amounts recognised in the financial statements. The Authority evaluates these 
judgements regularly.

Operating lease commitments
The Authority has entered into a lease for ICT computer equipment and a lease for 
office buildings. It has been determined that the lessors retain substantially all the 
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of these computers and office buildings. 
Accordingly, these leases have been classified as operating leases.

Note 4.  Key sources of estimation uncertainty
Key estimates and assumptions concerning the future are based on historical 
experience and various other factors that have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the next  
reporting period.

Estimated Depreciated Replacement Cost
This methodology for the valuation of assets is considered the most appropriate for 
Rottnest Island as it is an ‘A’ Class Reserve which cannot readily be transacted and 
therefore, there is no market evidence, ruling out market valuation type methodologies. 
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The buildings were accounted for by determining their depreciated replacement cost 
(DRC) via assessments undertaken by Landgate under the Valuation of Land Act 
1978 and in accordance with the Valuer General’s Government Asset Valuation Policy 
7.101 – measurement of asset values. The DRC technique estimates the current cost 
of reproduction or replacement of the buildings, on its current site, less deduction for 
physical deterioration and all relevant forms of obsolescence and optimisation. When 
assessing the value of land and improvements occupied by an entity, the assessment 
of the land component can have regard to the highest and best use of the land but 
the socio-political, legal, physical and economic restrictions affecting the properties 
ability to realise that potential and the economic constraint imposed on that use by 
the existing improvements is also taken into account. Consequently, some uncertainty 
exists as to the accuracy of its depreciation rates in respect of buildings.

Long Service Leave
Several estimations and assumptions used in calculating the Authority’s long service 
leave provision include expected future salary rates, discount rates, employee retention 
rates and expected future payments. Changes in these estimations and assumptions 
may impact on the carrying amount of the long service leave provision.

Note 5.  Disclosure of changes in accounting policy 
and estimates
Initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard
The authority has applied the following Australian Accounting Standards effective, or 
adopted, for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2016 that impacted 
on the Authority.

AASB 1057 APPLICATION OF AUSTRALIAN ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

This Standard lists the application paragraphs for each other 
Standard (and Interpretation), grouped where they are the same. 
There is no financial impact.

AASB 2014-3 AMENDMENTS TO AUSTRALIAN ACCOUNTING STANDARDS   
ACCOUNTING FOR ACQUISITIONS OF INTERESTS IN JOINT 
OPERATIONS [AASB 1 & 11]

The Authority establishes Joint Operations in pursuit of its 
objectives and does not routinely acquire interests in Joint 
Operations. Therefore, there is no financial impact on application of 
the Standard.

AASB 2014-4 AMENDMENTS TO AUSTRALIAN ACCOUNTING 
STANDARDS  CLARIFICATION OF ACCEPTABLE METHODS OF 
DEPRECIATION AND AMORTISATION [AASB 116 & 138]

The adoption of this Standard has no financial impact for the 
Authority as depreciation and amortisation is not determined by 
reference to revenue generation, but by reference to consumption of 
future economic benefits.

AASB 2014-9 AMENDMENTS TO AUSTRALIAN ACCOUNTING 
STANDARDS  EQUITY METHOD IN SEPARATE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS [AASB 1, 127 & 128]

This Standard amends AASB 127, and consequentially amends 
AASB 1 and AASB 128, to allow entities to use the equity method 
of accounting for investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and 
associates in their separate financial statements. As the Authority 
has no joint ventures and associates, the application of the Standard 
has no financial impact.
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AASB 2015-1 AMENDMENTS TO AUSTRALIAN ACCOUNTING STANDARDS 
ANNUAL IMPROVEMENTS TO AUSTRALIAN ACCOUNTING 
STANDARDS 20122014 CYCLE [AASB 1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 11, 110, 119, 121, 
133, 134, 137 & 140]

These amendments arise from the issuance of International 
Financial Reporting Standard Annual Improvements to 
IFRSs 20122014 Cycle in September 2014, and editorial corrections. 
The Authority has determined that the application of the Standard 
has no financial impact.

AASB 2015-2 AMENDMENTS TO AUSTRALIAN ACCOUNTING 
STANDARDS  DISCLOSURE INITIATIVE: AMENDMENTS TO AASB 101 
[AASB 7, 101, 134 & 1049]

This Standard amends AASB 101 to provide clarification regarding 
the disclosure requirements in AASB 101. Specifically, the Standard 
proposes narrow-focus amendments to address some of the 
concerns expressed about existing presentation and disclosure 
requirements and to ensure entities are able to use judgement when 
applying a Standard in determining what information to disclose in 
their financial statements. There is no financial impact.

AASB 2015-6 AMENDMENTS TO AUSTRALIAN ACCOUNTING 
STANDARDS  EXTENDING RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES TO NOT-
FOR-PROFIT PUBLIC SECTOR ENTITIES [AASB 10, 124 & 1049]

The amendments extend the scope of AASB 124 to include 
application by not-for-profit public sector entities. Implementation 
guidance is included to assist application of the Standard by not-for-
profit public sector entities. There is no financial impact.

AASB 2015-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards Effective Date of 
Amendments to AASB 10 & 128

This Standard defers the mandatory effective date (application 
date) of amendments to AASB 10 & AASB 128 that were originally 
made in AASB 201410 so that the amendments are required to  
be applied for annual reporting periods beginning on or  
after 1 January 2018 instead of 1 January 2016. There is no  
financial impact.

Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative
The Authority cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically 
permitted by TI 1101 Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other 
Pronouncements or by an exemption from TI 1101. By virtue of a limited exemption, 
the Authority has early adopted AASB 20157 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Fair Value Disclosures of Not-for-Profit Public Sector Entities. Where 
applicable, the Authority plans to apply the following Australian Accounting Standards 
from their application date.

Operative 
for reporting 

periods 
beginning 
on/after

AASB 9 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 1 Jan 2018

This Standard supersedes AASB 139 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, 
introducing a number of changes to accounting 
treatments.

The mandatory application date of this Standard 
was amended to 1 January 2018 by AASB 20141 
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards. 
The Authority has not yet determined the application 
or the potential impact of the Standard.

AASB 15 REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS 1 Jan 2019

This Standard establishes the principles that the 
Authority shall apply to report useful information 
to users of financial statements about the nature, 
amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash 
flows arising from a contract with a customer. The 
Authority has not yet determined the application or 
the potential impact of the Standard.
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on/after

AASB 16 LEASES 1 Jan 2019

This Standard introduces a single lessee accounting 
model and requires a lessee to recognise assets 
and liabilities for all leases with a term of more than 
12 months, unless the underlying asset is of low 
value. The Authority has not yet determined the 
application or the potential impact of the Standard.

AASB 1058 INCOME OF NOT-FOR-PROFIT ENTITIES 1 Jan 2019

This Standard clarifies and simplifies the 
income recognition requirements that apply to 
notforprofit (NFP) entities, more closely reflecting 
the economic reality of NFP entity transactions 
that are not contracts with customers. Timing of 
income recognition is dependent on whether such a 
transaction gives rise to a liability, or a performance 
obligation (a promise to transfer a good or service), 
or, an obligation to acquire an asset. The Authority 
has not yet determined the application or the 
potential impact of the Standard.

AASB 2010-7 AMENDMENTS TO AUSTRALIAN ACCOUNTING 
STANDARDS ARISING FROM AASB 9 
(DECEMBER 2010) [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 
112, 118, 120, 121, 127, 128, 131, 132, 136, 137, 139, 
1023 & 1038 AND INT 2, 5, 10, 12, 19 & 127]

1 Jan 2018

This Standard makes consequential amendments 
to other Australian Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations as a result of issuing AASB 9 in 
December 2010.

The mandatory application date of this Standard 
has been amended by AASB 20126 and AASB 20141 
to 1 January 2018. The Authority has not yet 
determined the application or the potential impact 
of the Standard.

Operative 
for reporting 

periods 
beginning 
on/after

AASB 2014-1 AMENDMENTS TO AUSTRALIAN ACCOUNTING 
STANDARDS

1 Jan 2018

Part E of this Standard makes amendments to 
AASB 9 and consequential amendments to other 
Standards. It has not yet been assessed by the 
Authority to determine the application or potential 
impact of the Standard.

AASB 2014-5 AMENDMENTS TO AUSTRALIAN ACCOUNTING 
STANDARDS ARISING FROM AASB 15

1 Jan 2018

This Standard gives effect to the consequential 
amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
(including Interpretations) arising from the issuance 
of AASB 15. The Authority has not yet determined the 
application or the potential impact of the Standard.

AASB 2014-7 AMENDMENTS TO AUSTRALIAN ACCOUNTING 
STANDARDS ARISING FROM AASB 9  
(DECEMBER 2014)

1 Jan 2018

This Standard gives effect to the consequential 
amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
(including Interpretations) arising from the issuance 
of AASB 9 (December 2014). The Authority has 
not yet determined the application or the potential 
impact of the Standard.



Rottnest Island Authority | Annual Report 2016/17 

99Contents |  About this report |  Agency in focus |  Report on operations |  Opportunities & challenges |  Disclosures & legal compliance |  Financial statements & key performance indicators

Notes to the financial statements  FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017

Operative 
for reporting 
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AASB 2014-10 AMENDMENTS TO AUSTRALIAN ACCOUNTING 
STANDARDS – SALE OR CONTRIBUTION OF 
ASSETS BETWEEN AN INVESTOR AND ITS 
ASSOCIATE OR JOINT VENTURE [AASB 10 & 128]

1 Jan 2018

This Standard amends AASB 10 and AASB 128 to 
address an inconsistency between the requirements 
in AASB 10 and those in AASB 128 (August 2011), 
in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets 
between an investor and its associate or joint venture. 
The mandatory effective date (application date) for 
the Standard has been deferred to 1 January 2018 by 
AASB 201510. The Authority has determined that the 
Standard has no financial impact.

AASB 2015-8 AMENDMENTS TO AUSTRALIAN ACCOUNTING 
STANDARDS – EFFECTIVE DATE OF AASB 15

1 Jan 2019

This Standard amends the mandatory effective 
date (application date) of AASB 15 Revenue from 
Contracts with Customers so that AASB 15 is 
required to be applied for annual reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2018 instead 
of 1 January 2017. For NotForProfit entities, the 
mandatory effective date has subsequently been 
amended to 1 January 2019 by AASB 20167. The 
Authority has not yet determined the application or 
the potential impact of AASB 15.

AASB 2016-2 AMENDMENTS TO AUSTRALIAN ACCOUNTING 
STANDARDS – DISCLOSURE INITIATIVE: 
AMENDMENTS TO AASB 107

1 Jan 2017

This Standard amends AASB 107 Statement of Cash 
Flows (August 2015) to require disclosures that 
enable users of financial statements to evaluate 
changes in liabilities arising from financing activities, 
including both changes arising from cash flows and 
non-cash changes. There is no financial impact.

Operative 
for reporting 

periods 
beginning 
on/after

AASB 2016-3 AMENDMENTS TO AUSTRALIAN ACCOUNTING 
STANDARDS – CLARIFICATIONS TO AASB 15

1 Jan 2018

This Standard clarifies identifying performance 
obligations, principal versus agent considerations, 
timing of recognising revenue from granting a 
licence, and, provides further transitional provisions 
to AASB 15. The Authority has not yet determined 
the application or the potential impact.

AASB 2016-4 AMENDMENTS TO AUSTRALIAN ACCOUNTING 
STANDARDS – RECOVERABLE AMOUNT OF NON-
CASH-GENERATING SPECIALISED ASSETS OF NOT-
FOR-PROFIT ENTITIES

1 Jan 2017

This Standard clarifies that the recoverable amount 
of primarily non-cash-generating assets of not-
for-profit entities, which are typically specialised in 
nature and held for continuing use of their service 
capacity, is expected to be materially the same 
as fair value determined under AASB 13 Fair Value 
Measurement. The Authority has not yet determined 
the application or the potential impact.

AASB 2016-7 AMENDMENTS TO AUSTRALIAN ACCOUNTING 
STANDARDS  DEFERRAL OF AASB 15 FOR 
NOTFORPROFIT ENTITIES

1 Jan 2017

This Standard amends the mandatory effective 
date (application date) of AASB 15 and defers the 
consequential amendments that were originally 
set out in AASB 20145 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards arising from AASB 15 for 
notforprofit entities to annual reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2019, instead of 
1 January 2018. There is no financial impact.
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AASB 2016-8 AMENDMENTS TO AUSTRALIAN ACCOUNTING 
STANDARDS  AUSTRALIAN IMPLEMENTATION 
GUIDANCE FOR NOTFORPROFIT ENTITIES

1 Jan 2019

This Standard inserts Australian requirements 
and authoritative implementation guidance for 
notforprofit entities into AASB 9 and AASB 15. This 
guidance assists not-for-profit entities in applying 
those Standards to particular transactions and other 
events. There is no financial impact.

AASB 2017-2 AMENDMENTS TO AUSTRALIAN ACCOUNTING 
STANDARDS  FURTHER ANNUAL IMPROVEMENTS 
20142016 CYCLE

1 Jan 2017

This Standard clarifies the scope of AASB 12 by 
specifying that the disclosure requirements apply 
to an entity’s interests in other entities that are 
classified as held for sale, held for distribution to 
owners in their capacity as owners or discontinued 
operations in accordance with AASB 5. There is no 
financial impact.

Note 6.  Employee benefits expense
2017
$000

2016
$000

Wages and salaries (a) 9,462 9,346

Superannuation - defined contribution plans (b) 808 752

Superannuation - defined benefit plans 90 70

10,360 10,168

(a) Includes the value of the fringe benefit to the employee plus the fringe benefits tax component, leave 
entitlements including superannuation contribution component.

(b) Defined contribution plans include West State, Gold State , GESB Super Scheme and other eligible funds.

Employment on-costs expenses, such as workers’ compensation insurance and payroll 
tax are included at note 12 ‘Other Expenses’. 

Employment on-costs liability is included at note 31 ‘Provisions’.

Note 7.  Compensation of Key Management Personnel
The Authority has determined that key management personnel include the responsible 
Minister, members of the accountable authority and senior officers of the Authority. 
However, the Authority is not obligated to compensate Ministers and therefore 
disclosures in relation to Ministers’ compensation may be found in the Annual Report  
on State Finances.

Total compensation for key management personnel, comprising members and senior 
officers, of the Authority for the reporting period are presented within the following bands:

Compensation of members of accountable authority
Compensation Band ($) 2017 2016

30,001 - 40,000 1 1

10,001 - 20,000 5 4

1 - 10,000 1 2

No members of the Accountable Authority are members of the Pension Scheme.
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Compensation of senior officers
Compensation Bands ($) 2017 2016

280,001 - 290,000 - 1

210,001 - 220,000 1 -

200,001 - 210,000 - 1

190,001 - 200,000 - 1

170,001 - 180,000 - 1

160,001 - 170,000 1 -

150,001 - 160,000 1 1

130,001 - 140,000 1 -

120,001 - 130,000 1 -

60,001 - 70,000 1 -

40,001 - 50,000 2 -

$000 $000

Short term employee benefits 889 939

Post employment benefits 92 91

Other long term benefits 81 94

Total Compensation of key management personnel 1,062 1,024

No senior officers are members of the Pension Scheme.

Note 8.  Supplies and services
2017
$000

2016
$000

Contractors – Facilities Operations and Utilities 12,264 12,082

Contractors – Housekeeping 2,056 1,801

Contractors – Other 1,826 2,105

Administration expense 2,012 1,987

2017
$000

2016
$000

Other Staffing Costs 437 455

Repairs and maintenance – Roofing Project 1,078 4,453

Repairs and maintenance – Other 1,821 2,115

Vehicle leasing 63 57

IT system development 28 166

Marketing expenses 749 895

Other supplies & services costs 576 457

22,910 26,573

Note 9.  Depreciation and amortisation expense
2017
$000

2016
$000

Depreciation

Buildings 1,979 1,895

Computers and electronic equipment 250 259

Furniture 875 656

Plant and vehicles 427 308

Leasehold improvements 20 20

Infrastructure 1,323 1,195

Total depreciation 4,874 4,333

Amortisation

Intangible assets 312 311

Total amortisation 312 311

Total depreciation and amortisation 5,186 4,644
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Note 10.  Finance costs
2017
$000

2016
$000

Bank Charges 295 263

295 263

Note 11.  Accommodation expenses
2017
$000

2016
$000

Lease rentals 280 352

Cleaning 49 46

Other accommodation expenses 40 46

369 444

Note 12.  Other expenses
2017
$000

2016
$000

Furniture, fittings and equipment maintenance 92 163

Doubtful debts expense (28) 30

Employment on-costs (a) 624 680

Research and development 53 84

Donations 29 33

Audit fees 167 102

937 1,092

(a) Includes workers’ compensation insurance and payroll tax employment on-costs. The on-costs liability 
associated with the recognition of annual and long service leave liability is included at note 31 ‘Provisions’. 
Superannuation contributions accrued as part of the provision for leave are employee benefits and are not 

included in employment on-costs.

Note 13.  Related Party Transactions
The Authority is a wholly –owned public Sector entity that is controlled by the State of 
Western Australia. In conducting its activities, the Authority is required to pay various 
taxes and levies based on the standard terms and conditions that apply to all tax and 
levy payers to the State and entities related to State.

Related parties of the Authority include:

• all ministers and their close family members, and their controlled or jointly 
controlled entities;

• all members of the accountable authority, senior officers and their close family 
members, and their controlled or jointly controlled entities;

• other departments and public sector entities, including related bodies that are 
included in the whole of government consolidated financial statements;

• associates and joint ventures of an entity that are included in the whole of 
Government consolidated financial statements; and

• the Government Employees Superannuation Board(GESB).

Significant transactions with Government-related entities
Significant transactions include:

• service appropriation (Note 20)
• superannuation payment to GESB (Note 6)
• lease rental payments to Fremantle Ports (Note 11)
• remuneration for services provided by the Auditor General (Note 40)
• services received free of charge from State Solicitor’s Office (Note 20)
• commitments for future lease payments to Fremantle Ports (Note 35)

Material transactions with related parties
The Authority had no material related party transactions with the responsible Minister/
key management personnel or their close family members or their controlled (or jointly 
controlled) entities for disclosure.
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Note 14.  Trading profit
2017
$000

2016
$000

Sales 535 493

Cost of Sales:

Opening Inventory (33) (28)

Purchases (428) (403)

(461) (431)

Closing Inventory 27 33

Cost of Goods Sold (434) (398)

Trading profit 101 95

Note 15.  Provision of services
2017
$000

2016
$000

Accommodation charges 17,307 16,557

Facilities and tours 3,548 3,345

Admission fees 7,465 6,882

Lease and licence income 4,315 4,162

Utility charges 1,515 1,481

Housing rentals 594 626

34,744 33,053

Note 16.  Grants and contribution
2017
$000

2016
$000

Commonwealth Grants 3,661 -

Western Australia Police - 12

Disability Services Commission - 100

3,661 112

Note 17.  Interest revenue
2017
$000

2016
$000

Interest revenue 616 806

616 806

Interest revenue is sourced from cash and cash equivalents and other financial assets 
invested in interest bearing accounts.

Note 18.  Net gain/(loss) on disposal of  
non-current assets

2017
$000

2016
$000

Net proceeds from disposal of non-current assets

Plant, vehicles and furniture - -

Carrying amount of non-current assets disposal

Plant, vehicles and furniture (341) (233)

Net gain/(loss) (341) (233)

Note 19.  Other revenue
2017
$000

2016
$000

Insurance Claims, fines and etc.

Non-Government grants 281 308

345 73

626 381
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Note 20.  Income from State Government
2017
$000

2016
$000

Appropriation received during the period:

Service appropriation (a) 8,652 11,355

8,652 11,355

Services received free of charge from other State 
government agencies during the period:

State Solicitors Office 38 35

38 35

8,690 11,390

(a) Service appropriations fund the net cost of services delivered. Appropriation revenue comprises  

a cash component.

Note 21.  Inventories
2017
$000

2016
$000

Current

Inventories held for resale

Visitors Centre Stock 20 27

Bike stock 7 6

27 33

Inventories not held for resale

Materials 8 8

Fuels 158 131

166 139

Total Current 193 172

Note 22.  Receivables
2017
$000

2016
$000

Current

Receivables 547 606

GST receivable 417 785

Interest receivable 287 371

Other receivables 61 75

1,312 1,837

Allowance for impairment of receivables (9) (69)

Total current 1,303 1,768

Non-current

Accrued Revenue 136 131

Total non-current 136 131

Reconciliation of changes in the allowance for impairment of receivables

Balance at the start of period 69 99

Doubtful debts expense (28) 30

Amounts written off during the period (32) (60)

Balance at the end of period 9 69

The Authority does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements as security  
for receivables.
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Note 23.  Other financial assets
2017
$000

2016
$000

Current

Term deposits 12,850 15,750

Total current 12,850 15,750

Non-current

Term deposits 6,000 2,250

Total non-current 6,000 2,250

Note 24.  Other assets
2017
$000

2016
$000

Current

Prepayments 97 119

Total current 97 119

Note 25.  Property, plant and equipment 
2017
$000

2016
$000

Land 

At fair value (i) 135,000 135,377

135,000 135,377

Buildings

At fair value (i) 78,303 81,218

Accumulated depreciation (5) -

78,298 81,218

2017
$000

2016
$000

Computers and electronic equipment 

At cost 1,594 1,661

Accumulated depreciation (1,512) (1,336)

82 325

Furniture

At cost 6,787 5,122

Accumulated depreciation (4,647) (3,880)

2,140 1,242

Plant and Vehicles (excl leased vehicles)

At cost 5,262 5,032

Accumulated depreciation (4,187) (4,179)

1,075 853

Leasehold Improvements 

At cost 278 318

Accumulated depreciation (201) (222)

77 96

Works of art

At cost 47 26

47 26

Work in progress

At cost 6,978 8,214

6,978 8,214

223,697 227,351

(i) Land and Buildings were re-valued as at 1 July 2016 by the Western Australian Land Information Authority 
(Valuation Services).The fair value of buildings was determined on the basis of depreciated replacement cost 
and fair value of land was determined on the basis of comparison with market evidence for land with low 
level utility (high restricted use land). Refer note 2(f) ‘Property, Plant, Equipment and Infrastructure’.  
The valuations were performed during the year ended 30 June 2017 and recognised at 30 June 2017.
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Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment at the beginning and end of the reporting period are set in the table below.

Land 
$000 

Buildings 
$000 

Computers 
and electronic 

equipment 
$000 

Furniture 
$000 

Plant and 
vehicles 

$000 

Leasehold 
improvements 

$000 
Works of art 

$000 

Work in 
progress 

$000 
Total 
$000

2017

Carrying amount at start of period 135,377 81,218 325 1,242 853 96 26 8,214 227,351

Additions - - - - - - - 10,427 10,427

Transfers (a) 67 1,227 7 1,774 737 - 21 (11,663) (7,830)

Other disposals - (216) - (1) (3) - - - (220)

Adjustments - - - - (85) 1 - - (84)

Classified as held for sale - - - - - - - - -

Revaluation increments (decrements) (444) (1,952) - - - - - - (2,396)

Depreciation - (1,979) (250) (875) (427) (20) - - (3,551)

Carrying amount at end of period 135,000 78,298 82 2,140 1,075 77 47 6,978 223,697

Land 
$000 

Buildings 
$000 

Computers 
and electronic 

equipment 
$000 

Furniture 
$000 

Plant and 
vehicles 

$000 

Leasehold 
improvements 

$000 
Works of art 

$000 

Work in 
progress 

$000 
Total 
$000

2016

Carrying amount at start of period 129,067 80,779 472 1,606 596 89 26 2,525 215,160

Additions - - - - - - - 9,405 9,405

Transfers (a) - 13 110 277 556 27 - (3,859) (2,876)

Other disposals - (215) - - - - - - (215)

Adjustments - (8) 2 15 9 - - 143 161

Classified as held for sale - - - - - - - - -

Revaluation increments (decrements) 6,310 2,544 - - - - - - 8,854

Depreciation - (1,895) (259) (656) (308) (20) - - (3,138)

Carrying amount at end of period 135,377 81,218 325 1,242 853 96 26 8,214 227,351
 
(a) The rest of the balance has been transferred to infrastructure and intangible assets.
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Note 26. Infrastructure
2017
$000

2016
$000

At fair value 39,795 31,941

Accumulated Depreciation (7,147) (5,751)

32,648 26,190

The revaluation of infrastructure was conducted in June 2015 and was performed  
in accordance with an independent valuation by Griffin Valuation Advisory.  
The effective date of the valuation was 30 June 2015.

Fair value was determined on the basis of depreciated replacement cost.

2017
$000

2016
$000

Reconciliation

Carrying amount at start of period 26,190 24,638

Transfers from work in progress 7,816 2,776

Revaluation Decrements - (18)

Adjustments 87 7

Disposals (122) (18)

Depreciation expense (1,323) (1,195)

Carrying amount at end of period 32,648 26,190

Note 27. Fair Value Measurements

Assets measured at fair value
Level 1
$000

Level 2
$000

Level 3
$000

Fair Value
At end of 

period
$000

2017

Land (Note 25) - - 135,000 135,000

Buildings (Note 25) - - 78,298 78,298

Infrastructure (Note 26) - - 32,648 32,648

- - 245,946 245,946

Assets measured at fair value
Level 1
$000

Level 2
$000

Level 3
$000

Fair Value
At end of 

period
$000

2016

Land (Note 25) - - 135,377 135,377

Buildings (Note 25) - - 81,218 81,218

Infrastructure (Note 26) - - 26,190 26,190

- - 242,785 242,785

There were no transfers between Levels 1, 2 or 3 during the current  
and previous periods. 
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Fair value measurements using significant 
unobservable inputs (Level 3)

Land
$000

Buildings
$000

Infra- 
structure

$000

2017

Fair Value at Start of Period 135,377 81,218 26,190

Transfers from work in progress 67 1,227 7,816

Adjustments - - 87

Revaluation increments / (decrements) 
recognised in Other Comprehensive Income (444) (1,952) -

Disposals - (216) (122)

Depreciation Expense - (1,979) (1,323)

Fair Value at end of period 135,000 78,298 32,648

Total gains or losses for the period included in 
profit or loss, under “Other Gains” - - -

Fair value measurements using significant 
unobservable inputs (Level 3)

Land
$000

Buildings
$000

Infra- 
structure

$000

2016

Fair Value at Start of Period 129,067 80,779 24,638

Transfers from work in progress - 13 2,776

Adjustments - (8) 7

Revaluation increments / (decrements) 
recognised in Other Comprehensive Income 6,310 2,544 (18)

Disposals - (215) (18)

Depreciation Expense - (1,895) (1,195)

Fair Value at end of period 135,377 81,218 26,190

Total gains or losses for the period included in 
profit or loss, under “Other Gains” - - -

Valuation Processes
There were no changes in valuation techniques during the period.

Transfers in and out of a fair value level are recognised on the date of the event or 
change in circumstances that caused the transfer. Transfers are generally limited to 
assets newly classified as non-current assets held for sale as Treasurer’s instructions 
require valuations of land, buildings and infrastructure to be categorised within Level 3 
where the valuations will utilise significant Level 3 inputs on a recurring basis. 

Land (Level 3 fair values)

Fair value for restricted use land is based on comparison with market evidence for land 
with low level utility (high restricted use land). The relevant comparators of land with low 
level utility is selected by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation 
Services) and represents the application of a significant Level 3 input in this valuation 
methodology. The fair value measurement is sensitive to values of comparator land, with 
higher values of comparator land correlating with higher estimated fair values of land. 

Buildings and Infrastructure (Level 3 fair values)

Fair value for existing use specialised buildings and infrastructure assets is determined 
by reference to the cost of replacing the remaining future economic benefits embodied 
in the asset, i.e. the depreciated replacement cost. Depreciated replacement cost is 
the current replacement cost of an asset less accumulated depreciation calculated on 
the basis of such cost to reflect the already consumed or expired economic benefit, or 
obsolescence, and optimisation (where applicable) of the asset. Current replacement 
cost is generally determined by reference to the market observable replacement cost of 
a substitute asset of comparable utility and the gross project size specifications.

Valuation using depreciation replacement cost utilises the significant Level 3 input, 
consumed economic benefit/obsolescence of asset which is estimated by the Western 
Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation Services). The fair value measurement 
is sensitive to the estimate of consumption/obsolescence, with higher values of the 
estimate correlating with lower estimated fair values of buildings and infrastructure.
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Basis of Valuation
In the absence of market-based evidence, due to the specialised nature of some 
nonfinancial assets, these assets are valued at Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy on 
an existing use basis. The existing use basis recognises that restrictions or limitations 
have been placed on their use and disposal when they are not determined to be surplus 
to requirements. These restrictions are imposed by virtue of the assets being held to 
deliver a specific community service.

Description

Fair value 
2017
$000

Fair value
2016
$000

Valuation
technique(s)

Unobservable
inputs

Land $135,000 $135,377
Market 
Approach

Selection of land with 
similar approximate 
utility

Buildings $78,298 $81,218

Depreciated 
Replacement 
Cost

Consumed economic 
benefit / Obsolescence 
of asset

Infrastructure $32,648 $26,190

Depreciated 
Replacement 
Cost

Consumed economic 
benefit / Obsolescence 
of asset

Note 28.  Intangible assets
2017
$000

2016
$000

Right to Receive the Rottnest Dome Building 778 778

Computer software at cost 2,668 2,891

Accumulated amortisation (2,081) (2,006)

1,365 1,663

Reconciliation

Carrying amount at start of period 1,663 1874

Transfers from work in progress 14 100

Disposals - -

Adjustments - -

Amortisation expense (312) (311)

Carrying amount at end of period 1,365 1,663

Note 29.  Impairment of assets
There were no indications of impairment to Property, plant, equipment and vehicles, 
Infrastructure or Intangible assets at 30 June 2017. 

The Authority held no goodwill or intangible assets with an indefinite useful life during 
the reporting period. At the end of the reporting period other than the right to receive 
the Rottnest Dome building, there were no intangible assets not yet available for use.

Note 30.  Payables
2017
$000

2016
$000

Trade payables 6,498 10,336

Accrued expenses 49 53

Accrued salaries 272 296

6,819 10,685
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Note 31.  Provisions
2017
$000

2016
$000

Current

Employee benefits provision

Annual leave (a) 667 838

Long service leave (b) 666 807

Time in lieu 60 50

Superannuation (d) 144 160

Leave purchase 14 7

1,551 1,862

Other provisions

Employment on-costs (c) 146 147

Sinking fund provision 23 14

169 161

1,720 2,023

Non-current

Employee benefits provision

Long service leave (b) 368 348

Super provision – long term 35 33

Superannuation (d) 233 240

636 621

Other provisions

Employment on-costs (c) 41 31

41 31

677 652

(a) Annual leave liabilities have been classified as current where there is no 
unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the 
reporting period. Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities is 
expected to occur as follows:

2017
$000

2016
$000

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period 469 550

More than 12 months after the end of the  
reporting period 198 288

667 838

(b) Long service leave liabilities have been classified as current where there is no 
unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the 
reporting period. Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities is 
expected to occur as follows:

2017
$000

2016
$000

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period 269 357

More than 12 months after the end of the  
reporting period 765 798

1,034 1,155

(c) The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities gives rise to the payment 
of employment on-costs including workers’ compensation insurance. The provision 
is the present value of expected future payments. The associated expense, apart 
from the unwinding of the discount (finance cost), is disclosed in note 12  
‘Other Expenses’.
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(d) Defined benefit superannuation plans

Pension Scheme

Pre-transfer benefit -
Gold State

Superannuation
Scheme

2017
$000

2016
$000

2017
$000

2016
$000

The amounts recognised in the 
Statement of Comprehensive 
Income are as follows:

Current service cost - - - -

Interest cost (unwinding of the 
discount) 6 7 - 1

Net actuarial losses/(gains) 
recognised 27 23 - (1)

Total included in Employee 
benefits expense 
(see note 6 ‘Employee  
benefits expense’) 33 30 - -

The amounts recognised in the 
Statement of Financial Position 
are as follows:

Present value of unfunded 
obligations 267 274 - -

Liability in the statement of 
financial position 267 274 - -

Reconciliation of the unfunded 
liability recognised in the 
statement of financial position 
is as follows:

Liability at start of period 274 283 - 41

Current service cost - - - -

Interest cost  
(unwinding of the discount) 6 7 - 1

Pension Scheme

Pre-transfer benefit -
Gold State

Superannuation
Scheme

2017
$000

2016
$000

2017
$000

2016
$000

Net actuarial losses/(gains) 
recognised 27 23 - (2)

Benefits paid (40) (39) - (40)

Liability at end of period 267 274 - -

Reconciliation of the fair value 
of plan assets is as follows:

Fair value of plan assets at 
start of year - - - -

Employer contributions 40 39 - -

Benefits paid (40) (39) - -

Fair value of plan assets at 
end of year - - - -

The principal actuarial assumptions used (expressed as weighted averages) were 
as follows: 

2017 2016

Discount rate 2.26% 2.26%

Future salary increases 3.7% 3.5%
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Historic summary
2016
$000

2015
$000

2014
$000

2013
$000

Pension Scheme:

Present value of unfunded 
obligation 274 283 284 299

Fair value of plan assets - - - -

Deficit 274 283 284 299

Pre-transfer Benefit - Gold State 
Superannuation Scheme:

Present value of unfunded 
obligation - 41 41 39

Fair value of plan assets - - - -

Deficit - 41 41 39

Experience adjustments arising on 
plan liabilities:

Pension scheme 17 16 17 12

Pre-transfer Benefit –  
Gold State Scheme (2) (1) 2 (3)

Employer funding arrangements for the defined benefit plans

The amounts recorded for the Gold State Superannuation Scheme relate to the scheme 
as a whole (i.e. The pre-transfer benefit component plus the concurrently funded 
benefit component).

Employer contributions of $40,000 are expected to be paid to the Pension Scheme in 
the subsequent annual reporting period.

Movements in other provisions
2017
$000

2016
$000

Movements in each class of provisions during  
the financial year, other than employee benefits,  
are set out below:

Employment on-cost provision

Carrying amount at start of period 178 235

Additional provisions recognised 77 43

Payments/other sacrifices of economic benefits (68) (100)

Carrying amount at end of period 187 178

Note 32.  Other Liabilities
2017
$000

2016
$000

Current 

Refundable deposits and bonds 11,719 11,526

Leases in advance 100 100

Deferred Income 41 39

Unclaimed money 28 95

General Provisions 66 (3)

Total current 11,954 11,757

Non-current 

Deferred Income 389 428

Leases in advance 433 533

Total non-current 822 961
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Note 33.  Equity
The Western Australian Government holds the equity interest in the Authority on 
behalf of the community. Equity represents the residual interest in the net assets of the 
Authority. The asset revaluation surplus represents that portion of equity resulting from 
the revaluation of non-current assets.

Contributed Equity
2017
$000

2016
$000

Balance at start of period 50,032 50,032

Contributions by owners - -

Distribution to owners - -

Balance at end of Period 50,032 50,032

Reserves
2017
$000

2016
$000

Asset revaluation surplus

Balance at the start of period 197,268 188,432

Net revaluation increments/(decrements)

   Land (444) 6,310

   Buildings (1,952) 2,544

   Infrastructure - (18)

Balance at end of period 194,872 197,268

Accumulated Surplus
2017
$000

2016
$000

Balance at start of period 7,626 5,206

Result for the period 8,040 2,420

Balance at end of period 15,666 7,626

Total equity at end of period 260,570 254,926

Note 34.  Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows
Reconciliation of Cash
Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the Statement of Cash Flows is 
reconciled to the related items in the Statement of Financial Position as follows:

2017
$000

2016
$000

Cash and cash equivalents 4,273 5,610

Other financial assets (current & non-current) 18,850 18,000

23,123 23,610

Reconciliation of profit after income tax equivalent  
to net cash flows provided by/(used in)  
operating activities

2017
$000

2016
$000

Net cost of services (650) (8,970)

Non-cash items

Depreciation and amortisation expense 5,186 4,644

Net loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 341 233

Doubtful debts expense (28) 30

Services received free of charge 38 35

Contribution of assets (3,912) -

WIP assets adjustments - (166)

(Increase) / decrease in assets: 

Current receivables (a) 97 113

Current inventories (21) 3

Other current assets 21 (101)

Non-current receivables (5) 4
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Reconciliation of profit after income tax equivalent  
to net cash flows provided by/(used in)  
operating activities

2017
$000

2016
$000

Increase / (decrease) in liabilities:

Current Payables (a) (6,111) 5,758

Current Provisions (303) (757)

Other liabilities 229 546

Non-current provisions 25 (19)

Non-current liabilities (138) (139)

Net GST receipts / (payments) (b) 370 (338)

Change in GST receivables / payables (c) (6) (205)

Net cash provided by / (used in) operating activities (4,867) 671

(a) Note that the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) receivable / payable in respect of GST and the receivable / 
payable in respect of the sale / purchase of non-current assets are not included in these items as they do not 
form part of the reconciling items.

(b) This is the net GST paid / received, i.e. cash transactions
(c) This reverses out the GST in receivables and payables

Note 35.  Commitments
The commitments below are inclusive of GST where relevant.

Non-cancellable operating lease commitments
2017
$000

2016
$000

Commitments in relation to leases contracted for  
at the balance sheet date but not recognised as  
liabilities are payable as follows:

Within 1 year 250 218

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 710 33

Later than 5 years - -

960 251

Office accommodation is rented under commercial leases and rent is payable monthly 
in advance. The leases run for 5 years, with options to terminate the lease by December 
2021. The rentals are subject to review on predetermined dates based on either fixed 
percentage, CPI or market review adjustments.

Office equipment is leased over four year terms with charges payable monthly in 
advance.  Options exist to continue leasing beyond the expiry date or to purchase at 
residual value.

Capital expenditure commitments
2017
$000

2016
$000

Capital expenditure commitments, being contracted 
capital expenditure additional to the amounts reported in 
the financial statements, are payable as follows:

Within 1 year 1,015 1,491

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years - -

Later than 5 years - -

1,015 1,491

The capital commitments include amounts for:

Buildings 172 103

Infrastructure 815 1,130

Plant Equipment and Vehicles 10 80

Computers and Electronic Equipment 3 -

Furniture 15 178

1,015 1,491
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Other expenditure commitments
2017
$000

2016
$000

Other expenditure commitments contracted for  
at the end of the reporting period but not recognised  
as liabilities, are payable as follows:

Within 1 year 14,825 14,142

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 17,015 25,188

Later than 5 years - -

31,840 39,330

Note 36.  Contingent liabilities and contingent assets
Contingent liabilities
The following contingent liabilities are additional to the liabilities included in the financial 
statements:

Contaminated Sites

Under the Contaminated Sites Act 2003, the Authority is required to report known 
and suspected contaminated sites to the Department of Environment Regulation 
(DER). In accordance with the Act, DER classifies these sites on the basis of the risk to 
human health, the environment and environmental values. Where sites are classified as 
contaminated – remediation required or possibly contaminated – investigation required, 
the Authority  may have a liability in respect of investigation or remediation expenses.

During the 2016/17 financial year the Authority continued to invest in monitoring 
activities of contaminated sites including Thomson’s Bay (remediated for Restricted 
Use) and Forbes Hill (possibly contaminated – investigation required). The Authority 
committed to undertaking a Contaminated Site Investigation for Forbes Hill for the 
2017/18 financial year.

The Authority completed an upgrade to the Waste Water Treatment Plant (WWTP) 
during the 2016/17 financial year which will enable the use of treated waste water for 
irrigation. The Authority has undertaken a thorough planning process and has submitted 
relevant approvals.

The WWTP site is recognised as an environmental and potential a health risk due to 
long-term discharge of treated effluent into infiltration/evaporation basins located 
adjacent to the plant. This practice has seen a measurable impact on the groundwater 
quality immediately surrounding the WWTP. Sampling of bores has historically shown 
elevated nitrogen and phosphorus concentrations and also the presence of thermo-
tolerant coliform. The Authority now operates only one discharge basin which is lined, 
the second discharge basin is planned to be tested and the land utilised for proposed 
development. The upgrade is predicted to reduce the quantity and improve the quality 
of treated waste water discharged to ground. 

Other

During the reporting period a lessee of the Authority commenced an arbitration against 
the Authority in connection with its lease. The lessee has not yet quantified its claim.  
The arbitration may result in a net benefit or net liability to the Authority, though at this 
stage it is too early to estimate any value.

Note 37.  Events occurring after the end of the 
reporting period
The Western Australian Government announced major changes to State Government 
agencies to increase collaboration across departments, deliver services more efficiently 
and focus on whole of Government objectives. As a result, a newly formed Department 
of Biodiversity, Conservation and Attractions commenced on 1 July 2017, with the 
amalgamation of the Department of Parks and Wildlife, Botanical Gardens and Parks 
Authority, Zoological Parks Authority and the Rottnest Island Authority. 

While the Rottnest Island Authority continues as a statutory authority under the 
Rottnest Island Authority Act 1987, all staff of the Authority became employees of the 
Department of Biodiversity, Conservation and Attractions. 
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Note 38.  Explanatory statement
Significant variance between estimates and actual results for 2017 and between the 
actual results for 2017 and 2016 are shown below. Significant variances are considered 
to be those greater than 5% and $876k (2% of total costs of services).

Significant variances between estimated 
and actual result for 2017

2017
Estimate

$000

2017
Actual
$000

Variance
$000

Expenses

Supplies and services 25,729 22,910 (2,819)

Income

Grants and contributions - 3,661 3,661

Supplies and services

Supplies and services decreased by $2,819K due to the decreased building 
maintenance costs (roofing projects).

Grants and contributions

Grants and contributions increased by $3,661K due to the contributions of assets from 
Australian Renewable Energy Agency.

Significant variances between actual 
results for 2017 and 2016

2017
$000

2016
$000

Variance
$000

Expenses

Supplies and services 22,910 26,573 (3,663)

Income

Provision of services 34,744 33,053 1,691

Grants and contributions 3,661 112 3,549

Income from State Government

Service Appropriation 8,652 11,355 (2,703)

Supplies and services

Supplies and services decreased by $3,663K due to the decreased building 
maintenance costs (roofing projects).

Provision of services

Provision of services increased by $1,691K mainly due to the increased visitor numbers.

Grants and contributions

Grants and contributions increased by $3,549K primarily due to the contributions of 
assets from Australian Renewable Energy Agency.

Service Appropriation

Service Appropriation decreased by $2,703K due to supplementary fund received for 
roofing projects in prior year.
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Note 39.  Financial Instruments
(a) Financial risk management objectives and policies

Financial instruments held by the Authority are cash, cash equivalents, other 
financial assets and receivables and payables. The Authority has limited exposure 
to financial risks. The Authority’s overall risk management program focuses on 
managing the risks identified below.

Credit risk

Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the Authority’s receivables 
defaulting on their contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Authority. 

The maximum exposure to credit risk at end of the reporting period in relation to 
each class of recognised financial assets is the gross carrying amount of those 
assets inclusive of any provisions for impairment as shown in the table at note 39(c) 
‘Financial Instrument Disclosures’ and note 22 ‘Receivables’.

The Authority has policies in place to ensure that sales of products and services 
are made to customers with an appropriate credit history. In addition, receivable 
balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Authority’s 
exposure to bad debts is minimal. At the end of the reporting period there were no 
significant concentrations of credit risk.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk arises when the Authority is unable to meet its financial obligations 
as they fall due. The Authority is exposed to liquidity risk through its trading in the 
normal course of business.

The Authority has appropriate procedures to manage cash flows by monitoring forecast 
cash flows to ensure that sufficient funds are available to meet its commitments.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as foreign exchange rates 
and interest rates will affect the Authority’s income or the value of its holdings of 
financial instruments. The Authority does not trade in foreign currency and is not 
materially exposed to other price risks. 

The Authority is not exposed to interest rate risk on financial liabilities as all 
borrowings are finance leases at fixed interest rates. The table at note 39(c) details 
the interest rate sensitivity on cash and cash equivalents and other financial assets, 
all of which is invested in interest bearing accounts.

(b) Categories of financial instruments
In addition to cash and cash equivalents, the carrying amounts of each of the 
following categories of financial assets and financial liabilities at the end of the 
reporting period are:

2017
$000

2016
$000

Financial Assets

Cash & Cash Equivalents 4,273 5,610

Receivables (a) 1,022 1,114

Term deposits 18,850 18,000

Financial Liabilities

Financial Liabilities measured at amortised cost 6,819 10,685

(a) The amount of receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable)

(c) Financial Instrument Disclosures
Credit Risk 

The following table discloses the Authority’s maximum exposure to credit risk and 
the ageing analysis of financial assets. The Authority’s maximum exposure to credit 
risk at the end of the reporting period is the carrying amount of the financial assets 
as shown below. The table discloses the ageing analysis of financial assets that 
are past due but not impaired and impaired financial assets. The table is based on 
information provided to senior management of the Authority.

The Authority does not hold any collateral as security or other credit enhancements 
relating to the financial assets it holds.
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Past due but not impaired

 
Aged analysis of financial assets

Carrying 
Amount

$000

Not past 
due and not 

impaired
$000

Up to 1 month
$000

1 - 3 months
$000

3 months  
to 1 year

$000
1 - 5 years

$000

More than  
5 years
$000

Impaired 
financial 
assets
$000

2017

Cash and cash equivalents 4,273 4,273 - - - - - -

Receivables (a) 1,022 1,004 11 4 1 2 - -

Other financial assets 18,850 18,850 - - - - - -

24,145 24,127 11 4 1 2 - -

2016

Cash and cash equivalents 5,610 5,610 - - - - - -

Receivables (a) 1,114 999 64 2 49 - - -

Other financial assets 18,000 18,000 - - - - - -

24,724 24,609 64 2 49 - - -

(a) The amount of receivables excludes the GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable)
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Liquidity risk and interest rate exposure

The following table details the Authority’s interest rate exposure and the contractual maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities. The maturity analysis section includes 
interest and principal cash flows. The interest exposure section analyses only the carrying amounts of each item.

Interest rate exposure Maturity dates

Interest rate exposure 
and maturity analysis 
of financial assets and 
financial liabilities

Weighted 
Average 
Effective 
Interest 

rate
%

Carrying 
Amount

$000

Fixed 
interest 

rate
$000

Variable 
Interest 

rate
$000

Non- 
Interest 
Bearing
$000

Nominal 
amount
$000

Up to 1 
month
$000

1 - 3 
months
$000

3 months 
to 1 year

$000
1 - 5 years

$000

More than 
5 years
$000

2017

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 1.5 4,273 - 4,198 75 4,273 4,273 - - - -

Receivables (a) 1,022 - - 1,022 1,022 1,022 - - - -

Other financial assets 2.93 18,850 18,850 - - 18,850 3,000 2,500 7,350 6,000 -

24,145 18,850 4,198 1,097 24,145 8,295 2,500 7,350 6,000 -

Financial Liabilities

Payables 6,819 - - 6,819 6,819 6,819 - - - -

6,819 - - 6,819 6,819 6,819 - - - -

(a) The amount of receivables excludes the GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable)



Rottnest Island Authority | Annual Report 2016/17 

120 Contents |  About this report |  Agency in focus |  Report on operations |  Opportunities & challenges |  Disclosures & legal compliance |  Financial statements & key performance indicators

Notes to the financial statements  FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017

Interest rate exposure Maturity dates

Interest rate exposure 
and maturity analysis 
of financial assets and 
financial liabilities

Weighted 
Average 
Effective 
Interest 

rate
%

Carrying 
Amount

$000

Fixed 
interest 

rate
$000

Variable 
Interest 

rate
$000

Non- 
Interest 
Bearing
$000

Nominal 
amount
$000

Up to 1 
month
$000

1 - 3 
months
$000

3 months 
to 1 year

$000
1 - 5 years

$000

More than 
5 years
$000

2016

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 1.29 5,610 - 5,119 491 5,610 5,610 - - - -

Receivables (a) 1,114 - - 1,114 1,114 1,114 - - - -

Other financial assets 3.58 18,000 18,000 - - 18,000 6,000 3,250 6,500 2,250 -

24,724 18,000 5,119 1,605 24,724 12,724 3,250 6,500 2,250 -

Financial Liabilities

Payables 10,685 - - 10,685 10,685 10,685 - - - -

Finance lease liabilities - - - - - - - - - -

10,685 - - 10,685 10,685 10,685 - - - -

(a) The amount of receivables excludes the GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable)
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Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The following table represents a summary of the interest rate sensitivity of the 
Authority’s financial assets and liabilities at the end of the reporting period on the 
surplus for the period and equity for a 1% change in interest rates. It is assumed that the 
change in interest rates is held constant throughout the reporting period.

Interest rate  
sensitivity analysis 

Carrying 
Amount

$000

- 100 basis points +100 basis points

Surplus
$000

Equity
$000

Surplus
$000

Equity
$000

2017

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 4,198 (42) (42) 42 42

Other financial assets 12,850 (129) (129) 129 129

Total Increase/(Decrease) (171) (171) 171 171

 Interest rate  
sensitivity analysis

Carrying 
Amount

$000

- 100 basis points +100 basis points

Surplus
$000

Equity
$000

Surplus
$000

Equity
$000

2016

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 5,119 (51) (51) 51 51

Other financial assets 15,750 (158) (158) 158 158

Total Increase/(Decrease) (209) (209) 209 209

Fair values 

All financial assets and liabilities recognised in the Statement of Financial Position, 
whether they are carried at cost or fair value, are recognised at amounts that  
represent a reasonable approximation of fair value unless otherwise stated in the 
applicable notes. 

Notes to the financial statements  FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017

Note 40.  Remuneration of auditor
Remuneration paid or payable to the Auditor General in respect of the audit for the 
current financial year is as follows:

2017
$000

2016
$000

Auditing the accounts, financial statements and 
performance indicators 106 104

The amounts disclosed above differ from the amounts recognised in note 12 ‘Other 
expenses’ and represent current and final audit fees for the current year financial 
statement.

Note 41.  Supplementary financial information

Write-offs approved by the Board
2017
$000

2016
$000

Amounts already provided for and written off  
as uncollectible 32 60

32 60
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Note 42.  Schedule of income and expenses  
by service

Segment information has been disclosed by service. The two services of the  
Authority are:

Service 1: Recreational and Holiday Services
This service relates to the provision and operation of affordable recreational and holiday 
facilities with particular regard for the needs of persons usually resident in the State, 
and who wish to visit or stay on the Island as a family group.

Service 2: Natural Environment and Cultural Heritage Management
This service relates to the maintenance and protection of the Island’s natural and built 
environment.

The Authority operates within one geographical segment (the Western Australian  
public sector).

Cost of Services

Services 1 Services 2 Total

2017
$000

2016
$000

2017
$000

2016
$000

2017
$000

2016
$000

EXPENSES

Cost of sales 433 398 1 - 434 398

Employee benefits 
expense 8,500 8,070 1,860 2,098 10,360 10,168

Supplies and services 22,085 25,464 825 1,109 22,910 26,573

Depreciation and 
amortisation expense 5,047 4,491 139 153 5,186 4,644

Finance costs 295 245 - 18 295 263

Accommodation 
expenses 348 417 21 27 369 444

Loss on disposal of 
non-current assets 321 217 20 16 341 233

Other expenses 823 930 114 162 937 1,092

Total cost of services 37,852 40,232 2,980 3,583 40,832 43,815

Cost of Services

Services 1 Services 2 Total

2017
$000

2016
$000

2017
$000

2016
$000

2017
$000

2016
$000

INCOME

Revenue

Sales 535 493 - - 535 493

Provision of services 34,751 33,016 (7) 37 34,744 33,053

Grants and 
contributions 3,448 103 213 9 3,661 112

Interest revenue 580 806 36 - 616 806

Other revenues 503 297 123 84 626 381

Total Revenue 39,817 34,715 365 130 40,182 34,845

Total income other 
than income from 
State Government 39,817 34,715 365 130 40,182 34,845

NET COST OF 
SERVICES 1,965 (5,517) (2,615) (3,453) (650) (8,970)

Income from State 
Government

Service Appropriation 5,652 8,355 3,000 3,000 8,652 11,355

Services received free 
of charge 38 35 - - 38 35

Total income from 
State Government 5,690 8,390 3,000 3,000 8,690 11,390

SURPLUS(DEFICIT) 
FOR THE PERIOD 7,655 2,873 385 (453) 8,040 2,420
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We hereby certify that the performance indicators are based on proper records, are relevant and appropriate for assisting users to assess 
the Rottnest Island Authority’s performance and fairly represent the performance of the Rottnest Island Authority for the financial year 
ended 30 June 2017.

Leslie Bechelli Robert McDonald John Driscoll 
Chief Finance Officer Member of Accountable Authority Chairman of Accountable Authority

12 September 2017 12 September 2017 12 September 2017
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Desired Outcome 
Rottnest Island visitors enjoy recreational and holiday experiences in healthy natural 
and cultural environments.

The Rottnest Island Authority’s (RIA) key performance indicators (KPIs) provide  
a guide to its performance regarding its stated outcome. State public sector policy 
requires effectiveness and efficiency indicators to demonstrate this performance.  
By their nature, these indicators are very high level and attempt to encompass all the 
RIA’s operations and costs. For example, the efficiency indicators are required to include 
all relevant costs and corporate overheads for the two services respectively.  

The relationship between the RIA’s KPIs and services to Government outcomes is 
outlined in the table below. 

Government Goal 5: Social and Environmental Responsibility 
Ensuring that economic activity is managed in a socially and environmentally 
responsible manner for the long-term benefit of the State.

Key Performance Indicators Services Provided to the Community

EFFECTIVENESS

1.   Recreational and holiday services

•   Visitor satisfaction with the Rottnest 
Island experience

•   Health of Island’s natural environment

•   Health of Island’s cultural heritage 

EFFICIENCY 

2.   Natural environment and cultural 
heritage management

•   Average cost of recreational and holiday 
services provided per visitor

•   Average cost of natural environment 
and cultural heritage management per 
Reserve hectare

The RIA regularly reviews and amends its indicators to reflect changes in a variety 
of factors impacting the Island. These could be visitor and community priorities for 
Rottnest Island, or changes in technology that enable more sophisticated measures to 
be implemented. 

The RIA also has a suite of operational and commercial indicators that are used to 
manage and improve its performance.  As well as comparing results to an annual 
target, comparisons to previous year’s results are included where available to enable 
performance trends to be identified. 

Effectiveness Indicators 
1. Visitor satisfaction with the Rottnest Island Experience 
An independent research company is engaged to survey the Island’s visitors.  
Visitors are selected at random and requested to complete questionnaires. There were 
1802 completed questionnaires providing a confidence level of 95% with an error rate of 
less than +/- 5.0 %. 

This indicator summarises a range of aspects addressed in the survey. Respondents are 
asked to rate Rottnest Island based on their satisfaction or perception of: 

• Recreational and holiday services and facilities;
• General services and facilities such as public toilets and seating;
• Accommodation facilities and services;
• Natural environment and cultural heritage; and
• Safety and cleanliness of the Island.
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Respondents are asked to provide an overall rating of their experience compared to 
expectations of their visit to Rottnest Island. 

Visitor Rating
2016-17
Target

2016-17
Result

2015-16
Result

2014-15
Result

2013-14
Result

2012-13
Result

Met or exceeded 
expectations

97% 97% 97% 97% 97% 97% 

Comments

The result continues to remain remarkably consistent. Noteworthy is that 60% of 
respondents rated their experience as ‘greatly exceeded my expectations’. 

2. Health of Rottnest Island’s Natural Environment 
This indicator is comprised of a suite of three indicators that aim to provide information 
about the condition/health of the natural environment and provide an indication of the 
environmental performance of the RIA’s operations, such as waste management, utility 
services and transport. 

The results are calculated by RIA officers qualified in environmental management. 
These indicators comprise: 

• percentage of conditions compliant with operating licences;
• percentage of EarthCheck benchmarks being met or exceeded; and 
• average viability rating of focal conservation targets (health of biodiversity).

2.1 Percentage of conditions compliant with operating licences 
The RIA is the occupier of various prescribed premises as defined by the Environmental 
Protection Act 1986 (EP Act). The EP Act requires premises that have the potential 
to cause an emission or alter the nature of volume of the waste, noise, odour or 
electromagnetic radiation above production or design capacity to hold a licence. 
Licences are usually subject to various operating conditions to ensure the prescribed 
premises are at low risk of causing environmental harm or pollution. 

The RIA abstracts water from fresh and saline sub-surface sources for potable water 
supply on the Island. To abstract from subsurface water sources the RIA is required to 
obtain a water abstraction licence under Rights in Water and Irrigation Act 1914 which is 
administered by the Department of Water. 

The RIA expanded its ground water abstraction scheme and constructed a waste 
water treatment plant in the early 1990’s. As a result the Office of Environmental 
Protection Authority under the EP Act issued ‘Ministerial Statements’ with respect 
to commissioning, operating and monitoring conditions required of the RIA for the 
construction and on-going management of these activities.

Several of the RIA’s operations and facilities are subject to the Western Australian 
Health Act 1911 and are required to comply with various regulations, guidelines and 
licence conditions administered by the Department of Health.

This indicator measures the percentage of licence conditions that were compliant 
based on one audit assessment conducted during the year. 

2016-17
Target

2016-17
Result

2015-16
Result

2014-15
Result

2013-14
Result

2012-13
Result

100% 71% 85% 83% 92% 95%

Comments

The reduced level of compliance was primarily due to the following:

1. Landfill performance against licence and regulatory requirements – minor 
discharges from damaged compactor bins, failure to manage waste (including 
green waste) in practical timeframes, exceeding storage capacity for gas bottles, 
acceptance of waste outside of licence classification, records management, and 
unauthorised access. A recent licence amendment will resolve many of the issues 
regarding regulatory requirements and operational process.

2. Composting Toilets Maintenance - minor issues regarding stocking facilities with 
enzymes and maintenance records. 
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2.2 Percentage of EarthCheck benchmarks being met or exceeded 
The RIA is registered under the EarthCheck Sustainability program, a worldwide 
recognised and independent sustainability accreditation program for the tourism and 
hospitality industry. 

The RIA currently has certification to the Silver level and is progressing towards the Gold 
level. This indicator measures the percentage of EarthCheck sustainability benchmarks 
that were met or exceeded. The benchmarks are approved by EarthCheck’s governing 
body (EC3 Global),a which are based on industry sector and/or regional benchmarks 
relevant to the organisation being assessed. Rottnest Island is mainly benchmarked 
against the world-wide tourism industry. 

During the course of the year, the Rottnest Island Authority began applying the 
EarthCheck’s Destination Standard as opposed to the previously applied EarthCheck’s 
Company Standard. The original EarthCheck Assessment in 2010 identified Rottnest 
Island Authority as a ‘Hotel Company’, however based on recent changes determined 
the Company Standard no longer applies.

The Destination Standard is a whole of island approach giving valuable and more 
applicable data for the RIA to make better sustainability decisions. For the purposes of 
this performance indicator, the change in the standard being applied does not have a 
material impact.

A positive result for each aspect is achieved when the measure meets or exceeds the 
benchmark. The overall result for the year is provided in the table below: 

2016-17
Target

2016-17
Result

2015-16
Result

2014-15
Result

2013-14
Result

2012-13
Result

90% 88% 91% 93% 86% 81%

Comments

While the result decreased slightly for the second consecutive year, most benchmarks 
continue to be met or exceeded. 

2.3 Average viability rating of focal conservation targets  
(health of biodiversity) 
The Nature Conservancy’s Conservation Action Planning (CAP) process has been applied 
internationally to thousands of conservation estates. In 2011, the RIA adopted CAP as its 
standard for planning, implementing and measuring success of conservation practices on 
the Island. Through the CAP process, five Focal Conservation targets were established:

1. Woodland Heath;
2. Limestone Heath;
3. Coastal Habitat;
4. Wetlands; and 
5. Quokkas. 

Indicators and acceptable ranges of variation were established for each focal target in order 
to determine the current and desired viability status (or “health”) of each target. These 
were established through a series of workshops, consultation with key stakeholders, 
environmental advisors and analysis of past research and monitoring data.

The viability ‘status’ reflects the ‘health’ of the associated conservation target which 
in more general terms, indicates the ability of a conservation target to withstand or 
recover from most natural or anthropogenic disturbances and thus to persist over long 
time periods.

The rating scales of very good, good, fair or poor are based on a quantitative 
assessment for each aspect. However, the quantitative measure for each aspect 
is different. The ratings for each aspect are then averaged to arrive at an overall 
annualised rating. The results for the year are provided in the table below: 

2016-17
Target

2016-17
Result

2015-16
Result

2014-15
Result

2013-14
Result

2012-13
Result

Rating Good 
(75%)

Rating Good 
(82%)

Rating Good 
(83%)

Rating Good 
(81%)

Rating Good 
(83%)

Rating Good 
(77%)

Comments

The health of the Rottnest Island’s biodiversity continues to be maintained. 
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3. Health of Rottnest Island’s Cultural Heritage 
This indicator comprises three aspects which are monitored by selected measures to 
indicate the state of Rottnest Island’s cultural heritage. The results for the measures are 
reported as a percentage of the ‘ideal state’. The measures are calculated by RIA staff 
qualified in cultural heritage management. The results for the measures of Rottnest 
Island’s cultural heritage are listed below: 

Aspect Measure
2016-17
Target

%

2016-17
Result

%

2015-16
Result

%

2014-15
Result

%

2013-14
Result

%

Identification

The proportion 
of heritage listed 
places with 
statements of 
significance.

70-89 94 89 89 75

The proportion of 
collection heritage 
items recorded 
on database 
compared to 
currently known 
number of items.

90-100 92 98 98 92

Protection

The proportion of 
developments that 
follow heritage 
legal requirements 
and conservation 
policies. 

90-100 83 100 100 63

Conservation

The proportion of 
State-registered 
places meeting 
condition targets.

75-89 53 75 76 75

The proportion of 
State-registered 
places with 
‘Conservation 
Plans 10 or less 
years old.

<30 1 1 10 10

Comments 

Identification

There are 144 places on the RIA’s Heritage Asset Register; 70 are registered on the 
WA State Register of Heritage Places and 16 Aboriginal sites are registered with 
the Department of Aboriginal Affairs (DAA) under the Aboriginal Heritage Act 1972. 
Performance in these areas was maintained at 94% of all 86 State heritage listed places 
having Statements of Significance.

Collections management has retained a focus of recording heritage collection items 
resulting in 92% of known items being accessioned (objects and photographs).  
An additional 291 were accessioned this year making a total 3,255 items recorded 
on the database. It is estimated that the total number of items assessed as being 
significant to the collection is 3,551. This total is adjusted annually based on the 
documentation of stored but un-accessioned artefacts and new acquisitions. 

Protection

There were five development applications that required mandatory referral to a third 
party such as the Heritage Council of Western Australia (HCWA). The development was 
relatively minor so the level of risk is considered low. 

Conservation

The RIA continues to maintain and repair its heritage buildings and structures.  
The 86 State registered places with the HCWA were assessed with 46 in a good 
condition, 31 in a fair condition and 9 considered to be in poor condition. The total 
average condition score for the 70 places for 2016-17 was 53% indicating that 
collectively the places are in a fair condition.  This percentage is below target reflecting 
limited resources applied for this activity during the year. However, there were extensive 
inspections and planning for maintenance for the next five-year period. 
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Efficiency Indicators 
Service One: Recreational and Holiday Services 
This indicator reflects the cost of providing Rottnest Island’s recreational and holiday 
services on a per visitor basis. The term ‘visitors’ is determined from the number of 
people arriving by commercial ferry services only. The indicator is intended to track the 
level of resources used to service Rottnest Island visitors. 

The indicator is calculated by dividing the total annual cost of providing all holiday and 
recreation related services to visitors, by the number of visitors for the year. 

Title
2016-17
Target*

2016-17
Result

2015-16
Result

2014-15
Result

2013-14
Result

2012-13
Result

Average cost of 
recreational and 
holiday services 
provided per visitor

$115 $89 $103 $114 $114 $108

* Target based on the annual budget allocated to this service. 

Comments

The results were above expectations. This was mainly due to the record level of ferry 
based travel which exceeded the budgeted target by over 70,000 visits (19.5%). 

Service Two: Natural Environment and Cultural Heritage Management 
This indicator concerns the cost of managing Rottnest Island’s natural environment and 
cultural heritage. Its purpose is to track the level of resources applied to these functions. 

The indicator is calculated by dividing the total cost of managing the natural 
environment and cultural heritage by the Rottnest Island Reserve’s total area  
of 5,669 hectares. The Reserve refers to the land and waters defined in Part 1  
of the Rottnest Island Authority Act 1987. 

Title
2016-17
Target*

2016-17
Result

2015-16
Result

2014-15
Result

2013-14
Result

2012-13
Result

Average cost of 
natural environment 
and cultural heritage 
management per 
Reserve hectare

$525 $526 $633 $630 $591 $587

* Target based on the annual budget allocated to this service. 

Comments

The result was consistent with the expectations.
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